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DISCLAIMER

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements and 
information, for example concerning the financial condition, 
results of operations, businesses and potential exposure to 
market risks of Kardan N.V. and its group companies (jointly 
‘Kardan Group’).
All statements other than statements of historical fact are, or may 
be deemed to be, forward-looking statements (including ‘forward 
looking statements’ as defined in the Israeli Securities Law). 
Forward-looking statements are statements of future expecta-
tions that are based on management’s current expectations and 
assumptions and involve known and unknown risks and uncer-
tainties that could cause actual results, performance or events to 
differ materially from those expressed or implied in these state-
ments. These forward-looking statements are identified by the 
use of terms and phrases such as ‘anticipate’, ‘believe’, ‘could’, 
‘estimate’, ‘expect’, ‘intend’, ‘may’, ‘plan’, ‘objectives’, ‘outlook’, 
‘probably’, ‘project’, ‘will’, ‘seek’, ‘target’, ‘risks’, ‘goals’, ‘should’ 
and similar terms and phrases.
A variety of factors, many of which are beyond Kardan Group’s 
control, affect operations, performance, business strategy 
and results and could cause the actual results, performance or 
achievements of Kardan Group to be materially different from 
any future results, performance or achievements that may be 
expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. For 
Kardan Group, particular uncertainties arise, amongst others but 
not limited to and not in any order of importance, (i) from depen-
dence on external financing with the risk that insufficient access 
to capital threatens its capacity to repay its debts, grow, execute 

its business model, and generate future financial returns (ii) from 
concentration of its business in Central Eastern Europe, Israel, 
India and China as a result of which Kardan Group is strongly 
exposed to these particular markets (iii) from risks related to the 
financial markets as a result of Kardan N.V.’s listing on the Tel 
Aviv Stock Exchange (iv) from it being a decentralized organiza-
tion with a large number of separate entities spread over different 
geographic areas in emerging markets, so that Kardan Group is 
exposed to the risk of fraudulent activities or illegal acts perpe-
trated by managers, employees, customers, suppliers or third 
parties which expose the organization to fines, sanctions and 
loss of customers, profits and reputation etc. and may adversely 
impact Kardan Group’s ability to achieve its objectives (v) from 
the impact of the corona crisis (vi) from the [in]ability of Tahal 
to conclude financial arrangements with its financing banks with 
respect to the repayments of the debt (vii) from deterioration 
of the financial position and results of operations of Kardan’s 
subsidiaries and (viii) from any of the risk factors specified in this 
annual report and in the related “Periodic Report” (published by 
Kardan N.V. in Israel), and which is also available at the Kardan 
website. Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties mate-
rialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual 
results may vary materially from those described in the relevant 
forward-looking statement as expected, anticipated, intended, 
planned, believed, sought, estimated or projected. Kardan N.V. 
does not intend or assume any obligation to update or revise 
these forward- looking statements in light of developments 
which differ from those anticipated.



4    KARDAN  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2021

DIRECTORS REPORT

PROFILE

Kardan is active in real estate in China, focusing on developing and 
managing mixed-use projects.

Europark Dalian is the most prominent project, offering consumers 
and individuals a comprehensive lifestyle concept: a complete 
shopping and leisure area combined with luxury and business 
apartments situated in a green setting connected to the city’s 
subway line. Kardan also develops residential apartments together 
with local partners, in the fast-growing Tier 2 and Tier 3 cities 
(Xi’an, Shenyang, Changzhou), tapping into the need for housing 
due to the urbanization.

Kardan is also active in water infrastructure. These activities 
predominantly take place in emerging markets worldwide through 
its subsidiary Tahal Group International. Tahal offers high quality 
integrated customized and sustainable solutions relating to 
providing water to people in developing and emerging countries.

Kardan’s headquarters are located in Amsterdam, the Netherlands. 
The Company is listed on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange.
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KEY FIGURES

€ in million 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 

Real estate (16.0) (21.1) 11.5 (17.4) (14.6)

Water Infrastructure (41.0) (25.7)* (40.2)* 0.1 13.1

Other (AVIS Ukraine) - - 1.5 (2.4) 1.7

Holding (Corporate G&A and finance) (93.2) (26.9) (64.5) (17.1) (17.3)

Total net profit (loss) (150.2) (73.7)* (91.7)* (36.8) (17.1)

Total equity (deficit) (389.9) (255.5)* (164.8)* (53.8) (0.8)

Equity attributable to the equity holders (375.8) (245.7)* (162.7)* (59.5) (4.4)

Total stand-alone assets 81.3 163.1 294.7 351.2 380.0

Number of employees (as at year-end) 499 618 1,492 1,517 1,118

* Retrospectively adjusted to reflect full consolidation of a former discontinued operation. Figures of 2018 and 2017 were not adjusted in this table.

€ per share * 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Diluted earnings (loss) 

Total equity

Equity attributable to the equity holders

(1.22)

(3.17)

      (3.05)

(0.61)**

        (2.08)**

(1.99)**

(0.79)**

        (1.34)**

        (1.32)**

(0.27)

(0.44)

(0.48)

(0.15)

0.00

0.00

Number of shares

As at December 31 123,022,256 123,022,256 123,022,256 123,022,256 123,022,256

Weighted average for the year 123,022,256 123,022,256 123,022,256 123,022,256 123,022,256

* Calculated on the basis of the weighted average number of shares for the year

** Retrospectively adjusted to reflect full consolidation of a former discontinued operation. Figures of 2018 and 2017 were not adjusted in this table.
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KARDAN GROUP’S BUSINESS STRATEGY

The business strategy of Kardan focuses on business opportu-
nities arising in emerging markets, developing and managing 
assets and projects, currently focusing on real estate and water 
infrastructure. By establishing local platforms in selected markets, 
based on identified demand, economic viability and legal infra-
structure, Kardan combines international expertise with local 
knowledge. Kardan’s real estate activities are fully focused on 
China, through its subsidiary Kardan Land China (KLC). Its activ-
ities in the water infrastructure sector are primarily in Asia and 
Central and Eastern Europe, through its subsidiary Tahal Group 
International (Tahal).

REAL ESTATE
 
Kardan’s real estate activities comprise its existing projects, and 
currently the main focus is on further improving the results and 
value of its largest asset, Galleria Dalian, the shopping mall of its 
large Europark Dalian project and the development and marke-
ting of the residential part of the Europark Dalian project. 

Europark Dalian offers consumers and individuals a compre-
hensive lifestyle concept: a complete shopping and leisure area 
combined with luxury and business apartments situated in a 
green setting connected to the city’s subway line. Galleria Dali-
an’s offering focuses on a lifestyle-oriented shopping experience 
with key themes as: family activities, sports, restaurants, cinema 
and fast fashion. The mall offers digital applications which 
support promotion management and online purchases. Kardan 
intends to improve the mix of tenants in Galleria Dalian, to 
increase the occupancy rate and to develop business activities to 
generate additional revenue, to ultimately improve the financial 
performance of the mall. 

KLC considers Europark Dalian to be an important driver to 
increase the population and liveliness in the area, which is crucial 
for the residential part of the project. An underground tunnel will 
open in the second half of 2023, which will, combined with the 
growing population, further improve the performance of the mall.

The company will continue to seek an investor for the Galleria 
Dalian shopping mall, and will be keen to act when market senti-
ment improve.

In addition, KLC continues to sell and develop residential apart-
ments – together with its joint venture partner – in existing projects. 

WATER INFRASTRUCTURE
 
Kardan’s activities in the water infrastructure sector, through 
Tahal are mainly focused on emerging and frontier countries, 
addressing global challenges arising from a growing water 
shortage mainly due to population growth, industrialization and 

climate change. Due to the cash flow and other financial difficul-
ties encountered by Tahal, the Tahal Group focuses on improving 
its financial position, by repaying bank loans and restoring bank 
guarantees provided for projects, disposing of assets and cutting 
costs. The Company intends to promote existing projects, repay 
its debts to suppliers and service providers and to identify buyers 
or investors for its projects in India. It will focus on executing 
projects in its current order backlog, especially in Russia and 
Kazakhstan, and is seeking to sell its interests in projects it has 
decided to sell. 

After stabilizing its financial position, and subject to obtaining 
financing from banks and agreeing on a debt restructuring with 
them, Tahal intends to further develop its business, including 
bidding on new projects, expanding its areas of activity and 
resuming growth. 

DEBT SETTLEMENT
 
In 2007 and 2008, at a time of significant growth, Kardan issued 
two debentures in Israel, initially to be redeemed between 2013 
and 2020. In 2015 Kardan agreed a debt settlement with its 
debenture holders, entailing a postponement of the majority of 
the principal payments. In 2017, in order to generate cash to meet 
the payments in February 2018, the Company initiated the sale 
process of Tahal. At the beginning of 2018 it became apparent 
that Kardan would not be able to meet the repayment obligations 
due in February 2018. Since then, the Company is in discussions 
with the debenture holders with the aim to reach a new debt 
settlement. 

The debt settlement is based on converting a portion of the 
Company’s debt into the Company’s shares in such a way that it 
is expected that the Debenture Holders will obtain a vast majority 
of the Company, and in a framework that will ensure that the 
Company has positive equity and the Company can continue 
to operate as a going concern and meet its repayment obliga-
tions towards the Debenture Holders, taking into account future 
interest payments and expected proceeds when realizing assets in 
the future. 
 
In January 2021, an extraordinary meeting of the shareholders 
of the Company was held, in which the framework of the debt 
settlement was presented, and the shareholders approved allo-
cation of shares to the debenture holders, according to the 
presented framework, if the debt settlement will be completed. 
In March 2021, a meeting of the Company’s Debenture Holders 
(Series A and Series B) was held in which, among other things, 
the outline of the debt settlement was presented. On April 7, 
2021, a voting meeting of the Company’s Debenture Holders 
approved advancing the debt settlement based on the presented 
outline.
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Following the approval, on December 29, 2021, the Company, 
with the consent of the trustees, submitted a request to the court 
for the approval of the debt settlement. On January 13, 2022, 
the court granted the Company’s request and approved the debt 
settlement.

The main principles of the debt settlement are: (1) conversion of 
part of the Company’s debt against the allocation of shares to the 
debenture holders, which will constitute approximately 89.9% 
of the Company’s issued and paid-in capital after the issue; (2) 
the balance of the debt remaining after the conversion will be 
NIS 725 million; (3) the entire debt will be repaid on December 
31, 2023 and will bear an annual interest rate of 6.8%; early 
repayment will bear additional fees; (5) the new shareholders 
will be entitled to appoint a majority of the members of the 
Company’s Board of Directors; (6) to secure the debt settlement, 
the Company’s assets will be pledged, KLC will grant a guar-
antee and various restrictions will be imposed on the Company 
and its subsidiaries, similar to the existing debt settlement.

According to the Debt Settlement, the Company must meet 
several conditions precedent until February 28, 2022. On 
February 27, 2022, the Debenture Holders’ meetings approved 
to postpone the date of completion of the conditions precedent 
from February 28, 2022 (as determine in the debt settlement) to 
March 17, 2022, and subject to the approval of the representa-
tives - a further postponement to March 31, 2022. On March 31, 
2022, meetings of the Company’s debenture holders approved 
an additional deferral until May 1, 2022 (with the option for an 
additional extension of 60 days, at the discretion of the trustee). 

As of the date of this report, there is no certainty as to the 
actual execution of the Debt Settlement which depends on the 
completion of a number of conditions precedent which are not 
in the control of the Company. It should be emphasized that the 
Company’s assessments regarding reaching a final settlement 
with the bondholders and / or its completion is forward-looking 
information, as defined in the Securities Law, and depending on 
factors beyond the Company’s control.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW 2021

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT KARDAN N.V.

The 2021 consolidated income statement is shown in the table below in a condensed form.

(in € thousands) 2021 2020

Total revenues 129,028 115,085

Total expenses (149,932) (146,925)

Profit (loss) from operations before fair value adjustments and disposal of assets (20,904) (31,840)

Loss from fair value adjustments (29,187) (26,723)

Profit (loss) from disposal of assets and investments and other income (expense), net (5,276) 1,875

Result from operations before finance expenses (55,367) (56,688)

Financing expenses, net (105,234) (34,416)

Equity earnings, net 9,111 13,017

Loss before income tax (151,490) (78,087)

Income tax expenses / (benefit) (900) (2,659)

Loss for the period (150,590) (75,428)

Attributable to:

Net result for equity holders (150,158) (73,672)

Non-controlling interests (432) (1,756)

(150,590) (75,428)

Other Comprehensive income (expense) 16,458 (9,322)

Total Comprehensive expense attributable to Kardan equity holders (133,700) (82,994)

SUMMARY OF NET PROFIT (LOSS) BY ACTIVITY

Net profit (loss) (In € millions) 2021 2020

Real Estate (development and investment property) (16.0) (21.1)

Water Infrastructure (discontinued operation) (41.0) (25.7)*

Holding (Corporate Finance and G&A) (93.2) (26.9)

Total (150.2) (73.7)*

* Retrospectively adjusted to reflect full consolidation of a former discontinued operation
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RESULTS ANALYSIS

The loss attributed to equity holders of the Company in 2021 
amounted to €150.2 million (2020: €73.7 million loss). The 
increase in the loss in 2021 is mainly due to the increase in 
financing expenses, partly caused by the negative impact of 
exchange rate and index differences on the Company’s Deben-
tures of approximately €49.3 million, compared to a positive net 
effect of exchange rate and index differences on the Compa-
ny’s debentures in the amount of approximately €8.1 million in 
2020.

The rental revenues of Galleria Dalian amounted to €9.7 million 
in 2021 (2020: €9.3 million). Combined with lower operating 
costs, the Investment Property activities generated an operating 
profit of €6.0 million in 2021 (2020: operating profit of €5.3 
million). Despite the improvement in the mall’s operations, the 
investment property segment reported a net loss in 2021 due to 
the impairment of the value of the shopping mall. The impair-
ment, amounting to €29.2 in 2021, mainly in relation to the 
market situation in Dalian, which worsened as a result of the 
COVID-19 crisis, and a change to using one valuation method. 
This resulted in a net loss of €23.2 million for the Investment 
Property activities in 2021 compared to a net loss of €20.4 
million in 2020. 

Revenues from the Development activities decreased in 2021 to 
€17.7 million compared to €20.1 million in 2020. The equity 
earnings from joint ventures amounted to €9.1 million in 2021 
(2020: €9.9 million). The decrease in the revenues is mainly due 
to a lower number of apartments delivered during the period.
Despite the decrease in financing expenses of the Real Estate 
segment, compared to the same period last year, after (partial) 
repayments of the Dalian project loan during 2021, financing 
expenses are still high and offset the operational improvement.

The net result of the Real Estate activities came in at a loss of 
€16.0 million in 2021 compared to a loss of €21.0 million in 
2020, mainly due to the impairment of the investment property 
and the high financing costs.

The Water Infrastructure activities (TGI) continues to record 
significant losses. Although revenues of TGI increased to €101.6 
million in 2021, compared to €85.7 million in 2020. However, 
as a result of changes in TGI’s management assessment of prof-
itability of some of the projects, TGI increased its provisions for 
losses and forfeiture of guarantee, which resulted in a gross 
loss in the reporting period. SG&A expenses slightly increased 
compared to 2020. In addition, TGI recorded other operational 
expenses of €6.0 million in 2021, which includes mainly provi-
sions for impairment of financial assets. The financial position of 
TGI, including the uncertainty regarding its ability to continue as 
going concern, could impact its future operations, and this trend 
may continue in the coming quarters. 

Financing expenses of the water infrastructure activities 
amounted to €10.3 million, impacted by a negative Euro/USD 
exchange rate, compared to an income of €1.1 million in 2020, 
which included a positive Euro/USD exchange rate impact. 
The result of the Water Infrastructure activities attributable to 
equity holders amounted to a net loss of €41.0 million in 2021 
compared to a net loss of €25.7 million in 2020. 

During the third quarter of 2021, new management was 
appointed for the Water Infrastructure activities. Since its 
appointment, the new management has been working on 
preparing a recovery plan for improving the financial and oper-
ational position.

Considering the direct equity impact of foreign currency transla-
tion differences combined with the net result, the total compre-
hensive expense to Kardan N.V.’s shareholders amounted to 
€133.7 million in 2021, compared to a total comprehensive 
expense of €83.0 million in 2020. The other comprehensive 
expense was mainly a result of the loss in the period.

FINANCIAL POSITION

Equity 

Kardan N.V.  

(company only, in €thousands)

December 30,  

2021

December 31,  

2020

Total Assets 81,321 163,057

Total Equity (375,826) (245,698)

Equity/Total assets (%) (21.64%) (66.4%)

The deficit in shareholders’ equity of Kardan N.V. increased from 
a deficit of €245.7 million as of December 31, 2020 to a deficit 
of €375.8 million as of December 31, 2021, primarily due to the 
loss in the period.

NEGOTIATIONS WITH DEBENTURE HOLDERS

The Company has not repaid the principal and interest payments 
to the holders of the debentures (Series A and B) (“the Deben-
tures”) which were set for payment in February 2018, February 
2019 and February 2020. As a result, as of February 2018, the 
Company is in breach according to the deeds of trust of the 
debentures. As a consequence, the Debentures are presented as 
current liabilities since 31 March 2018, bearing interest in arrears, 
until it is agreed to redistribute the payments to the debentures 
holders. The Company is working to complete a debt settlement 
with the representatives of the debenture holders (“the Debt 
Settlement”). The outline of the Debt Settlement is based, among 
other things, on the conversion of part of the debt into shares, so 
that after the completion of the Debt Settlement, the holders of 
the Company’s debentures will hold approximately 89.99% of the 
issued share capital. For more information see “Strategy” chapter. 
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As of the date of this report, there is no certainty as to the 
actual execution of the Debt Settlement, which depends on the 
completion of a number of conditions precedent which are not 
in the control of the Company. It should be emphasized that the 
Company’s assessments regarding reaching a final settlement 
with the bondholders and / or its completion is forward-looking 
information, as defined in the Securities Law, depending on 
factors beyond the Company’s control.

COVENANTS

The Company did not meet the financial covenants in relation 
to the debt coverage ratio as defined in the Deeds of Trust for 
the seventeenth consecutive quarter. Also, as of December 31, 
2021, some of TGI group companies have not complied with 
certain covenants applicable to them, for which waiver letters 
have been received from the banks. The waivers are valid until 
the financial statements as of 31 March 2022. 

CASH FLOW FORECAST

Until reaching a final debt settlement, the Company and the 
trustees are acting in accordance with the resolutions made 
by the Debenture Holders in May 2019 regarding the balance 

payments to Debenture Holders (series B) and in accordance 
with the framework of the Debt Settlement as described in 
the abovementioned draft Debt Settlement. Accordingly, the 
following cash flow forecast assumes that the Company will 
make repayments solely from funds it will receive. 

It should be emphasized that in light of the fact that the agree-
ment with the Debenture Holders has not yet been approved, it 
is possible that the final agreement to be approved by the meet-
ings of the Debenture Holders will differ from the base assump-
tions according to which this cash-flow forecast was prepared. 
Such change would impact the sources detailed in the cash flow 
forecast, and the amounts to be paid to the Debenture Holders.

It should be noted that the Company’s sources for repayment 
to the debenture holders are from its subsidiaries. Accordingly, 
it should be emphasized that among other things, in light of 
the outbreak of the COVID-19 virus, there may be a significant 
impact on the ability of the subsidiaries to sell assets and transfer 
funds to the Company. 

Therefore, the Company emphasizes that the assumptions used 
by the Company in deriving the cash flow forecast should be 
assessed carefully with the above comments in mind.

January 1, 2023 –  

December 31,  2023

January 1, 2022 – 

December 31, 2022

Forecast cash flow (EUR million)

0.50.2Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 

From operating activities 

(2.0)(2.2)General and administrative expenses 

From investing activities 

--Sale of shares and holdings in a subsidiaries and joint ventures (3) – (4)

2.02.5Receipt of dividend (5)- (6)

0.50.5Total Resources 

From financing activities (7) – (11)

--Principal and interest payment of debentures – Series A 

--Principal and interest payment of debentures – Series B

--Total Uses 

0.50.5Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 
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MAIN ASSUMPTIONS TO THE CASH FLOW FORECAST

tion, the need to receive relevant approvals, the Company’s 
need to obtain the approval of the Debenture Holders to 
the transactions, and the need of potential buyers to reach 
agreements with financing parties in order to obtain funding 
for such acquisitions. Accordingly, readers of this cash flow 
forecast must take these facts into account when assessing 
the Company’s probability of meeting the cash flow forecast.

5.  The ‘dividend distribution’ line assumes dividends, which will 
be received in KLC from Lucky Hope companies. It is noted 
that as of the date of this report, no decision has been made 
in Lucky Hope companies regarding distribution of a signif-
icant amount of dividends beyond profit distributions that 
are made from time to time and accordingly, such decision 
has not been made by KLC. The assumption of the receipt of 
such dividends is in line with the assumptions regarding the 
results of the projects carried out by Lucky Hope companies’ 
policy except for Kardan Dalian’s debt (which KLC guaran-
tees). As of the date of this report, the Company is not aware 
of any restrictions that may raise reasonable doubt regarding 
the distribution of such dividends by KLC. It is emphasized 
that dividend distribution is based on the available cash of 
the project companies and after assessing their needs. 

6.  It should be emphasized that this cash flow forecast is based 
on the forecasted operational results of KLC, which assumes 
certain assumptions regarding the impact of the COVID-19 
crisis on its operations. Should the impact of the crisis be 
greater, the dividend amounts would decrease significantly. 
For additional information regarding COVID-19 impact see 
Note 1C to the consolidated financial statements. 

7.  As noted above, the cash flow forecast was prepared 
assuming that the settlement will be completed. Accordingly, 
it is assumed that future payments to the Debenture Holders, 
insofar as they are, will be made as early repayments out of 
funds received by the Company, according to the resolution 
of the Debenture Holders. 

8.  It should be emphasized that, as at the date of this report, 
the Company does not have the sources to make repayments 
to the Debenture Holders which are, as aforesaid, expected 
to be received from dividend distribution from subsidiaries 
and from the future realization of assets. In addition, there 
is no certainty that the debt settlement will be completed. 
In addition, we draw attention to the equity deficit of the 
Company, which may indicate the inability of the Company 
to fully repay its debt to the Debenture Holders.

1.  The cash flow forecast was prepared according to the 
assumption that the debt settlement will be completed. 
Accordingly, the uses in cash flow forecast are based on 
the assumption that all payments made to the Debenture 
Holders will be made as early repayments only from funds 
which will be received by the Company.

2.  The cash flow forecast refers to the Company and its subsid-
iary GTC Real Estate Holding BV which are directly held 
100% by the company. The forecast presented consolidated 
since the cash flow management in these companies is 
consolidated. Regarding restrictions on the transfer of funds 
between companies, see note 11 below.

3.  The following are assumptions, comments, and reservations 
in relation to the Company’s estimates regarding the future 
cashflow from investing activity:

 a.   As detailed in various reports of the Company, the Company 
has been making efforts to sell its holdings in TGI for some 
years, with a view to using the funds received from the sale 
to repay part of the debentures. In light of TGI’s perfor-
mance in the last years, the heavy losses in the reporting 
periods, which include material provisions for the impair-
ment of various projects and debts, termination of projects 
and forfeiture of guarantees, the negative cash flow and 
delays in TGI’s projects and the doubts regarding its ability 
to continue as going concern, the Board of Directors of the 
Company concluded that, at present, the strengthening the 
financial position of TGI is required. Accordingly, the cash 
flow forecast assumes that no payment will be received 
from TGI or as a result of the sale of the Company’s hold-
ings in TGI. It should be noted that Kardan did not provide 
any guarantee to any of the debts of the TGI Group. 

 b.   As of the date of this report, the Company is not conducting 
negotiations regarding the sale of its holdings in KLC. 
However, the Company is conducting discussions from 
time to time regarding the sale of KLC’s assets apart from its 
ongoing business of selling apartments. In addition, during 
2021 KLC has begun a soft launch process regarding the 
sale of Galleria Dalian shopping mall, which, as of the date 
of this report, did not result in a binding transaction. 

4.  Generally, uncertainty is inherent in a forecast of sales of 
assets, mainly due to dependence on third parties, inter 
alia, due to: the need to find potential buyers and to reach 
agreements with them regarding the terms of the transac-
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9.  The cash flow forecast does not include interest in arrears 
resulting from failure to meet the repayment dates set out 
in the Deeds of Trust and deferment of payments to the 
Debenture Holders, in light of the assumption that the 
payments to the Debenture Holders will be made according 
to agreements between the Company and the Debenture 
Holders trustees and will not include interest in arrears. In 
addition, the cash flow forecast does not include early repay-
ment costs, among others, in light of the fact that as of the 
date of this report the Company is unable to estimate the 
date of the repayments to the Debenture Holders and there-
fore, is unable to calculate the amount of interest in arrears 
and the early repayment costs that it will be required to pay. 
It is possible that the Debenture Holders’ assemblies will not 
approve an arrangement based on these principles and in 
that case the Company will also be required to pay interest 
arrears.

10.  The interest calculations are based on the Israeli CPI, exchange 
rates and interest rates which are applicable as of December 
31, 2021, and as aforesaid, do not include interest in arrears. 
A change of 5% in the Euro/NIS rate will lead to a change of 

approximately €21.7 million to the outstanding balance of 
the debentures (principal and interest) as of December 31, 
2021. In addition, a deterioration of the financial position of 
KLC (amongst others, due to COVID-19 crisis), could mean 
that KLC will not have financial resources to pay dividends to 
the Company.

11.   Restrictions on transferring funds:
  Transfer of funds between Kardan NV and GTC RE is mostly 

done through intercompany loans or distribution of dividend 
or capital reserves as permitted by Dutch law. It should be 
noted that under certain conditions, a capital distribution is 
allowed according to the Dutch law, even when the distrib-
utable reserves are insufficient.

  Breakdown of distributable reserves according to Dutch law 
and intercompany loans balances is as follows:

Subsidiary 

(EUR million)

Distributable reserves 

as of December 31, 2021

GTC RE 118.7
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REAL ESTATE

Kardan N.V. operates in the real estate sector through Kardan Land 
China Ltd. (KLC). The real estate activities are divided into two 
areas of activity. Investment Property and Development, that are 
presented as business segments.

KLC develops residential apartments, mostly with local partners, 
in fast-growing Tier 2 and Tier 3 cities, tapping into the need for 
housing due to the urbanization. It has a strong track record and 
constructed and sold, since it emerged, more than 20,000 residential 
units, and has rights and land to develop another approximately 
2,000 apartments. 

KLC currently has five projects in different stages of development, 
located in four cities throughout China: two in Shenyang (the 
capital of Liaoning Province in North-east China and the largest 
city in this province), one in Xianyang (a city in North-east China 
bordering the city of Xi’an), one in Changzhou (a city located 160 
kilometers to the North-west of Shanghai) and one in Dalian (the 
second largest city in Liaoning Province). 

Furthermore, KLC develops mixed-use projects, consisting of 
commercial retail estate under its Galleria brand and residential and 
small office apartments, like the current large project ‘Europark’ in 
Dalian. KLC holds, operates and manages shopping center Galleria 
Dalian in Dalian, which was officially opened in August 2015.

The key drivers for KLC in the commercial real estate sector in 
China are: (1) the location of the properties in high-demand 
areas in Tier 2 and Tier 3 cities; (2) the reputation of the brand 
‘Galleria’; (3) management abilities in the Chinese market based 
on local management with connections to the Chinese government 
and business officials and unique connections with international 
commercial chains; (4) expertise in locating land and business 
opportunities for construction of projects; (5) proven ability for 
the whole or partial sale of the property; (6) access to sources of 
financing; (7) knowledge and expertise in managing, operating and 
marketing commercial areas; (8) creating and maintaining a diverse 
tenants mix that will provide the most comprehensive solution 
possible to the customers.

MARKET DEVELOPMENTS

During the coronavirus crisis, China’s economy recovered especially 
rapidly and became the only major economy to achieve GDP growth 
in 2020. In 2021, the Chinese economy continued to recover faster 
compared with the other major economies. In 2021, China’s GDP 
grew by 8.1%, to RMB 114.37 trillion (USD 18 trillion). The Chinese 
economy is rated second in the global economy. 

Upon the outbreak of the coronavirus epidemic (COVID-19) in 
December 2019 and its rapid spread across China and beyond, a 
health state of emergency was declared since early January 2020. 

Following the declaration, restrictions were placed on the movement 
of persons between and within cities and a series of businesses 
were closed. In addition, the education system shut down, and the 
government urged people to stay in their homes in an attempt to 
take control of the spread of the virus. The immediate effect of the 
spread of the coronavirus and of the announcement of a state of 
emergency was a slowdown in China’s economy, especially in the 
third economic sector. the sector - which includes, among other 
things, food and beverage, entertainment, fitness, tourism, hotels 
and retail - was hard-hit, both due to the announcement of access 
restrictions aimed at reducing unnecessary movement and gatherings 
and due to the caution exercised by civilians, who avoided leaving 
their homes and purchasing other than basic necessities. 

As a result of these restrictions, shopper traffic in malls (including 
in the Dalian Mall) was down substantially, as was store turnover. 
Additionally, potential apartment buyer traffic in some projects 
was somewhat adversely affected, causing a significant decline in 
apartment sales and a slight drop in apartment prices in some of the 
projects, compared to their levels prior to the coronavirus outbreak.

As of March 2020, provinces and municipalities across China 
cautiously and gradually begun to take mitigating measures to get 
life and the economy back on track, as much as possible. Later on, 
there were random outbreaks in several cities, which were treated 
immediately and with determination. In general, most economic 
sectors are fully operational again, and the major economic 
indicators suggest stability. 

However, in cities which experienced additional outbreaks, the 
local economies were damaged during the restrictions period. For 
example, in Dalian, where the Kardan Land China’s yield-bearing 
property is located, there were five more coronavirus outbreaks 
since the pandemic started, the most recent of which started on 
15 March 2022 and has yet to end. Each wave of the pandemic 
materially diminished the city’s economy in general, specifically 
diminishing visitor traffic to the shopping mall and stores’ turnover. 

Due to the uncertainty surrounding the continued development and 
spread of the coronavirus, the effect of the vaccinations etc., as of 
the report date, the Company is unable to assess the future effect 
of the coronavirus spread on the Chinese economy as a whole and 
on the activity of Kardan Land China in particular. 

Starting in March 2022, there are renewed outbreaks in many 
cities in China, including the cities in which the Kardan Land China 
Group operates. Further to the “zero-tolerance” policies, multiple 
lockdowns and movement restrictions have been imposed. These 
restrictions are a hinderance, and generally make it impossible 
to run the business as usual. Kardan Land China is studying the 
potential effect of the latest outbreak and the restrictions imposed 
on its activity, and it will prepare as the developments unfold.
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RESIDENTIAL CONSTRUCTION MARKET 

The real estate market in China is highly decentralized and 
fragmented market, characterized by fierce competition. Although 
there are some very large and strong local real estate companies 
and there is an increasing consolidation, currently still no single 
market participant has a particularly large market share. The foreign 
companies are primarily engaged in the commercial real estate 
sector and in the construction of luxury residential projects in Tier 
1 and Tier 2 cities. The Tier 1 cities are the four most developed 
cities in China (from the aspect of GDP and per-capita GDP, 
infrastructure, education, etc.), Shanghai, Beijing, Guangzhou and 
Shenzhen. The Tier 2 cities are less developed than the Tier 1 cities 
in terms of the above mentioned features, they include provincial 
capitals and other major cities in China, such as Shenyang, Xi’an, 
Chengdu and Dalian, where KLC is active.

According to estimates1, the ongoing process of Chinese 
urbanization is expected to bring about the creation of 170 million 
new city-dwellers during the period 2015 - 2025 – a trend that 
is expected to bring about an improvement in the residential real 
estate market.

According to the Chinese National Bureau of Statistics, real estate 
investments in China grew by 4.4% in 2021, compared with a 
7.0% increase in 2020. In addition, in 2021, the prices of newly-
completed residential apartments in China rose by an average 
1.5% in 70 of China’s largest cities (December 2021 compared with 
December 2020)2, whereas prices in first-tier cities remained stable 
in 2021 (compared with the sharp increase in the price of new 
apartments in first-tier cities in the past). The residential real estate 
market has been suffering from substantially diminished demand 
since August-September 2021, mainly as a result of the pandemic.

THE MARKET OF SHOPPING MALLS

The market of shopping malls is highly dependent on the buying power 
of the local population. As a result of the outbreak of the coronavirus, 
retail sales of consumer goods were significantly affected, however 
in 2021 these sales showed a strong recovery. According to the data 
the Chinese National Bureau of Statistics published in January 2022, 
the total retail sales of consumer goods in 2021 was 12.5% higher 
compared with 2020, and 7% higher compared with 2019. 

Next to government initiatives to encourage domestic private 
consumption, the management of KLC foresees an extensive 
urbanization trend and rapid expansion of retail chains in China 
which constitute positive growth factors in the commercial real 
estate market in China. Simultaneously, we see an increase in 
competition in this field, both from local entrepreneurs and from 
international companies, which creates greater competition for land 
for development. 

Another challenge is the fast-growing online shopping market 
in China which had brought massive changes in consumption 
behavior (transition from shopping malls to online purchases.) Since 
the beginning of widespread use of fourth generation of broadband 
cellular network technology (4G) in China, there has been an 
increase in China’s online retail sales. In 2020, online sales increased 
by approximately 10.9% compared to 2019, and in 2021 - by 
approximately 15.4% compared to 2020. The official launch of 5G 
on October 31, 2019 and its especially rapid deployment in China 
contributed (and is expected to continue to contribute) to further 
boosting online retail sales during the next few years. China is a 
global leader in distributing the 5G network, by the end of 2021, 
376 cities in China were already connected to the 5G network.

Kardan Land China has adapted to this trend by adjusting the 
composition of tenants which provide entertainment, food, fitness, 
children’s services, educational services, training, music, as well as 
additional activities which cannot be bought online. The Company 
believes these will attract visitors and buyers to Galleria Dalian. 

OPERATIONAL DEVELOPMENTS REAL ESTATE ASIA

Residential projects KLC

Units sold in the period For the year ended

December 31,

2021 2020

100% owned

Europark Dalian 52 67

Joint Venture projects*

Olympic Garden - 221

Suzy 263 395

Palm Garden 3 18

City Dream 13 84

279 718

Total 331 785

* 100% number presented; KLC holds approx. 50%

For the year ended 

December 31

2021 2020

Operational Information 
Revenue Residential - JV (in €thousands)* 34,864 43,390
Gross profit residential - JV (in €thousands)* 20,839 22,533
Apartments sold in period (a) 331 785
Apartments delivered in period (b) 584 807
Total apartments sold, not yet delivered (c) 600 836

(a) All residential apartments, incl. Dalian (100%). 
(b) In 2021 52 apartments were delivered in the Dalian project compared to 75 
apartments in 2020. 
(c) KLC’s part in the gross profit from apartments sold, not yet delivered is 
estimated at €11.8 million as of 31 December 2021.1  The People’s Bank of China - http://www.pbc.gov.cn.

2   Source: The Chinese National Bureau of Statistics - Changes in Home Prices in 
China’s 70 Largest Cities
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In 2021, KLC sold 279 apartments in three JV projects in three 
different cities in China: Suzy in Shenyang, Palm Garden in Shenyang 
and City Dream in Changzhou. In addition, in the Europark Project 
in Dalian, KLC sold 52 units.

The total number of units in inventory (including apartment 
inventory in the joint venture residential projects) decreased from 
1,889 as of December 31, 2020, to 1,307 as of December 31, 2020. 
The number of unsold units in inventory decreased from 1,053 
as of December 31, 2020, to 707 as of December 31, 2021. The 
percentage of unsold units for which construction was completed 
as of December 31, 2021, slightly increased to 27% (23% as of 
December 31, 2020). 

Shopping mall Galleria Dalian integrates multiple aspects in its 
offering, including entertainment, food, sports and health, and 
fashion. Due to the restrictions imposed by the authorities in China 

following the outbreak of COVID-19, shops had to be temporarily 
closed during the lockdown periods. This resulted in a sharp 
decrease in the footfall and sales, mostly in Q1 2021, after which 
the operation of the mall gradually resumed. As of the date of this 
report, 26 shops were closed in accordance with the instructions of 
the authorities due to another outbreak of the virus in Dalian.

RESULTS ANALYSIS

In order to better reflect the underlying activities, the Company 
presents the results of the Real Estate activity as two operational 
segments: Real Estate – Development and Real Estate – Investment 
Property. The Real Estate – Investment Property segment only 
includes the results of operation of the Galleria Dalian shopping 
mall; the Real Estate – Development segment includes the results of 
the residential development of the Europark Dalian project as well 
as the results of residential real estate projects under joint control.

In thousands of Euro For the year ended

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Real Estate – Development

Sale of apartments 17,720 20,126

Cost of sales (14,038) (19,187)

Gross Profit (loss) 3,682 939

SG&A expenses (1,617) (2,375)

Gain (loss) from disposal of fixed assets and investments, net 9,111 9,935

Equity earnings (losses) 11,176 8,499

Real Estate Development segment results 17,720 20,126

Real Estate - Investment Property 

Rental revenues 9,675 9,308

Cost of rental revenues (2,640) (2,272)

Gross Profit 7,035 7,036

SG&A expenses (1,058) (1,776)

Operating profit 5,977 5,260

Loss from fair value adjustments (29,187) (26,723)

Profit from other income (expense), net - 1,049

Real Estate Investment Property segment  results (23,210) (20,414)

Total Real Estate activity results (12,034) (11,915)

Other unallocated expense (1,061) (1,857)

Profit (loss) before finance expenses and income tax (13,095) (13,772)

Finance expenses, net (4,048) (11,861)

Tax benefits (expenses) 1,188 4,584

Profit (Loss) for the period – attributed to Company’s shareholders (15,955) (21,049)
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REAL ESTATE – DEVELOPMENT

The Real Estate Development segment relates to the residen-
tial projects of Europark Dalian and the joint venture residential 
projects. 

In 2021, revenue from the sale of apartments (the handover of 
apartments in the Europark Dalian project) amounted to €17.7 
million (2020: €20.1 million) and was impacted by a decrease in 
selling prices of the apartments following the COVID-19 crisis. 
In 2021, 52 units in the C towers of the Europark Dalian project 
were delivered and tower C3 was fully sold, compared to 75 
units delivered in 2020. 

The gross profit margin in 2021 increased to 21% compared to 
5% in 2020. The gross profit margin was affected by the provi-
sion for impairment of car parks in the amount of approximately 
€1.5 million in 2021, as well as by the reversal of the provisions 
in respect of previous years. In 2020 an impairment to the value 
of car parks inventory of €2.3 million was recorded, which led to 
a relatively low gross profit margin.

SG&A expenses decreased to €1.6 million compared to €2.4 
million in 2020. SG&A expenses which are mainly related to the 
C towers in the Europark Dalian project are decreasing with the 
progress of the sales. 

Equity earnings, which includes the result of the residential activ-
ities from joint venture projects, contributed a profit of €9.1 
million in 2021 compared with a profit of €9.9 million in 2020. 
The decrease relates to a lower number of apartments delivered 
in the period. Revenue of the residential joint venture projects in 
2021 amounted to €34.9 million (2020: €43.4 million). Despite 
the COVID-19 crisis, during most of 2021 the interest remained 
strong. Towards the end of the year, a crisis began in the real 
estate market in China following the collapse of a large company 
in the field, which significantly affected the pace of apartment 
sales and may even continue to have a negative impact in the 
coming periods. 

The results of the Real Estate development segment increased 
from a profit of €8.5 million in 2020 to €11.2 million in 2021, 
as a result of, among other things, the impairment in 2020 of car 
parks as mentioned above. 

REAL ESTATE – INVESTMENT PROPERTY

The Real Estate Investment Property segment relates to the 
results of operation of the Galleria Dalian shopping mall. 

Revenues of the Investment Property segment slightly increased 
to €9.7 million in 2021 (2020: €9.3 million).

The gross profit rate decreased from 75.6% in 2020 to 72.7% 
in 2021. The increase in revenues combined with the efficiency 

measures taken, led to an improvement in the shopping mall’s 
NOI from €4.9 million in 2020 to €6.0 million in 2021. The 
profit from operations of the investment property segment came 
in at €6.0 million in 2021, compared to €5.3 million in 2020.

SG&A decreased from €1.8 million in 2020 to €1.1 million in 
2021, mainly due to the bad debt provision recorded in 2020, as 
a result of the impact of the COVID-19 crisis.

Over the years, the valuations of the Dalian Gallery Mall have 
been based on the use of a weighted average between the two 
valuation methods: The DCF method and the direct comparison 
approach. During 2020, the weight given to the DCF method 
increased, given the lack of relevant comparison transactions, 
partly, due to the COVID-19 crisis. As of the valuation as of 
March 31, 2021, the Company relies exclusively on the DCF 
method, as the Company believes that the lack of comparison 
transactions in the domestic market in China no longer allows 
reliance on the comparison method.
The external valuation of the Galleria Dalian Mall as of December 
31, 2021, included changes in market conditions and assump-
tions that were used as the basis for the fair valuation of invest-
ment property in China as of December 31, 2020.
Accordingly, adjustments to fair value during the reporting 
period resulted both from the adjustments in valuation method, 
as mentioned above, and from the changes in market conditions 
and assumptions as mentioned. The impairment amounted to 
€29.2 in 2021. It is noted that the change in the balance of 
the investment property, as presented in the Company’s balance 
sheet as of December 31, 2021, includes a positive FX impact 
(recorded in the equity) of €18.5 million, as a result of the 
appreciation of the RMB compared to the Euro. The investment 
property as of December 31, 2021 amounts to €172.2 million 
(December 31, 2020: €182.6 million). 
Following the above, the result the Investment Property segment 
came in at a loss of €23.2 million in 2021 (2020 €20.4 million 
loss).

REAL ESTATE - TOTAL

Financing expenses, net, amounted to €4.0 million, compared 
to €11.9 million in 2020. The financing expenses mainly include 
interest expenses related to the Europark Dalian project loan. 
The financing expenses include profit from foreign exchange of 
€4.0 million, compared with a negative foreign exchange impact 
of €1.6 million in 2020. 

Tax expenses / benefit amounted to a benefit of €1.2 million in 
2021 (2020: €4.6 million tax benefit). 

The net loss in 2021 amounted to €16.0 million (2020: €21.0 
million loss).

As of December 31, 2021 loans and borrowings amounted to 
RMB 450 million (approximately €62.4 million). 
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Additional balance sheet information - Kardan Land China

(in €thousands) 2021 (31.12)  2020 (31.12)

Real Estate – Development

Share of investment in JVs 44,661 43,069

Inventory 7,447 24,134

Real Estate – Investment Property 

Investment Property 172,168 182,555

Cash & short-term investments 11,479 22,437

Total Assets 298,392 326,763

Loans and Borrowings 62,393 75,803

Advance payments from buyers  

(Real Estate – Development)

3,058 1,723

Total Equity 197,256 201,639

RISKS

A global economic crisis and/or a Chinese economic crisis may 
impact KLC due to, among other things, decrease in real estate 
demand in China, decrease in consumption which is highly likely 
to impact the Mall’s revenues and, as a result, also impact the 
value of the Mall, decline in real estate prices and rent, changes 
in government policies regarding real estate, decrease in avail-
able financing sources, and lower financial stability of buyers, 
tenants and subcontractors.

In December 2019, the coronavirus epidemic broke out across 
China and was officially declared a pandemic at the end of 
January 2020. As a result, a health state of emergency was 
declared, restrictions were placed on gatherings and movement 
of people, and businesses were closed. Although in May 2020 
the situation stabilized, during the years 2020 and 2021, there 
were 4 further local outbreaks in the city of Dalian. As of the 
report publication date, on March 15, 2022, another outbreak 
in Dalian was reported. These restrictions, as well as the public’s 
fear of contracting the disease, led people to stay at home. As 
a result, there was a significant decline in economic activity in 
China. The continued spread of the coronavirus could compro-
mise the activity of the Dalian Mall, home sales in various proj-
ects and their continued construction, and, as a result, materially 
compromise the performance of KLC and the value of its assets. 
In addition, the Company estimates that there is risk that, even 
after the coronavirus crisis will have been concluded, that a long 
period will have elapsed before the Chinese economy recovers 
to its pre-crisis condition. 

KLC is exposed to the Chinese market in which the government 
has large-scale involvement in the economy in general and in the 
real estate segment in particular. This material exposure includes, 
inter alia, the risks of legislative changes and changes in the 
regulations that govern the real estate industry, including those 
resulting from regulatory changes which are already in effect, 

such as: investment incentives in certain areas in China, regula-
tion of foreign companies’ activities, regulations restricting the 
purchase of apartments, etc. 

Additionally, the activity requires dealing with substantial bureau-
cratic issues and obtaining numerous approvals in the course of 
the business activity. Business activity in China is substantially 
impacted by government policy both in the monetary area and 
the regulatory area. Change of policy whose objective is to cool 
the residential real estate market or the commercial real estate 
market, generally in China or in the areas where KLC operates, 
is liable to negatively impact KLC’s ability to initiate new projects 
and the results of existing projects, as well as to raise debt. The 
Chinese government, through its policies, intentionally impacts 
the real estate market. The principal means for this are deter-
mining the cost of mortgages and their availability, limitations 
of the number of apartments for purchase in cities or specific 
areas and regulating the scope and type of lands that flow to the 
market for investment, as well as various restrictions on financial 
institutions in terms of granting credit to real estate projects.

With respect to the retail real estate market: demand for commer-
cial space could decline as a result of an increase in the supply 
of space and as a result of the ever-growing competition for 
“quality” tenants (financially robust multinationals and global 
retail chains). Additionally, changes in demand due to a slower 
growth rate of households, change in interest rates, change in 
bank mortgage terms, in expectation of changes in home prices 
and expectations of return on investment in apartments may 
have a material adverse effect on the level of demand and on 
home prices. As a result, the abovementioned exposures may 
have an adverse effect on KLC’s financial performance. The 
effect may be reflected either directly in KLC’s operating reve-
nues and expenses or indirectly - through the revaluations of 
the income-generating properties owned by the Company. In 
addition, a downturn in home sales could adversely affect KLC’s 
financing sources due to a decrease in loan-to-value amounts 
from customers.

The retail sector has been undergoing rapid changes in recent 
years, inter alia due to technological changes (e-commerce, 
digital payments, etc.) In recent years, e-commerce has grown, 
offering an alternative to brick-and-mortar stores. In addition, 
the development of new means of payment (including through 
smartphones), makes it difficult to keep track of tenants’ 
proceeds (a percentage of which is payable in addition to the 
rent). These changes may further erode Kardan Land China’s 
revenues.
For the majority of its residential real estate projects KLC coop-
erates in a 50/50 joint venture with a Chinese partner in order 
to spread its risks and to deal with the political gamesmanship 
optimally. KLC operates with its ear to the ground: construction 
of projects is phased according to demand in order to minimize 
the number of apartments in inventory. 
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WATER INFRASTRUCTURE

Tahal Group International B.V. (Tahal), Kardan’s water infrastruc-
ture company, focuses on planning, execution and management of 
water projects and is primarily active in two different continents: Asia 
(primarily India and Israel) and Europe (Central and Eastern Europe). 

MARKET DEVELOPMENTS
 
The water market (water transportation and supply, water and 
wastewater treatment, and water and sewage networks) in devel-
oping countries - which has been Tahal’s area of activity for many 
years, and in which Tahal has substantial activity - has been growing 
constantly, inter alia, as a result of the growing demand for water, 
that is twice the growth rate of the world’s population, the limited 
redundancy in existing water infrastructures, and regulatory changes. 

The main factors affecting the increase in the demand for water 
are: the rapid growth of the world’s population - which is expected 
to reach more than 9.7 billion people by 2050; economic devel-
opment, mainly in developing countries; climate change; rapid 
urbanization processes; the industrialization and agricultural devel-
opment - mainly in emerging economies, the growing demand for 
water by the agricultural and industrial sectors, as well as changes in 
consumption habits. According to estimates, if investments are not 
made in water infrastructure, in 2030 the global demand for water 
will surpass the supply of water infrastructures by a rate of 40%. In 
order to meet the estimated increase, an increase in investments in 
water infrastructure are required - 40% globally and 50% in devel-
oping countries, amounting to USD 22 trillion between 2005 and 
2030. The method of coping with the increasing demand for water 
varies between the different countries and regions in which Tahal 
operates.

As of the Report date, the water market is facing challenges and 
difficulties stemming from climate change, urbanization, and decline 
in green space. Due to the global water shortage, among other 
things, more than 1.1 billion people suffer from lack of access to 
safe potable water, poor agricultural crops, damaged ecosystems 
and lack of advanced sanitation and water systems, which could 
result in infections and widespread illnesses.  

It should be noted that, despite global recognition of the challenges 
and risks stemming from the water shortage, there is, in fact, a delay 
in creating solutions for the problem, mainly in developing countries, 
mostly on the back of difficulties in raising funding, lack of adequate 
infrastructure, and the need to coordinate between countries.  

It is estimated that due to the effects of the coronavirus crisis, the 
global water and water treatment industry shrank by 17.7% during 
20201. It however appears that the coronavirus crisis also raised 
awareness of the importance of water infrastructures, to protect 
health in general and to prevent pandemics in particular. Hence, it 
is estimated that the global water and water treatment industry will 
grow by 5.3%in 2022, to over USD 800 billion2.

OPERATIONAL DEVELOPMENTS

India
Since 2015, Tahal has been active in the Indian water market, 
through a range of projects for water supply, construction of 
effluents treatment infrastructures and even several gas and 
oil projects. Tahal is currently involved in 10 projects in various 
Indian states. During 2020 and 2021 most of Tahal’s projects 
in India were behind schedule, which placed some of them at 
risk of being canceled. Due to the delays in the projects, some 
guarantees provided by Tahal were forfeited, and there are also 
pending letters of demand to forfeit additional guarantees and/
or cancellation of some of the projects.  

During 2021, Tahal focused on carrying out existing projects, but 
did not compete for, nor promote winning new ones, within its 
international activity. In this context, the company is working to 
sell all of its water infrastructure activities in India to third parties, 
while continuing to promote the projects to the extent possible. 
It is emphasized that, as of the report date, no sale agreement 
has yet been signed and there is no certainty regarding the sale 
of Tahal’s operations in India as aforesaid. 

Russia

Works on the project in Russia are going on as planned, but the 
war in Ukraine might affect profitability and receipt of payments, 
because of supply chain problems, currency devaluation, and the 
effect of the sanctions against Russia. As of the report date, Tahal 
is in the process of constructing one project in the field of water 
and wastewater treatment in the Ivanovo region of central Russia, 
totaling approx. RUB 3.7 billion3 (about EUR 43.8 million)4. The 
project’s performance period was extended to March 2024. The 
Company also has two more projects in the Ivanovo Province 
whose performance has been completed, in inspection stages.

Ukraine and Georgia
As of the report date, the Kharkiv Project in Ukraine has been 
completely halted because of the warfare in Ukraine, and the 
Tahal Group notified the client of halting the works because of a 
force majeure. In Georgia, Tahal is in dispute with its client about 
the responsibility for certain delays in the project, and therefore 
there is a risk that performance guarantees related to this project 
will be forfeited. 

1   Source: https://www.globenewswire.com/news-release/2020/11/25/2133496/0/
en/Global-Water-Market-Report-2020-Digitalization-Power-
ing-the-COVID-19-Stricken-Industry.html

2   https://www.prnewswire.com/news-releases/global-water-and-wastewater-
treatment-outlook-report-2021-2022-innovative-digital-solutions-and-plat-
forms-are-capitalizing-on-outcome-based-investments-in-water-utilities--indus-
tries-301444500.html 

3   The Tahal Group’s share of said projects; excluding VAT and unexpected costs 
as per client.

4  Calculated according to the RUB/EUR exchange rate as at December 31 2021. 
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KEY FIGURES WATER INFRASTRUCTURE

In thousands of Euro For the year ended

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Contract revenues 101,633 85,651

Contract cost (115,278) (106,137)

Gross profit (loss) (13,645) (20,486)

SG&A expenses (11,108) (10,065)

Share of profit (loss) of investments accounted for using the equity method - 3,082

Other operational expenses (6,042) 826

Result from operations before financing expenses (30,795) (26,643)

Financing income (expenses), net (10,304) 1,134

Income tax (expenses) / benefit (288) (1,921)

Net result (41,387) (27,430)

Equity holders (Kardan N.V.) (40,955) (25,674)

Non-controlling interest holders (432) (1,756)

(41,387) (27,430) 

RESULTS ANALYSIS

Additional Information Water Infrastructure 2021 (31.12) 2020 (31.12)

Balance sheet (in €thousands)

Cash & short-term investments 7,187 7,254

Total Assets 94,622 90,142

Net debt (56,437) (47,259) 

Equity attributable to equity holders (Kardan N.V.) (76,119) (43,015)

Equity/Assets (80.44%) (47.7%)

The water infrastructure activity continues to record signifi-
cant losses. In 2021, TGI presented a loss attributable to equity 
holders in the amount of €41.0 million compared to a loss of 
€25.7 in 2020. TGI’s difficult financial position caused, among 
other things, delays in projects and exposure to forfeiture of 
guarantees, for which provisions for loss were recorded. In order 
to finance its operations, TGI has utilized short term credit lines 
amounting to approximately €59 million from banks and perfor-
mance guarantees for projects of €57 million. As of December 
31, 2021, TGI does not meet the financial covenants to which it 
committed towards the financing banks, but for which TGI has 
previously received letters of waiver from the financing banks. 
The waiver letters are subject to the fact that the banks will have 
no other reason to call for Tahal’s debt for immediate repay-
ment. They are valid until the financial statements as of March 
31, 2022. 

Revenues in 2021 amounted to approximately €101.6 million, 
compared to approximately € 85.7 million last year. The increase 
in revenue is, among other things, due to a change in manage-

ment’s accounting estimates in connection with a number of 
projects. In parallel, as a result of a change in the TGI manage-
ment’s estimates regarding the profitability of some of the proj-
ects, TGI reduced the profitability forecast for some of the proj-
ects during 2021 and updated provisions for loss, resulting in a 
gross loss during the reporting period.

General and administrative expenses in the reporting period 
amounted to approximately €11.1 million, compared to 
expenses in the amount of €10.1 million. Combined with 
other operating expenses of about €6 million, the loss before 
financing expenses and taxes on income in 2021 amounted to 
€30.8 million compared to a loss of €26.6 million in 2020.

Financing expenses amounted to €10.3 million in 2021 compared 
to an income of €1.1 million in 2020 when exchange rates had a 
positive impact. Finance expenses in the period mainly consist of 
interest expenses due to an increase in bank debt and a negative 
effect of the Euro / USD exchange rate differences in the current 
period.
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During 2021, the water infrastructure activities generated a 
negative cash flow from operating activities of €3.6 million and 
presented a shareholders’ deficit in the amount of €76.1 million.
 
In the past few years, the value of TGI eroded due to the dete-
rioration of its operational activities which resulted in significant 
losses. Since the Company is consolidating TGI in its financial 
statements, the negative impact on the Company’s equity is €76 
million. The new management, which was appointed during the 
third quarter of 2021, began preparing a plan to recover Tahal’s 
financial and operational position. 

RISKS 

Tahal’s ability to take action in the various countries in which 
it operates is directly influenced by the level of investments 
in the relevant country and the country’s economic ranking 
according to international indexes. Political stability, improving 
the economic and security environment, and government deci-
sions for the distribution of resources for the development or 
promotion of investments and industry are influencing factors 
for project execution and Tahal’s business in these countries. The 
exposure includes, inter alia, the risks of changes in regulations 
such as regulations that regulate the business of foreign compa-
nies, regulations regarding the environment, and others.

Tahal has projects under implementation in Russia and in Ukraine, 
and two more projects in Russia in the inspection stages, that 
might be affected by the Russian/Ukraine war, directly or indi-
rectly. Tahal also has projects under implementation in bordering 
countries (Kazakhstan and Georgia), that might be indirectly 
affected by the war. As of the report date, the Kharkiv Project in 
Ukraine has been completely halted because of the warfare, and 
Tahal notified the client of halting the works because of a force 
majeure. At this stage, Tahal is unable to estimate the duration of 
the war and the full scope of its impact on its activity in Russia, 
Ukraine, Kazakhstan, and Georgia.

A recession and slowdown in the growth rate in the developing 
countries is liable to negatively impact Tahal’s growth rate. Tahal, 
the value of its assets, its results, the amount of its capital, the 
ability to realize assets, the state of its business, and Tahal’s ability 
to fulfill its financial obligations in which it has committed itself to 
loans and to raise funds and financing packages for projects and 
for holding assets (including for the matter of financing terms) 
are exposed to negative repercussions of the macro factors in 
the short, medium and long term. The global economic situa-
tion also influences the readiness of developing countries to offer 
financing packages or to insure projects in developing countries. 
Moreover, Tahal’s projects require significant capital. In light of 
the aforesaid, the slowdown in the global economy is liable to 
adversely affect Tahal’s business results and/or development 
since the company might not be able to raise the required capital 

for the aforementioned projects or the capital it raises will be at 
financing terms that are inferior to those of the past.

The outbreak of the coronavirus constitutes a global macroeco-
nomic risk, causing uncertainty about future economic activity 
around the world and the expected impacts on inflation and 
financial markets. The potential damage embodied in the coro-
navirus spread to growth and the global economy depends on 
the speed and ability to stop the spread of the disease across 
the entire world. At this stage, Tahal is unable to estimate the 
duration and magnitude of the crisis or its full implications for its 
activity. However, due to the fact that a material part of Tahal’s 
activities are based on government investments in infrastructure 
and financing by various international organizations, a global 
economic crisis, recession and a decline in infrastructure invest-
ments by governments, which may be caused by the spread of 
the coronavirus, may have an adverse effect on the activity and 
results of Tahal.

The possibility of executing infrastructure development projects 
or investing in assets usually depends on meeting capital and 
financing requirements and on providing guarantees. Tahal’s 
financing sources may not be sufficient to execute the projects or 
investments in assets. Tahal inability to obtain sufficient funding 
to execute the projects or invest in assets may cause delays in 
the execution of the projects, abandonment of existing projects, 
and a failure to take advantage of business opportunities in the 
future.

Tahal’s ability to finance its activity, both to perform the current 
project and to the assigned new projects, is conditioned on 
lines of credit from the financing banks. The financing banks’ 
financing facilities are conditioned on Tahal’s compliance with 
threshold requirements and various financial liabilities. Tahal is 
not in compliance with the financial liabilities it has assumed 
toward the financing banks, and as a result, the banks are not 
making new lines of credit available to Tahal and are not allowing 
it to utilize the current lines of credit to finance its activity, and 
Tahal has been assigned to the financing banks’ department 
handling unusual credit. At the same time, Tahal has received 
waivers from the banks for the financial covenants, effective 
until the financial statements for March 31, 2022, and is working 
to extend them by a another period. 

Infrastructure construction and development projects are by 
nature subject to various performance risks, including the 
inability to complete the project within the timeframe, budget, 
guidelines and standards established in the specific agreement. 
A lot of attention is dedicated to continuous improvement of 
project management in order to minimize risks. However, risks 
do occur and at times cannot be avoided. In addition, projects 
may be delayed as a result of statutory reasons (such as delays in 
obtaining various permits and licenses, the release of goods from 
customs, and making the site available for the project). Delays 
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are also liable to cause a rise in costs and lower returns on capital 
investments and reduce profits as well as a failure to meet the loan 
payment schedule. In addition, delays by the countries requesting 
the implementation of the projects may affect the financing pack-
ages necessary for the execution of the projects, which could 
harm the ability of Tahal to complete the project within the deter-
mined project schedule established for the project. If the customer 
does not meet his financial obligations to Tahal and/or when the 
customer delays, cancels or does not meet his financial obligations 
to Tahal and/or when the customer delays, cancels or does not act 
to complete the project, after Tahal has made significant promo-
tional investments, this could have a negative impact on Tahal, its 
business, financial position, and financial results.

Many of Tahal’s projects are executed in emerging and frontier 
countries, represent significant budgets, involve co-operating 
with sub-contractors and external parties and are frequently 
dependent on obtaining certain regulatory permissions. These 
combined factors could lead to situations of corruption, bribery 
and or fraud. Tahal has an anti-corruption policy in place comple-
menting its existing policies and guidelines.

The environmental risks associated with the activities of Tahal 
are characterized by the type of activity and include ground-
water and river pollution, soil pollution and air pollution. In 
general, Tahal has quality standards requiring its employees to 
apply high standards on environmental issues and environmental 
control procedures, procurement, hiring sub-contractors, project 
management method, submission of bids etc. In addition, there 
is an integrated quality system which is designated to enable 
systematic and organized work, control and monitoring of 
processes and protecting the environment and safety at work.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

KARDAN’S BUSINESS STRATEGY INHERENTLY 
COMPRISES RISKS

Kardan is inherently exposed to a relatively high degree of entre-
preneurial, geopolitical, financial and legal risks in the markets 
in which its subsidiaries operate. The Kardan Group operates 
primarily in emerging and developing countries, such as China, 
which, by nature, have a different risk profile than developed 
markets. Kardan has two outstanding series of Debentures – 
which were issued in 2007 and 2008 by Kardan and are listed 
on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange. The repayments of these 
Debentures put a heavy burden on the financial position of the 
Company, and as of February 2018 the Company is unable to 
meet the repayment obligations. As a result, Kardan has started 
discussions with the debenture holders on concluding a debt 
settlement and repaying its liabilities. Currently, Kardan is in the 
last stages of finalizing the debt settlement. For more details, 
including on the progress of the debt settlement, please refer to 
the Kardan Group’s Business Strategy chapter.

OUR RISK MANAGEMENT APPROACH

Taking risks is an integral part of doing business and can create 
opportunities which in turn can lead to positive results. We there-
fore deem it important to have a proper ‘risk culture’ throughout 
the Kardan Group, entailing that all employees share a joint respon-
sibility in being risk aware and acting accordingly. Likewise, we 
believe that management should lead the way through example.

Risk management is, clearly, an integral part of our daily manage-
ment responsibility. In order to ensure adequate knowledge and 
understanding of our local business environments, and thus to 
minimize risks, our management teams in all the markets in 
which we are active consist of local and international members. 

We have a transparent and structured management informa-
tion system in place, based on periodic management reports 
submitted and presented by the subsidiaries to enable sound 
analysis and decisions. Kardan is listed on the Tel Aviv Stock 
Exchange and its headquarters is in the Netherlands. Our gover-
nance structures are solid and, given our listing, we are obliged 
to publicly report on the quarterly results of the Group. As a 
result, Executive Management discusses strategic, operational 
and budgetary issues with the management and boards of our 
subsidiaries at least on a quarterly basis. 

OUR RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK AND 
PROCESSES

Our risk management framework was originally based on the 
principles of the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 

Treadway Commission (COSO) and has been updated to incor-
porate the updates to the COSO frameworks. 

We consider our risk management framework and approach 
to constitute a link between strategy, policy-making and oper-
ational execution and to be instrumental in obtaining a clear 
view on our business environment and the challenges we face, 
and accordingly to provide us with reasonable assurance that 
we have sufficient and appropriate control measures in place to 
support the Group in achieving its objectives.

The Board holds at least one formal budget meeting per year. 
In that meeting the objectives of Kardan, and consequently 
the strategy and business development of its subsidiaries, are 
discussed at length. Furthermore, this topic is a recurring item 
on the agenda of Board meetings during the year. Given the 
debt situation of Kardan, the Board has emphasized that the 
repayment of its Debentures is Kardan’s prime objective. This has 
accordingly been discussed by the Executive Management with 
the managers of the subsidiaries in order for them to take this 
into consideration in their budgets and strategic plans. Further-
more, the Board and the Executive Management require the 
main subsidiaries to identify business and operational risk factors 
and the relating control measures they have taken and imple-
mented. After approval of the subsidiaries’ budgets and strategic 
plans, the Executive Management prepares the final budget and 
strategic plan for the Board. The main risks identified by each 
subsidiary are disclosed in Kardan’s Israeli Annual Report. 

Kardan has engaged an external advisory firm to provide internal 
audit services. This advisor prepared an internal audit plan which 
is being executed. It is noted that the internal audit work has 
been delayed due to the pandemic.

Besides complying with relevant Securities Law regulations, 
Kardan also complies with Israel’s Securities Law regulations 
relating to the effectiveness of internal control over financial 
reporting and disclosure (Israeli SOX). During 2021 all steps 
have been taken to be able to provide a declaration regarding 
the effectiveness of the internal control as referred to previ-
ously. In 2020, due to the financial position of the subsidiary 
Tahal, Kardan’s management identified a material weakness in 
the internal control components of this subsidiary, involving a 
lack of adequate internal controls on the financial reporting in 
this subsidiary. The weakness was mainly due to a significant 
reduction in the workforce in this subsidiary, which did not allow 
Tahal to perform adequate controls. During 2021, new manage-
ment of the subsidiary took action to repair the weaknesses in 
its internal controls. Although there are still some deficiencies in 
internal controls, these do not add up to a material weakness as 
of December 31, 2021.
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Degree of Effect Risk Appetite

Low Moderate High

Macroeconomic risk factors

Investment in emerging markets X Medium 

Legal and regulatory systems in countries of operation X Medium – low 

Exchange, inflation and interest rate fluctuations X (*) High 

Pandemic (Covid-19) X Medium 

Russia-Ukraine crisis X Low

Cyber threats and attacks X Low 

Industry-specific risk factors

Safety and hygiene X Low 

Fraud and illegal acts X Low 

Project management X (*) Low 

Market concentration X Medium - high

Budget and planning X (*) High 

Competition and customer needs X Medium 

Unique risk factors

Capital availability X (*) Low 

Difficulty in realizing assets X (*) Low 

Dependence on business partners X Low 

Compliance with mandatory financial and other reporting requirements X Low 

(*) Kardan estimates that these risks have a critical impact on the operations thereof.

MAIN RISK CATEGORIES AND MEASURES

Kardan’s risk categories are assessed on the likelihood of a certain 
risk occurring, the impact this risk could have on the objectives and 
results of Kardan and possible additional measures to be taken. 
Based on a combination of factors, including risk control measures 
taken by the Group’s management, the changed circumstances 
in the markets in which we operate and the financial situation of 
Kardan, the main risk categories are determined. The composi-
tion of the main risks may therefore vary year by year. The risk 
of capital availability, and more specifically the risk of not being 
able to timely repay the debt, materialized in February 2018. This 
continues to be a key priority for Executive Management and the 
Board of Kardan. Also, the risks in subsidiaries have been discussed 
during the risk assessment: on the one hand the improved financial 
performance of Galleria Dalian, despite the impact of Covid-19 in 
the past 2 years, which relieves some risk categories such as finan-
cial markets and capital availability of Kardan Land China, and on 
the other hand the deteriorated financial situation of Tahal which 
significantly increased the risk of insufficient capital availability for 
Tahal.

The ten most important risk categories (per type of risk and in 
alphabetical order) that Kardan currently faces are presented 
below, as well as the risk appetite. Also, the impact of each risk 
category is presented. Reference is also made to the financial risks, 
as described in note [32] of the 2021 Statutory Financial State-
ments. We note that there are other risks that were assessed as 
having a less significant potential impact on the business. In addi-
tion, Executive Management puts a focus on compliance and cyber 
security, the latter given the increased vulnerability of data systems 
to cyber threats.

Any significant new or changed risk exposure identified during the 
year is brought to the Executive Board’s attention and the risk profile 
and corresponding control measures are revised as necessary. 

Please note that in our view, the risk categories listed below should 
be seen as general guidance for considering the main risks related 
to our businesses and strategy. We deem all risk categories, as 
discussed during our annual risk assessments, to be relevant for 
our business performance and hence conscientiously monitor all 
of them.
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CORPORATE AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

FOCUSED ON DELIVERING SUSTAINABLE SOLUTION
 
Kardan incorporated Corporate and Social Responsibility (CSR) in 
its Group strategy and its subsidiaries. Kardan focuses on emerging 
markets; economies characterized by a high growth rate.

Economic development in emerging markets frequently comes 
at the expense of the environment. As populations grow, there 
is an increasing need for food, water and energy and this 
frequently leads to significant pollution. Moreover, urbanization 
and industrialization have an exacerbating effect on the envi-
ronment and climate. Kardan focuses on business opportunities 
arising in emerging market economies, by also addressing global 
challenges resulting from the growth rate in these regions. As 
such, Kardan turns environmental and social challenges into 
business opportunities, and Corporate and Social Responsibility 
as an integral part Kardan’s overall strategy and a core value 
of the Group as a whole. CSR is also integrated in our (risk) 
management framework. Kardan is committed to observing 
environmental standards in all countries in which the group 
operates. Kardan strives to minimize the negative impact of its 
business on the environment and attaches importance to durable 
innovative measures which lower total costs and raise flexibility, 
whilst simultaneously relieving the pressure on the environment.

All our activities have incorporated CSR principles and progres-
sively aim to contribute to a more sustainable future. In our real 
estate activities, we aim to combine our tangible high-quality real 
estate assets with ‘intangible values’ in environmental aspects. 
Next to using sustainable materials and incorporating sustain-
ability measures in the design and construction of properties, 
this also includes contributing to a healthy living environment, 
safety, providing facilities for disabled people, and encouraging 
a sustainable way of using properties. The water infrastructure 
activities specifically focus on providing access to potable water.

IMPLEMENTING CSR
 
On a practical level we have introduced a number of guide-
lines. Each operating company implements its own CSR strategy, 
taking into account the effects of its activities on people, planet 
and profit.

BEING A GOOD CORPORATE CITIZEN
 
An important area in pursuing good corporate citizenship is 
living up to the established set of core values. Kardan calls on its 
people to comply with its code of conduct, and to act accord-
ingly in all interactions. In particular in emerging markets, being 
alert on human rights and a zero tolerance policy regarding 

unethical behavior of any kind is essential. All Kardan compa-
nies and Kardan-operated joint ventures must comply with local 
legislation and regulations and must conduct their activities in 
line with Kardan’s core values.

HUMAN RIGHTS
 
Respect for human rights is reflected in our Code of Conduct. 
Certain areas of our supply chain may pose a higher risk to labor 
rights due to their location and the nature of the goods and 
services we procure. In these cases, we use criteria to identify 
potential supply-chain risks and, where we see risk, we ask 
suppliers to undertake due diligence studies before considering 
awarding a contract. Kardan also has a Whistleblower policy 
in place, which is posted on the Company’s website, providing 
employees the opportunity to report on incidents in violation 
of the Code of Conduct to the Group’s senior management or 
to a third party advisor, upon which an investigation should be 
executed.
 
ANTI-BRIBERY
 
Kardan strives to deal with all its customers, suppliers and govern-
ment agencies in a straightforward and aboveboard manner and 
in strict compliance with any legal requirements. Employees are 
prohibited from paying any bribe, kick-back or other similar 
unlawful payment to any public official, or government, or other 
individual, regardless of nationality, to secure any concession, 
contract or favorable treatment for Kardan or the employee. 
No undisclosed or unrecorded fund or asset of Kardan may be 
established. Payments on behalf of Kardan can be made only on 
the basis of adequate supporting documentation, may be made 
only for the purpose described by the documents supporting the 
payment, and must be made in accordance with appropriate 
corporate accounting procedures.

Employees are encouraged to report any violation of any of the 
standards and practices as laid down in the Code of Conduct to 
their direct supervisor or a senior executive. Such report may be 
made anonymously via the Company’s Whistleblower Policy. In 
the past year no such incident has been reported.

LOCAL EMPLOYMENT AND COMMUNITY ACTIVITIES
 
It is also the Group’s strategy to attract and incorporate mainly 
local employees in its various local organizations. With the 
development of our organizations and through establishing new 
project locations, the Group creates positions for mainly local 
professionals, which we deem important as this ameliorates our 
insights into customers’ requirements and market opportunities.
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CONTRIBUTING TO A MORE SUSTAINABLE WORLD
 
We aim to be energy-conscious, both in how we execute our 
business activities and how we operate as a corporate. In our 
real estate activities, we take environmental and social aspects 
into account. Our water infrastructure activities provide essential 
resources including safe drinking water and sanitation.

BEING A GOOD EMPLOYER
 
Kardan aims to attract and retain people, develop human 
capital and grow the talent potential of its employees. Kardan 
is a decentralized organization with majority owned subsidiaries 
that operate fairly autonomously in many different countries. 
Given this international character and our practice to ‘be global 
but to act local’, Kardan pursues a diverse workforce, meaning 
an inclusive approach for people of various genders, ages, and 
cultural backgrounds. The decentralized and broadly diversified 
organization, both in terms of activities as geographies, requires 
tailored personnel policies for its individual businesses. Kardan 

therefore does not have a centralized personnel policy in place, 
Nevertheless, there is one key common denominator throughout 
the Group; we consider our employees as fundamental to our 
success. In order to be able to attract and retain highly compe-
tent personnel, Kardan puts a lot of effort in being an attractive 
employer by providing international career and talent develop-
ment opportunities. 

Kardan does not tolerate discrimination on the basis of race, 
color, religion, ethnic or national origin, political opinion, gender, 
sexual preference, age or disability, as defined in the Code of 
Conduct. This applies to recruitment, hiring, training, promotion, 
and other terms and conditions of employment. No incidents 
have been reported in this respect.

EMPLOYEES IN NUMBERS

At year-end 2021, the number of people employed by Kardan 
Group totaled 499 compared to 618  employees as of December 
31, 2020.
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GOVERNANCE AND COMPLIANCE

INTRODUCTION

Kardan is managed by a one-tier board, which per 31 December 
2021 consisted of one executive Board Member and three 
non-executive Board Members. The Board reports to the General 
Meeting of Shareholders of Kardan. The Board as a whole bears 
the ultimate responsibility for the management of Kardan, whilst 
the responsibility for the day-to-day management is assigned to 
the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of Kardan jointly with Execu-
tive Management, based on a power of attorney provided by the 
Board. During 2021, the Executive Management consisted of the 
CEO and the CFO. The CFO joins the meetings of the Board.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

Companies seated in the Netherlands who have been admitted 
to trading on a regulated market or a comparable system are 
required to comply with the Dutch Corporate Governance Code 
(the ‘Code’), or in case of non-compliance explain the reason 
thereof. The full text of the Code can be found on www.commis-
siecorporategovernance.nl. The Code sets out sound business 
principles of corporate governance and contains certain norma-
tive standards that pertain, among other things, to the relation-
ship between the various corporate bodies of a company.

In the Code, long-term value creation forms the starting point 
for corporate governance. The Code stipulates that the exec-
utive board should focus on long-term value creation and take 
the stakeholder interests that are relevant in this context into 
account. The way in which the Board puts this into practice must 
be explained in the annual board report.

Focusing on long-term value creation is an ongoing process. 
Depending on the dynamics of the market within which the 
company is operating, it may be necessary to make short-term 
adjustments to strategy. Discussions about larger trends, and 
asking disruptive questions, will help keep the company on the 
right track. In some situations, a company may explicitly decide 
to focus on the short term. Kardan’s current strategy is primarily 
focused on the repayment of its Debentures through generating 
cash by selling assets, whilst continuing to also focus on further 
improving the results of the subsidiaries and therefore their value.

Although the Code is focused on a dualistic governance model 
(i.e. two-tier governance structure), it also provides guidelines 
for companies with a one-tier governance system, which are laid 
down in Chapter 5 of the Code.

The Board attributes great value to clear and transparent 
reporting, which it believes to benefit all of its stakeholders, 
and fully endorses the main principle of the Code, namely that 

compliance with the Code is more a matter of tailored gover-
nance than checking boxes. The Board takes a pragmatic 
approach in applying the Code to its one-tier governance system 
and will consequently explain where and why Kardan deviates 
from the Code. When it is deemed necessary, the Board will 
explain how certain principles and provisions of the Code are 
applied to Kardan’s one-tier governance system.

DEVIATIONS FROM THE CODE

Provision 2.2.1 – Appointment management board: Given the 
fact that the operations and the business model of Kardan are by 
nature long term, it is deemed in the best interest of Kardan and 
its stakeholders to include in the Articles the provision that the 
CEO is appointed for a period of five years with the possibility 
of reappointment. The intention of this is to establish a stable, 
long-term commitment of management. Although this term 
constitutes a deviation from the Code, Kardan is of the opinion 
that it contributes to the (long-term) best interests of Kardan and 
its stakeholders and as such adheres to the broader sense and 
interpretation of the Code.

Provision 2.2.6 – Evaluation by the Board: As Kardan is in a tran-
sition period where all current non-executive Board Members 
will soon resign, the Board does not consider it necessary to 
conduct a Board evaluation this year. This is a one-off deviation 
from the Code. Next year, a board evaluation will be conducted 
by the new Board.

Provision 2.3.6 – Tasks of the Chairman: Under the Whis-
tleblower Policy (published on www.kardan.nl) currently in place, 
(suspicions of) material misconduct and irregularities are in first 
instance reported to the compliance officer who reports this to 
the CEO. Under specific circumstances as further specified in 
the Whistleblower Policy, suspicions are reported directly to the 
Chairman of the Board.

2.  THE RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL 
CONTROL SYSTEMS

Taking risks is an integral part of doing business and can create 
opportunities which in turn can lead to positive results. Kardan 
therefore deems it important to have a proper ‘risk culture’ 
throughout the Kardan Group, entailing that all employees share 
a joint responsibility in being risk aware and acting accordingly. 
Likewise, Kardan believes that management should lead the way 
by example.

Kardan considers risk management to be an integral part of the 
daily management responsibility. In order to ensure adequate 
knowledge and understanding of local business environments, 
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and thus to minimize risks, the management teams of all 
Kardan Group companies consist of both local and international 
members. The risk management and internal control system is 
outlined in more detail on page 22 and further of this Annual 
Report.

3. GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders is the forum 
in which the Board accounts for the manner in which it has 
performed its duties. The CEO gives a presentation on busi-
ness developments over the preceding year and shareholders 
are given the opportunity to raise questions on the business 
and current matters. Kardan considers it to be in its interest that 
the shareholders take part in the decision-making process in the 
General Meeting of Shareholders as much as possible.

Each shareholder has the right to attend the General Meeting of 
Shareholders which is held in the Netherlands, either in person or 
represented by proxy, and to address the meeting and to exer-
cise voting rights subject to the provisions of the Articles and 
Dutch law. A shareholder has the aforementioned rights if he/
she is registered as a shareholder on the applicable record date 
as set by the Board and announced in the convocation notice. 
To the extent practically feasible, investors located in Israel can 
participate in a General Meeting of Shareholders by means of a 
conference call or a video conference. Due to the Dutch govern-
ment’s guidelines for preventing the spread of the coronavirus 
(COVID-19), none of the shareholders could attend a General 
Meeting of Shareholders in 2021 in person. The Company has 
facilitated all shareholders by allowing them to attend a General 
Meeting through video conference.

A General Meeting of Shareholders is held at least once a year in 
order to, among other things, discuss the report of the Board, to 
adopt the statutory financial statements, to appoint the external 
auditor, to adopt any proposal concerning dividends, to, if appli-
cable, appoint and reappoint board members, to amend the Arti-
cles and to consider any other matters proposed by the Board 
or the shareholders in accordance with the Articles and Dutch 
law. Pursuant to both Dutch law and the Articles, the General 
Meeting of Shareholders discusses and passes, under a separate 
agenda item, resolutions discharging Board Members from their 
responsibilities for the performance of their respective duties 
in the preceding financial year. This discharge only pertains to 
matters known to Kardan and the shareholders at the time the 
resolution is adopted. The external auditor will attend and be 
entitled to address the General Meeting of Shareholders.

Other General Meetings of Shareholders may be held as often 
as the Board deems necessary. In addition, one or more share-
holder(s) holding at least 10% of Kardan’s issued share capital 
can request the Board, in writing, to convene a General Meeting 

of Shareholders, specifying in detail the items to be discussed. If 
the Board fails to convene and hold a meeting, the requesting 
shareholder(s) may call the meeting, observing Dutch law and 
the Articles.

Shares
Each share carries one vote. As of December 31, 2021 Kardan 
has only one class of shares, being ordinary shares with a nominal 
value of € 0.20 each. Dutch law requires Kardan to set the record 
date for the exercise of the voting rights and the rights relating 
to General Meetings of Shareholders on the twenty-eight day 
prior to the day of the General Meeting of Shareholders. Unless 
provided otherwise by Dutch law or the Articles, there are no 
quorum requirements. At present, Kardan does not facilitate 
electronic voting.

As a general rule, resolutions are adopted by an absolute majority 
of the votes cast. Dutch law and the Articles can stipulate that 
certain resolutions are adopted by a qualified or special majority 
of the votes cast.

Furthermore, the Articles and Dutch law require that certain 
important resolutions made by the Board are subject to the prior 
approval of the General Meeting of Shareholders, for example 
the entering into Extraordinary Transactions, as defined in the 
Articles.

Proposed resolutions
One or more shareholder(s) representing at least 3% of Kardan’s 
issued share capital has/have the right to request the Board to 
place items on the agenda of a General Meeting of Shareholders 
provided such request is duly motivated and explained or accom-
panied by a draft resolution. The Board shall then add the item 
to the meeting’s agenda, provided that the request is received by 
the Board in writing no later than on the sixtieth day before the 
day of the General Meeting of Shareholders.

Notice of a General Meeting of Shareholders shall be given ulti-
mately on the forty-second day prior to the day of the General 
Meeting of Shareholders.

Changes to rights
Rights of shareholders may change pursuant to an amendment 
of the Articles, a statutory merger or demerger or dissolution of 
the Company. A resolution of the General Meeting of Share-
holders is required to effect these changes.

As a result of the Company’s listing on TASE, the Fourth 
Addendum to the Israeli Securities Law applies to the Company. 
A proposal to amend the Articles to comply with the Fourth 
Addendum, to the extent permitted by Dutch law, was adopted 
by the Shareholders at the Extraordinary General Meeting of 
Shareholders held on 3 February 2022. These new Articles will 
enter into force subject to the completion of the Debt Settlement 
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and on the date of its completion, without prejudicing other 
amending resolutions in relation to the Debt Settlement. 

Annual General Meeting 2021
The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders was held on 31 
May 2021 by video conference. The meeting topics included 
amongst others the Annual Report 2020, the adoption of the 
financial statements 2020 and the reappointment of Mr. Van den 
Bos as vice-chairman and non-executive member of the Board. 

An Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders took place on 
13 January 2021. The meeting topics included amongst others 
the agreement with the Debenture Holders, certain amendments 
to the Articles to facilitate the Debt Settlement and compliance 
with Israeli law, the appointment of Mr. Elias as executive director 
of the Board and the determination of his remuneration.

4. BOARD

Board and CEO
As mentioned, Kardan is managed by a one-tier Board consisting, 
at the date of this Annual Report, three non-executive Board 
Members and one executive Board Member. The Board reports 
to the General Meeting of Shareholders of Kardan.

The Board Members have a shared responsibility for Kardan’s 
general course of affairs and are collectively responsible for: a) 
Kardan’s strategy and objectives; b) Kardan’s financial status; c) 
Kardan’s organizational structure; d) the publication of prospec-
tuses or shelf prospectuses by Kardan; e) the financial and peri-
odic reports issued by Kardan; f) the fairness and reasonableness 
of the highest remunerated employees within the Kardan Group; 
and g) issuance of debenture series and/or other securities.

The responsibility for the day-to-day management is assigned to 
the CEO based on a power of attorney provided by the Board. 
The CEO is authorized to represent Kardan, jointly with a member 
of the Executive Management, but needs the Board’s prior 
approval with respect to material transactions such as, but not 
limited to acquiring or alienating assets with a value exceeding 
€ 10,000,000 or providing guarantees to parties outside the 
Kardan Group for an amount exceeding € 10,000,000. These 
restrictions are included in the Articles and in the Board Regula-
tions. Moreover, the CEO will ensure that he provides the Board 
Members with all information required to carry out their duties 
in a timely and well-founded manner.

In any case, certain duties remain the exclusive domain of the 
non-executive Board Members, such as supervising the CEO 
and nominating Board Members for appointment by the General 
Meeting of Shareholders.

Although management and supervisory duties are allocated 
between executive and non-executive Board Members, the 

principle of collective responsibility applies to the entire Board, 
executive and non-executive Board Members alike.

The Board supervises the performance of the CEO’s duties by 
assessing, for example: a) the achievement of Kardan’s objec-
tives; b) the implementation of the corporate strategy; c) the 
risks inherent in the business activities and the design and effec-
tiveness of the internal risk management and control systems; 
d) the financial reporting process; e) compliance with legislation 
and regulations; f) close involvement in the case of a takeover 
bid; and g) the company/shareholder relationship.

The Board acts in accordance with the Articles and Board 
Regulations, both published on Kardan’s website. The Board 
is supported by the Company Secretary who ensures that the 
correct procedures are followed and that the Board acts in accor-
dance with its statutory obligations and its obligations under the 
Articles and the Code.

Chairman
The Chairman of the Board is an independent, non-executive 
Board Member. The Chairman sets the agenda, chairs the Board 
meetings, and monitors the proper composition and functioning 
of the Board, the Audit Committee and the Remuneration, 
Appointment and Selection (RAS) Committee. Furthermore, 
the Chairman is responsible for ensuring that the members of 
the Board receive, in a timely manner, all information from the 
CEO and other senior members of the management team, which 
is required for the proper performance of their duties. He also 
oversees the decision-making process itself and actively monitors 
any potential conflict of interest when matters are discussed, and 
decisions need to be taken by the Board. In the absence of the 
Chairman, the Vice-Chairman shall replace him.

The Chairman meets, at least once a year, individually with each 
non-executive director to ensure that any issues of interest or 
concern to either party in relation to the Board and its func-
tioning are fully aired.

Appointment and composition of the Board
Following a recommendation of the RAS Committee, the Board 
has the right to make nominations for Board candidates that 
are subsequently put forward for appointment by the General 
Meeting of Shareholders. Each non-executive Board Member is 
appointed for a period of four years, ending no later than at the 
end of the General Meeting of Shareholders held in the fourth 
year after the year of appointment. Each non-executive Board 
Member may be reappointed for a new term of office. The 
executive Board Member (CEO) is appointed for a period of five 
years, ending no later than at the end of the General Meeting of 
Shareholders held in the fifth year after the year of appointment.

The Board itself determines its size, provided that the Board must 
comprise at least three members and a maximum of fifteen, of 
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which at least one Board member has to be appointed as exec-
utive Board Member. Each Board Member must be capable of 
assessing the broad outline of Kardan’s overall policy and must 
have the specific expertise required for the fulfillment of the 
duties assigned to the role designated to him/her in the Board 
profile. In addition, a Board Member must have sufficient time to 
allocate to the duties required from him/her.

The Board can request its members to retire early in the event of 
inadequate performance or a structural incompatibility of inter-
ests. It is considered desirable for the Board to represent, to the 
extent possible, a wide range of expertise so that it has relevant 
knowledge of, and experience in, business management, finan-
cial administration, legal and accounting for listed companies.

The Board Members comply with the rules under Dutch corpo-
rate law pertaining to the limitation of the number of board 
positions in Dutch large companies. Pursuant to Kardan’s insider 
trading policy, the Board Members cannot trade in Kardan’s 
securities during closed periods prior to the publication of annual 
or periodic results.

Composition, Mutations and Reappointment schedule
During 2021 there were several changes to the composition 
of the Board. Mr. Van den Bos has been re-elected during the 
Annual General Meeting 2021 for a period of one year, ending 
at the end of the Annual General Meeting 2022, pending the 
appointment of new members of the Board upon nomination of 
the Debenture Holders. Moreover, Mr. Elias has been appointed 
as an executive member of the Board during the Extraordinary 
General Meeting 2021 for a period of five years, ending at the 
end of the Annual General Meeting 2024. Furthermore, the term 
of former Board Members Mr. Hasson, Mr. Rechter, Mr. Grun-
feld and Ms. Tall has not been extended. The terms of office of 
all remaining non-executive Board Members, Mr. Sheldon, Mr. 
Van den Bos and Mr. Houterman expire at the AGM 2022. For 
this reason, several new non-executive Board Members will be 
appointed in 2022.

Peter Sheldon (1941, male) – Chairman
Chairman of the Board, non-executive Board Member, member 
of the Audit Committee and member of the RAS Committee
Nationality: British and Israeli
Mr. Sheldon started his career as a chartered accountant in 
London, UK, in 1958 and since 1971, when he left professional 
practice, has built a very successful international career in senior, 
executive and non-executive positions in a wide range of inter-
national listed and private companies, including Hambros Bank 
plc. Mr. Sheldon served as non-executive chairman of BATM 
Advanced Communications Ltd., an Israeli technology company 
listed on the London and Tel Aviv Stock Exchanges for 15 years 
until December 31, 2014. As a result of his varied professional 
and commercial career, Mr. Sheldon has acquired total famil-
iarity with the capital markets, their institutions and all aspects of 
corporate governance.

Other current positions: None
Employment during the last 5 years: None
Education: Chartered Accountant (Fellow of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales)
Date of first appointment: 31 May 2012
End of current term: AGM 2022

Cor van den Bos (1952, male) – Vice-Chairman
Vice-Chairman of the Board, non-executive Board Member and 
chairman of the Audit Committee
Nationality: Dutch
Mr. Van den Bos has a master’s degree in business economics and 
in auditing/accountancy from Erasmus University Rotterdam. 
He started his extensive career at AEGON, a Dutch insurance 
company, where he ultimately served on the executive board 
of AEGON Netherlands N.V. In this capacity he was responsible 
for, among other things, general insurance business lines, Life 
Insurance Bank, ICT, and finance. Mr. Van den Bos consecutively 
served as a member of the executive boards of Athlon Groep 
N.V., a Dutch listed leasing company and SNS Reaal N.V., a bank 
and insurance company, which became listed during his tenure. 
Other positions: Senior Advisor at ELG Holding, Ltd. London
Employment during the last 5 years: Vice Chairman of the Super-
visory Board of ASR Nederland N.V., Chairman of the Audit and 
Risk Committee of ASR Nederland NV, Chairman of the Super-
visory Board of CED Holding N.V. and Chairman of Supervisory 
Board the Noordwijkse Woningstichting
Education: master’s degree in business economics and in auditing/
accountancy from Erasmus University Rotterdam
Date of first appointment: 6 February 2013
End of current term: AGM 2022

Ferry Houterman (1949, male)
Non-executive Board Member and chairman of the RAS Committee
Nationality: Dutch
Mr. Houterman holds a teaching degree business administration 
and the NIMA marketing certificates A and B. Mr. Houterman 
has extensive experience as executive and non-executive director 
of various companies, such as Rabobank Amsterdam and Eden 
Hotel Group. Mr. Houterman is the current owner of HMC B.V., 
a consultancy firm.
Other positions: Supervisory Board member of Tahal Group 
International B.V. and several personal counsel and coaching 
relations.
Employment during the last 5 years: Supervisory Boards of Rabo-
bank Amsterdam, Eden Hotel Group, RAI Holding, Jongeren 
Cultuurfonds Amsterdam, PC Uitvaart, BNNVARA, CNV 
Connectief. 
Education: teaching degree business administration and the 
NIMA marketing certificates A and B
Date of first appointment: 30 May 2018
End of current term: AGM 2022
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conclusions after a structured process is conducted on how 
these risks are being – or should be – managed. As part of 
risk management, the Board discusses the main risk categories 
of the Company, mainly in relation to capital availability 
and foreign exchange impact and topics such as project 
management and planning within the Kardan Group as well as 
its internal control systems. The Board was periodically updated 
by the chairman respectively chairwoman of both the Audit 
Committee and the RAS Committee on the discussions that 
took place in the meetings of their respective committees. If 
so required, the Board was asked to resolve matters that were 
brought to the Board by the respective committees.

Board evaluation 
As part of a self-assessment process, Board Members have 
submitted an extensive questionnaire to the RAS Committee 
relating to the performance during 2020. The outcome of the 
Board evaluation shows that the Board Members acknowledge 
the increasing complexity of the Company’s situation and the 
impact of the current Covid pandemic. Notwithstanding the 
above the Board remains positive about the functioning of 
the Board. Board Members are satisfied with the Information 
provided by Executive Management, feel free to openly discuss 
topics and find Management accessible for discussions. More-
over, Executive Management provides the Board members 
with a good understanding of the relevant businesses of the 
Company and the developments to follow. The Board is of the 
opinion that as a result it can provide sufficient supervision of 
the risks inherent to the Company’s business. Board Members 
believe that there is room for further improvement in the 
interaction between the CEO and Board Members, the policies 
and processes for identification, monitoring and management 
of risks and the effective use of Board Committees. The RAS 
Committee recommends having an additional Q&A session, 
when the Covid situation returns to normal, to discuss, review 
and clarify the Board’s functioning. 

 
Board Committees 
The Board has established an Audit Committee and a RAS 
Committee, comprising only non-executive independent 
Board Members, without in any way derogating from the 
primary responsibilities of the Board as a whole. The respective 
chairman and chairwoman of these committees report on their 
activities periodically to the entire Board. Both committees are 
subject to specific regulations, which form part of the Board 
Regulations.

Audit Committee 
The members of the Audit Committee all possess extensive 
financial knowledge. The Audit Committee in 2020 consisted of 
Mr. Van den Bos (Chairman) and Mr. Sheldon.

The Audit Committee met six times during 2020 and exten-
sively discussed the periodic and annual financial statements 
in the presence of Kardan’s CEO, CFO and external auditor. 
Accounting issues and main assumptions, judgments and valua-
tions were discussed, and the external auditor reported his find-

Guy Elias (1972, male) – Executive Board Member as of 13 
January 2021 / CEO as of 1 October 2020
Executive Board Member and CEO
Nationality: Israeli
Mr. Elias has over 20 years of international experience in real estate 
and infrastructure. In his last position he served as the CEO of the 
publicly traded company on the Tel Aviv stock exchange, Aspen 
Group, which specialized on income yielding assets in Europe 
and Israel with a total balance sheet of NIS 3.1 billion. He started 
his career in managerial positions in the real estate field, with a 
marketing focus and asset management at the Fishman Group in 
Israel after which he held various management positions at Amot 
Investments, part of the Alony Hetz Group, until 2009. In 2011, 
he was asked to join GTC Real Estate Holding B.V. a subsidiary of 
Kardan NV as Vice President Business Development, and he also 
served as a Supervisory Board Member of GTC SA, the Central 
and Eastern European Real Estate Company. In 2014 he joined the 
executive management of Kardan NV as Vice President Business 
Development and later on as Deputy Chief Executive Officer. In 
October 2020 Mr. Elias was appointed as CEO of Kardan N.V. 
A proposal to appoint Mr. Elias as Executive Board Member was 
approved at the EGM on 13 January 2021.
Other positions: Chairman of the Board of Kardan Land China 
and of the Supervisory Board of Tahal Group International, 
director in Aviv Arlon Ltd., CLT Lamination Israel Ltd., ELIGUY 
Holdings Ltd. (100% owned by Mr. Elias).
Employment during the last 5 years: CEO of Aspen Group
Education: BA in business administration as well as an LLB with a 
major in land and real estate entrepreneurship from the Interdis-
ciplinary Center Herzliya (Israel). In addition, an MBA graduation 
from the Ecole Supérieure de Gestion (France).
Date of first appointment: 13 January 2021 (CEO as of 1 October 
2020)
End of current term: AGM 2024

Board Meetings
The Board meets at least once every quarter, principally at Kardan’s 
headquarters in Amsterdam or, when necessary, by conference 
call. In 2021, the Board met nine times. Almost all Board Members 
attended all Board meetings: Mr. Houterman, Mrs. Tall and Mr. 
Grunfeld were not present at the meeting to approve the Financial 
Statements for Q1 2021 and Mr. van den Bos was not present at the 
meeting to approve the Financial Statements for Q3 2021. Resolu-
tions of the Board are generally adopted by an absolute majority 
of the votes cast as defined in the Articles, except for extraordi-
nary transactions, in which case resolutions made by the Board are 
adopted by a special Board majority. Each Board Member has one 
vote, except in the event of a conflict of interest, in which case 
the respective Board Member can neither participate in the relevant 
discussions nor vote on the subject matter. When deemed neces-
sary, the Board consulted outside experts for advice and invited 
them to attend Board meetings.

Important topics during 2021 were obviously the Company’s ability 
to service its debts, particularly in light of the Company’s repayment 

obligations towards its debenture holders and the financial position 
of the company. Also, the financial situation of Tahal, its internal 
management, its relationship with its financing banks, the sale 
process and the discussions with investors on an investment trans-
action relating to Tahal were frequently discussed. Moreover, the 
extension and refinancing of the Hua Rong loan was an important 
issue for KLC and therefore frequently discussed during the Board 
Meetings. Furthermore, financial forecasts, results, the nega-
tive equity position and cash flow projections were topics on the 
agenda. The CEO updated the Board frequently on the discussions 
and negotiations to reach a settlement with the debenture holders. 
Furthermore, the CEO provided detailed business updates to the 
Board through Board meetings and via e-mail, addressing major 
developments and events in all segments of the Kardan Group.

Once every year, the Board is given a presentation on the main risks 
for the Kardan Group and the Executive Management’s conclu-
sions after a structured process is conducted on how these risks are 
being – or should be – managed. As part of risk management, the 
Board discusses the main risk categories of the Company, mainly 
in relation to capital availability and foreign exchange impact and 
topics such as project management and planning within the Kardan 
Group as well as its internal control systems. The Board was peri-
odically updated by the chairman respectively chairwoman of both 
the Audit Committee and the RAS Committee on the discussions 
that took place in the meetings of their respective committees. 
If so required, the Board was asked to resolve matters that were 
brought to the Board by the respective committees.

Board evaluation
As indicated on page 33 of this Annual Report, the composi-
tion of the Board will change significantly in 2022, as all current 
non-executive Board Members will resign in 2022 and new 
non-executive Board Members will be appointed. Due to this 
transition period, the Board deems it unnecessary to carry out a 
self-assessment. The new Board will take up its duties shortly and 
will perform its tasks at their own discretion. Subsequently, the 
new Chair of the Board will ensure that an evaluation takes place 
in the coming year in which the composition and functioning of 
the one-tier Board, its committees and the performance of its 
individual members are evaluated. 

Board Committees
The Board has established an Audit Committee and a RAS 
Committee, comprising only non-executive independent Board 
Members, without in any way derogating from the primary 
responsibilities of the Board as a whole. The respective chairman 
and chairwoman of these committees report on their activities 
periodically to the entire Board. Both committees are subject to 
specific regulations, which form part of the Board Regulations.

Audit Committee
The members of the Audit Committee all possess extensive finan-
cial knowledge. The Audit Committee in 2021 consisted of Mr. 
Van den Bos (Chairman) and Mr. Sheldon.
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The Audit Committee met six times during 2021 and extensively 
discussed the periodic and annual financial statements in the pres-
ence of Kardan’s CEO, CFO and external auditor. Accounting 
issues and main assumptions, judgments and valuations were 
discussed, and the external auditor reported his findings. The 
Audit Committee specifically discussed the Company’s going-con-
cern assumption, also in light of its inability to service its obliga-
tions towards its debenture holders, the financial position of Tahal, 
the financial impact of currency fluctuations on the Company’s 
equity, its negative equity and the possibilities of hedging foreign 
exchange risks, cash flow forecasts of Kardan, the valuation of 
real estate properties and inventory in China and bad debt provi-
sions. Furthermore, the Audit Committee reviewed and discussed 
the internal control systems, and compliance and legal updates.

After reviewing the performance of IUS Statutory Audits Coöper-
atie U.A. as Kardan’s external auditor for the financial year 2020, 
the Audit Committee recommended to the Board to propose 
the re-appointment of IUS Statutory Audits Coöperatie U.A. 
as Kardan’s external auditor for the financial year 2021, which 
proposal was adopted at the AGM 2021. In addition, the Audit 
Committee discussed internal audits and annual compliance and 
integrity updates, from both the Dutch and the Israeli perspec-
tives, pursuant to which internal procedures have been imple-
mented and/or updated.

In the course of 2021, the chairman of the Audit Committee had 
frequent meetings with Kardan’s financial executives and the 
external auditors in preparation of the Audit Committee meetings. 
Before every quarterly Board meeting the chairman of the Audit 
Committee met with the external auditors without the Executive 
Management being present. 

Remuneration, Appointment and Selection Committee
The RAS Committee consisted of Mrs. Tall (Chairwoman) and Mr. 
Sheldon until the AGM 2021 and of Mr. Houterman (Chairman) 
and Mr. Sheldon thereafter.

The RAS Committee met five times during 2021 and discussed 
the appointment of Mr. Elias as Executive Board member and the 
performance of Mr. Elias as Executive Board member in 2021. 
Subsequently, the RAS Committee discussed the management 
agreement including the fixed and variable remuneration for the 
Executive Board Member in 2021 (Mr. Elias). The outcome of the 
discussions is outlined in more detail in the remuneration report 
on page 33. 

Internal regulations and conflicts of interest of Board Members
Kardan’s Articles include extensive provisions on conflicts of 
interest between Kardan and Holders of Control (as defined 
in the Articles), which are also applicable if these Holders of 
Control hold a position on the Board (for a further description 
of these provisions, see the section ‘Related Party Transactions’ 
in this chapter). In addition, Kardan endorses the principles and 
provisions of the Code that address conflicts of interest between 

Kardan and one or more Board Members. To this effect, provi-
sions have been included in the Board Regulations covering best 
practice provisions 2.7.1. through 2.7.6 of the Code, which were 
adhered to in light of the conflicts of interest described hereafter. 
At the beginning of each Board meeting the Chairman verifies 
whether any Board Member has a (potential) conflict of interest 
with respect to any item on the agenda.

Remuneration and shareholdings of Board Members
The shareholders approved a remuneration policy for the Board 
at the AGM 2015 according to which non-executive Board 
Members receive a fixed remuneration only. At the AGM 2016, 
a specific remuneration package was adopted for the executive 
Board Member. At the EGM held in October 2019, a proposal for 
the variable remuneration for the executive Board Member was 
adopted. At the AGM 2020, small adjustments to the remunera-
tion policy were adopted to comply with the new Dutch legisla-
tion on the revised Shareholders Rights Directive.

The remuneration of the non-executive Board Members does 
not depend on the performance of Kardan’s shares, and rights 
to shares are not granted to the Board Members as remunera-
tion. Kardan has not granted personal loans, guarantees or the 
like to Board Members, all of which are prohibited by the Board 
Regulations unless in the normal course of business and with prior 
approval granted by the Board.

Detailed information on the remuneration of all Board Members 
can be found in the Remuneration Report on page 33 of this 
Annual Report.

Executive Management
Kardan has opted for the installation of an Executive Manage-
ment team, consisting of the CEO, Mr. Elias, and the CFO, Mrs. 
Oz-Gabber. The Executive Management is entrusted with the 
day-to-day management of the Company. As member of the 
Executive Management team, the CFO attends all Board meetings 
as well as the meetings of the Audit Committee and provides the 
Board, if so requested by the Board all such information to allow 
the Board to properly perform its duties.

Diversity policy for the Board
Kardan aims to attract and retain people, develop human capital 
and grow the talent potential for all its employees, including the 
Board. Kardan pursues a diverse workforce, meaning an inclu-
sive approach for people of various genders, ages and cultural 
background throughout its entire organization. The Board regu-
lations stipulate that the Board should have broad representation 
with respect to expertise in financial and accounting areas and 
specific know-how in various aspects of the Company’s business. 
The Board has a diverse composition in terms of knowledge and 
expertise, gender, age and nationality. The Board will continue to 
strive for a diverse composition in the process of appointing and 
reappointment. Kardan does not comply with the article, which 
requires the Board to be composed in a balanced way, meaning 
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that at least 30% of the seats in the Board are to be occupied 
by women and at least 30% by men. Kardan strives to arrive at 
a balanced apportionment of the seats in the Board with new 
appointments, to the extent that suitable candidates are available.

5. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Articles 7, 8 and 9 of the Articles of Kardan contain rules on 
the corporate resolution process in the case of dealings between 
Kardan and one or more Holders of Control, as defined in the 
Articles (Special Approval Procedure). Holders of Control are 
deemed to be any Person (as defined in the Articles) holding 
25% or more of the voting rights in the General Meeting of 
Shareholders, if there is no other Person holding more than 50% 
of the voting rights. Certain transactions, as described in Kardan’s 
Articles, between Kardan and a Holder of Control require special 
approval, as follows: (i) Board approval with an absolute majority 
of votes, including the affirmative vote of the majority of the 
independent Board Members (as defined in the Articles) and (ii) 
approval of the General Meeting of Shareholders with an abso-
lute majority of votes, provided that either (a) such a majority 
includes the affirmative votes of at least half of all the votes of 
the shareholders who are present at the meeting and who do 
not have a personal interest (as defined in the Articles), or (b) the 
opposition votes of those shareholders who are present at the 
meeting and who do not have a Personal Interest, do not consti-
tute more than 2% of the total number of votes that can be cast 
in a General Meeting of Shareholders. In 2021 there were no 
new related party transactions.

6. INVESTOR RELATIONS

Kardan acknowledges the importance of being transparent 
towards its shareholders and other investors. As such, manage-
ment engages, from time to time, in meetings with investors 
and shareholders. Shareholders are given the opportunity to ask 
questions at the General Meetings of Shareholders and, in addi-
tion, can contact the Investor Relations office of Kardan during 
the course of the year. All is done in accordance with Kardan’s 
Investor Relations Policy, as published on Kardan’s website.

7. COMPLIANCE

Kardan was delisted from Euronext Amsterdam on 31 August 
2020 after which it remains listed on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange. 
Kardan is subject to laws and regulations in Israel - the country 
of listing - and subject to laws and regulations in the Nether-
lands – the county of its corporate seat. Moreover, as an interna-
tionally operating company, Kardan must comply with laws and 
regulations in every country in which it conducts its business. 
Compliance with applicable laws and regulations is embedded 
in Kardan’s organization, amongst others by means of internal 
rules and procedures that have been put into place to safeguard 
compliance. In light thereof, Kardan has a Whistleblower Policy 
in place, enabling employees to adequately and safely report 

any suspicions they may have of irregularities of a general, oper-
ational or financial nature. In addition, Kardan also adopted a 
Code of Conduct designed to provide its employees with guide-
lines for their behavior and activities to comply with laws, regu-
lations and ethical standards that govern Kardan’s businesses. 
In order to safeguard a level playing field for investors, Kardan 
furthermore adopted an Insider Trading Policy and an Investor 
Relations Policy. All of the aforementioned policies are regularly 
updated and can be found on Kardan’s website under ‘Gover-
nance Policies and Documents’.

Due to its listing on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange, Kardan is 
required to comply with Israeli Securities Regulations and listing 
standards of the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange (TASE), as available on 
www.tase.co.il/eng/pages/homepage.aspx. Supervision of the 
Israeli Securities Regulations is carried out by the Israeli Secu-
rities Authority (ISA). Any report required in Israel is conducted 
through the Electronic Disclosure System (MAGNA). Through 
the MAGNA system, the reports are sent to ISA and TASE, and 
can be reviewed online by any investor.

Reporting requirements in the Netherlands and Israel partly 
overlap and include (but are not limited to) the following:

(i) any Interested Party and any senior office holder (as defined 
in the Articles) of Kardan is required to report to Kardan 
about any change in their holdings in Kardan’s shares, and 
Kardan has to report this via the MAGNA system (Israel);

(ii) Kardan has to make public material events which are not in 
the ordinary course of business or which can materially affect 
Kardan or which can be considered as price-sensitive infor-
mation;

(iii) Kardan has to publish an Immediate Report about convening 
a General Meeting of Shareholders and the resolutions 
adopted in such meeting (Israel);

(iv) Kardan is required to publish its periodic reports, which 
include quarterly and annual financial statements and addi-
tional information. The additional information may differ 
between the Dutch and Israeli reporting requirements, 
in timing or in content. Both Dutch and Israeli reports are 
published on the Company’s website; and

(v) Kardan is required to publish reports with respect to any 
change in its issued share capital including, inter alia, distri-
bution of dividends (in cash or in kind), issuance of any 
new securities (including shares, options, debentures, etc.), 
conversion of any securities, the lapse of options on shares, 
purchase plans (buy back) and creation of treasury shares.

Given the fact that Kardan is not incorporated under Israeli law, it 
is not subject to Israeli Companies Law. However, where deemed 
appropriate or stipulated in the Fourth Addendum of the Israeli 
Securities Law, Kardan has adopted certain principles from Israeli 
Companies Law such as, but not limited to, the Special Approval 
Procedure for Extraordinary Transactions which are implemented 
in Kardan’s Articles.
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REMUNERATION REPORT

The Remuneration, Appointment and Selection Committee 
(RAS Committee) makes, among others, proposals to the Board 
regarding the fixed and variable remuneration (as applicable) of 
the individual Board Members. In accordance with the Articles, 
the final determination of the Board Members’ remuneration 
(amount and composition) lies with the Company’s General 
Meeting of Shareholders. This Remuneration Report will be put 
up for advisory vote in the Annual General Meeting.

REMUNERATION POLICY FOR THE NON-EXECUTIVE 
BOARD MEMBERS

The remuneration of the non-executive Board Members is based 
on the remuneration policy as adopted at the AGM of May 28, 
2015: each non-executive Board Member receives a basic fee of 
€ 26,000 per year; the Chairman of the Board receives a total fee 
of € 58,000 per year, including all committee fees; a committee 
chairman receives an additional fee of € 10,000 and committee 
members receive an additional € 8,000. The remuneration for 
non-executive Board Members consists of fixed remuneration only. 

Pursuant to new legislation based on the revised Shareholders 
Rights Directive (SRD II) of the European Parliament and of the 
European Council (2017/828/EU), the Annual General Meeting 
of Shareholders of Kardan has to adopt the remuneration policy 
of Kardan at least every four years. In 2020, the Board has 
reviewed the remuneration policy of Kardan and has adopted 
a revised remuneration policy for the financial year 2020 up to 
and including the financial year 2024. This revised remuneration 
policy was approved by the Shareholders at the AGM held on 30 
June 2020. Minor, non-substantive changes were made to the 
remuneration policy. A breakdown of the total remuneration as 
paid in 2021 is presented in the table on the right.

Following the adoption of the new Articles as described on 
page 27 of this Report, the current remuneration policy needs 
to be revised to comply with Israeli applicable law. The RAS 
Committee shall be responsible for preparing the adjustments 
and shall present its proposal to the Board and the Shareholders. 

CHANGES IN BOARD POSITIONS DURING 2021

There were several changes in the Board composition during 
2021: Mr. Van den Bos has been re-elected during the Annual 
General Meeting 2021 for a period of one year, ending at the 
end of the Annual General Meeting 2022. Moreover, Mr. Elias 
has been appointed as CEO and executive member of the Board 
during the Extraordinary General Meeting 2021 for a period of 
five years, ending at the end of the Annual General Meeting 
2024. Furthermore, the terms of office of former Board Members 
Mr. Hasson, Mr. Rechter, Mr. Grunfeld and Ms. Tall have not 
been extended.

CHANGES IN COMMITTEE POSITIONS DURING 2021

During 2021 there was one change in Committee positions: 
The RAS Committee consisted of Mrs. Tall (Chairwoman) 
and Mr. Sheldon until the AGM 2021 and of Mr. Houterman 
(Chairman) and Mr. Sheldon thereafter.

REMUNERATION OF THE NON-EXECUTIVE BOARD 
MEMBERS IN 2021

Non-executive Board Member 1  Gross  
Remuneration 

in 2021 in €

Mr. P. Sheldon Chairman of the Board; member 
of the Audit Committee and of 
the RAS Committee 58,000

Mr. C. van den Bos Vice-Chairman of the Board 
and Chairman of the Audit 
Committee 36,000

Mr. F. Houterman Chairman of the RAS Com-
mittee 31,833

Mr. Y. Grunfeld 1 10,833
Mr. E. Rechter 1 10,833
Mrs. C. Tall Chairwoman of the RAS 

Committee
15,000

1  Pursuant to the Articles, all Board Members receive indemnification for losses, 
damages and costs which they may incur as a result of a claim or proceedings 
related to the fulfillment of their duties as Board Members (willful misconduct 
and gross negligence excluded). The Company accordingly has entered into 
indemnity agreements with the Board Members and certain members of the 
Executive Management. It is noted that any agreement with a Board Member 
who is also Holder of Control is only effective upon approval of the General 
Meeting of Shareholders. No indemnification was granted in 2021.

REMUNERATION OF THE CEO IN 2021

The remuneration of Mr. Elias, CEO of Kardan, was approved 
by the shareholders during the EGM of 2021. The remuneration 
package entails an annual fixed remuneration of NIS 1,027,000 
(approximately € 250,000) per year paid in 12 equal monthly 
payments, including allowances, and a variable remuneration 
consisting of a discretionary bonus and a severance payment as 
further detailed below.

FIXED REMUNERATION

Mr. Elias is entitled to receive a fixed remuneration of NIS 
1,027,000 linked to the Israeli CPI, invoiced monthly, plus 
reasonable expenses. 
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VARIABLE REMUNERATION – SHORT TERM

In 2021, the variable remuneration was still under discussion by 
the RAS Committee. The formulation of the bonus principles has 
been approved by the Debenture Holders Meeting on December 
7, 2021 and by the Shareholders during the EGM of 2022. The 
resolution will take effect subject to the completion of the Debt 
Settlement on its completion date. According to bonus principles, 
the CEO shall be entitled to a bonus by reducing administrative 
expenses, for extraction of funds from the Lucky Hope Projects, 
the Sale of the Dalian Project and for the refinancing of the 
Chinese loan (in KLC). The amount is calculated on the basis 
of a monthly consideration of NIS 85,583.33 per month (linked 
to the Israeli CPI, from time to time). The final amount shall 
be determined by the Company’s Board of Directors at its sole 
discretion. Upon completion of the Debt Settlement the RAS 
Committee will assess the bonus for 2021 and will present its 
recommendation to the Board. 

SEVERANCE PAYMENT

The agreement between Kardan and Mr. Elias can be terminated 
by either party. Each party has to give a 4 months’ notice (the 
‘Notice Period’) of an intention to terminate the agreement. If 
Mr. Elias gives such notice, at any time, he will only be entitled 
to receive payment for the period in which he rendered services 
to the Company during the Notice Period. Should the Board 
decide that Mr. Elias’ services are not required during the entire 
Notice Period, he would still be entitled to receive the full four 
months’ payment. If the Company initiates the termination, Mr. 
Elias will be entitled to receive a full payment during the Notice 
Period, even if he was requested not to render any services to 
the Company during the Notice Period. No severance payment 
will be due in the event that the Company terminates Mr. Elias’ 
engagement for cause.

TOTAL REMUNERATION

A breakdown of the total costs of the remuneration for the CEO 

in 2021 is presented in the following table:

Element Remuneration in 2021

Mr. Elias

Base remuneration € 280,000
Reimbursement of expenses € 11,000
Annual Bonus * € 230,000 

Total € 521,000

*  Subject to completion of the Debt Settlement and approval of the relevant  
organizational bodies.

PAY-RATIO

In line with the revised Dutch Corporate Governance Code, 
the internal ratio of the remuneration of directors of the 

Company and that of a representative reference group needs 
to be determined. For this ratio, Kardan deems most relevant 
the total remuneration of the executive Board member (the Total 
Remuneration as specified in the table above) compared to the 
total average remuneration of all the employees of Kardan in 
the Netherlands. For the CEO a ratio of 2.6 (on an annual basis) 
applies (2020: 2.5).

EMPLOYEE OPTIONS

In 2021 no options to acquire shares in Kardan were granted. 
There are no outstanding options granted to senior employees 
as of December 31, 2021. 

REMUNERATION 2022

The remuneration package for Mr. G. Elias entails a yearly 
fixed remuneration and a variable remuneration. The fixed 
remuneration of Mr. Elias consists of a monthly payment for his 
management services (‘Base Remuneration’). The amount of the 
Base Remuneration remains unchanged. The total annual cost 
for the Base Remuneration for 2022 is therefore estimated at € 
280,000 (base remuneration as approved in the EGM dated 13 
January 2021 of NIS 1,027,000 plus indexation).

The bonus principles for the variable remuneration apply until 
December 31, 2023. Therefore, the monthly consideration for 
the bonus principles of NIS 85,583.33 plus indexation per month 
remains unchanged. The Board shall determine the final amount 
at its sole discretion. The CEO’s remuneration principles for 2024, 
namely for the period from January 1, 2024 until December 31, 
2024, shall be discussed between the Trustee and the Debenture 
Holders (on the above date Hermetic Trust Company (1975) Ltd. 
shall act as the Trustee for the two series of Debentures) and 
the CEO and will thereafter be brought for the approval of the 
Debenture Holders according and pursuant to the provisions of 
section 18.6 of the Debt Arrangement, and no later than June 1, 
2023.

Mr. Elias has shared his view on his own remuneration with the 
RAS Committee, which view was considered in the formulation 
of Mr. Elias’s remuneration package.

The Board believes that the proposal for the remuneration of Mr. 
Elias for 2022 is appropriate, given his education, his professional 
experience, the previous CEO terms of employment, the 
Company’s Remuneration Policy, the recommendation of the 
Debenture Holders and the Company’s financial situation. In 
addition, the members of the Board believe that the fact that 
Mr. Elias previously served in the company as senior officer and 
that he is familiar with the Company’s assets may contribute to 
the company realizing its assets in order to repay the debt to the 
Debenture Holders. Moreover, the remuneration is reasonable 
compared to average and median remuneration of the rest of the 
employees employed by Kardan.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF  
FINANCIAL POSITION 

In €’000 Note December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Assets

Non-current assets

Deferred tax assets 29 2,924 582

Tangible fixed assets, net 6 7,372 502

Investment property 7 172,168 182,555

Investments in joint ventures 8 39,438 28,222

Loans to joint ventures 8 8,883 15,115

Long-term loans and receivables 9 7,810 1,059

238,595 228,035

Current assets

Apartments and merchandise inventory 10 15,432 24,371

Trade receivables and accrued income 11 52,341 5,769

Contracts with customers 4,325 -

Current tax assets 4,609 3,273

Other receivables 12 17,946 1,873

Short-term investments 13 1,437 798

Cash and cash equivalents 14 17,767 24,697

113,857 60,781

Assets held for sale 5 -  *90,142

Total current assets 113,857 150,923

Total assets 352,452 378,958

 
(*) Retrospectively adjusted – See Note 5.

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these IFRS consolidated financial statements.
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EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

In €’000 Note December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Deficit attributable to equity holders of the parent 15

Issued and paid-in capital 25,276 25,276

Share premium 206,482 206,482

Foreign currency translation reserve (11,865) (28,323)

Property revaluation reserve - 5,158

Revaluation reserve, other 7,968 4,396

Accumulated deficit (603,687)  *(458,687)

Deficit attributable to equity holders of the parent (375,826) (245,698)

Non-controlling interests (14,113) (9,848)

Total deficit (389,939) (255,546)

Non-current liabilities

Long term liabilities net of current liabilities 17 773 -

Other long-term liabilities 18 18,960 1,801

Deferred tax liabilities 29 597 -

Employees benefit liabilities, net 1,247 -

21,577 1,801

Current liabilities

Trade payables 17,606 1,373

Debentures 19 335,078 292,024

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 17 125,244 75,803

Current tax liabilities 1,174 1,168

Advances from customers and apartment buyers 22,456 1,723

Other payables and accrued expenses 20 219,256 117,859

720,814 489,950

Liabilities associated with assets held for sale 5 - 142,753

Total current liabilities 720,814 632,703

Total liabilities 742,391 634,504

Total equity and liabilities 352,452 378,958

(*) Retrospectively adjusted – See Note 5.

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these IFRS consolidated financial statements 
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

In €’000 Note For the year ended December 31,

2021  2020* 2019*

Revenues from contract work in progress 23 101,633 85,651 152,844

Revenues from sale of apartments 16,974 19,286 54,705

Rental revenues 9,675 9,308 9,055

Management fees and other revenues 746 840 791

Total revenues 129,028 115,085 217,395

Cost of contract work in progress 24 115,278 106,137 167,825
Cost of apartments sold 24 13,655 18,945 46,965

Rental costs 24 2,640 2,363 3,482

Management fees and other expenses, net 383 151 135

Total expenses 131,956 127,596 218,407

Gross loss (2,928) (12,511) (1,012)

Selling and marketing expenses 25 6,301 4,049 6,672

General and administration expenses 26 11,675 15,280 19,194

Loss from operations before fair value adjustments, disposal 

of assets and investment and other (loss) income (20,904) (31,840) (26,878)

Adjustment to fair value of investment properties 7 (29,187) (26,723) -

Other income (expenses), net 27 (5,276) 1,875 (5,819)

Loss from fair value adjustments, and other income, net (34,463) (24,848) (5,819)

loss from operations (55,367) (56,688) (32,697)

Financial income 28 452 10,107 1,297

Financial expenses 28 (105,686) (44,523) (76,264)

Total financial expenses, net (105,234) (34,416) (74,967)

Loss before share of profit from investments accounted for 

using the equity method (160,601) (91,104) (107,664)

Share of profit of investments accounted for using the 

equity method, net
8 9,111 13,017 15,695

Loss before income taxes (151,490) (78,087) (91,969)

Income tax expenses (benefit) 29 (900) (2,659) 5,866

Loss for the period from continuing operations (150,590) (75,428) (97,835)

Net profit from discontinued operations 5 - - 1,472

Loss for the year (150,590) (75,428) (96,363)

Attributable to:

Equity holders (150,158) *(73,672) *(91,647)

Non-controlling interest holders (432) (1,756) (4,716)

(150,590) (75,428) (96,363)

Earnings (loss) per share attributable to shareholders 30

Basic and diluted from continuing operations (1.22) *(0.61) *(0.80)

Basic and diluted from discontinued operations - - *0.01

(1.22) *(0.61)  (0.79)

(*) Retrospectively adjusted – See Note 5.

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these IFRS consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER  
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

In €’000 For the year ended December 31

2021 2020* 2019*

Net loss for the year (150,590) *(75,428) *(96,363)

Foreign currency translation differences 16,197 (10,221) (10,134)

Change in hedge reserve, net of tax - (37) (404)

Other comprehensive income (expense) for the year to

     be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods 16,197 (10,258) (10,538)

Total comprehensive loss (134,393) (85,686) (106,901)

Attributable to:

Equity holders (133,700) *(82,994) *(99,040)

Non-controlling interest holders (693) (2,692) (7,861)

(134,393) (85,686) (106,901)

(*) Retrospectively adjusted – See Note 5.

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these IFRS consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

In €’000 Attributable to equity holders of the parent

Issued
and

paid-in
capital

Share
premium

Foreign
currency

translation
reserve (*)

Property
revaluation
reserve (*)

Revaluation
reserve,

other (*)

Accumu-
lated

deficit

Total Non-con-
trolling 
interest
holders

Total equity

Balance as of January 1, 2021 25,276 206,482 (28,323) 5,158 4,396 **(458,687) (245,698) (9,848) (255,546)

Other comprehensive income - - 16,458 - - - 16,458 (261) 16,197

Loss for the period - - - - - (150,158) (150,158) (432) (150,590)

Total comprehensive expense - - 16,458 - - (150,158) (133,700) (693) (134,393)

Cost of share-based payment - - - - 3,572 - 3,572 (3,572) -
Reclassification according to the 

Netherlands civil code require-
ments, net of tax (*) - - - (5,158) - 5,158 - - -

Balance as of December 31, 2021 25,276 206,482 (11,865) - 7,968 (603,687) (375,826) (14,113) (389,939)

(*) In accordance with the Netherlands civil code, part of the equity is restricted for distribution.

(**) Retrospectively adjusted – See Note 5. 

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these IFRS consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

In €’000 Attributable to equity holders of the parent
Non-con-

trolling 
interest 
holders

Total equityIssued
and

paid-in
capital

Share
premium

Foreign
currency

translation
reserve

Property
revaluation

reserve

Revaluation
reserve,

other (*)

Accumu-
lated

deficit (*)

Total

Balance as of January 1, 2020 25,276 206,482 (19,038) 25,179 4,433 **(405,036) (162,704) (2,121) (164,825)

Other comprehensive expense - - (9,285) - (37) - (9,322) (936) (10,258)

Loss for the period - - - - - **(73,672) (73,672) (1,756) (75,428)

Total comprehensive expense - - (9,285) - (37) (73,672) (82,994) (2,692) (85,686)

Dividend distributed to  
Non-controlling interest holders - - - - - - - (277) (277)

Sale of a subsidiary - - - - - - - (4,305) (4,305)
Transaction with Non-controlling 

interest - - - - - - - (453) (453)
Reclassification according to the 

Netherlands civil code require-
ments, net of tax (*) - - - (20,021) - 20,021 - - -

Balance as of December 31, 2020 25,276 206,482 (28,323) 5,158 4,396 (458,687) (245,698) (9,848) (255,546)

(*) In accordance with the Netherlands civil code, part of the equity is restricted for distribution.

(**) Retrospectively adjusted – See Note 5.

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these IFRS consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)  

In €’000 Attributable to equity holders of the parent
Non-con-

trolling 
interest
holders

Total equityIssued
and

paid-in
capital

Share
premium

Foreign
currency

translation
reserve

Property
revaluation

reserve

Revaluation
reserve,

other (*)

Accumu-
lated

deficit

Total

Balance as of January 1, 2019 25,276 206,482 (12,049) 25,179 4,837 **(313,389) (63,664) 5,740 (57,924)

Other comprehensive expense - - (6,989) - (404) - (7,393) (3,145) (10,538)

Loss for the period - - - - - **(91,647) (91,647) (4,716) (96,363)

Total comprehensive expense - - (6,989) - (404) (91,647) (99,040) (7,861) (106,901)

Balance as of December 31, 2019 25,276 206,482 (19,038) 25,179 4,433 **(405,036) (162,704) (2,121) (164,825)

(*) In accordance with the Netherlands civil code, part of the equity is restricted for distribution.

(**) Retrospectively adjusted – See Note 5.

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these IFRS consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

In €’000 Note For the year ended December 31

2021 2020* 2019*

Cash flow from operating activities

Loss before taxes on income (151,490) (78,087) (91,969)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (see A below) 148,308 74,662 50,454

Net cash used in operating activities (3,182) (3,425) (41,515)

Cash flow from investing activities

Acquisition of tangible fixed assets and investment properties (1,421) (776) (2,670)

Proceeds from the sale of tangible fixed assets 216 70 1,108

Collection of loans from joint ventures and associates, net 8,779 1,804 (450)

Proceeds from sale of investments in companies accounted for at equity 5 1,714 2,359 17,405

Change in short-term investments 407 3,471 9,511

Change in long-term loans 57 - 1,131

Net cash provided by investing activities 9,752 6,928 26,035

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of debentures - - (12,221)

Repayment of long-term loans 17 (79,542) (19,203) (9,095)

Receipt of long-term loans 17 59,066 - -

Change in loans short term credit 17 3,901 1,434 8,328

Dividend to non-controlling interest holders - (286) -

Change in long term liabilities, net - (93) (578)

Repayment of lease liabilities (1,626) (61) -

Change in pledged deposit, net (5,239) - 2,549

Net cash used in financing activities (23,440) (18,209) (11,017)

decrease in cash and cash equivalents (16,870) (14,706) (26,497)

Foreign exchange differences relating to cash and cash  

equivalents from continuing operation 3,917 (2,016) 8,309

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 24,697 35,895 51,949

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year which 

presented as assets held for sale 6,023 11,547 13,681

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 30,720 47,442 65,630

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 17,767 30,720 47,442

(*) Retrospectively adjusted – See Note 5.

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these IFRS consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

In €’000 Note For the year ended December 31

2021 2020* 2019*

A. Adjustments to reconcile net profit (loss) to net cash
charges / (credits) to profit (loss) not affecting operating cash flows:

Share in profit of companies accounted for using  

the equity method, net 8 (9,111) (13,017) (15,695)

Gain from the sale of an associate and other assets, net 5 (1,007) (2,264) 850

Depreciation and amortization 3,587 8,011 8,560

Fair value adjustments and impairment of investment properties 7 29,187 26,723 -

Financial expense and exchange differences, net 105,252 31,942 75,410

Other income 903 (3,418) 3,181

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Change in trade and other receivables 6,054 44,431 32,975

Change in contract work receivables 15,550 (13,038) (1,315)

Change in apartments inventory 13,563 14,634 (4,477)

Change in trade and other payables (6,381) (7,106) (9,437)

Dividend received 8 2,803 12,716 3,728

Interest paid (11,847) (20,750) (35,941)

Interest received 139 746 771

Income taxes paid (384) (4,948) (8,156)

148,308 74,662 50,454

(*) Retrospectively adjusted – See Note 5.

The accompanying Notes are an integral part of these IFRS consolidated financial statements
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1. GENERAL

A. INTRODUCTION

Kardan N.V. (‘Kardan’ or ‘the Company’) having its legal seat in Amsterdam, The Netherlands, was incorporated on May 2, 2003, 
and acts as an operating holding company whose shares are listed for trade on the Tel-Aviv Stock Exchange, which is engaged in the 
development of real estate and (water) infrastructure projects, through its subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies. 

The Company and its subsidiaries are referred to as ‘the Group’.

The total number of employees in the Company and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2021 was 499 (December 31, 2020 – 618) of which 
147 are part of the real estate segments, 348 are part of the water infrastructure activity and 5 form the headquarters of the Company.  

The registered office address of the Company is located at De Cuserstraat 85B, Amsterdam, the Netherlands.

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors of the Company on April X, 2022. 

B. DEFINITIONS

The following definitions are used throughout these financial statements:

Kardan or the Company - Kardan N.V.

The Group or Kardan Group - Kardan N.V. and its subsidiaries

GTC RE - GTC Real Estate Holding B.V.

TGI or Tahal - Tahal Group International B.V.

TGI Group - TGI and its subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates

Kardan Land China or KLC - Kardan Land China Ltd.

KLC Group - Kardan Land China, its subsidiaries and joint ventures

TASE - The Tel-Aviv Stock Exchange

C. FINANCIAL POSITION AND GOING CONCERN 

1.  As at December 31, 2021 the Company had a working capital deficit of €607 million, mainly as a result of classification of the 
debentures as short-term liabilities, as detailed below, and the classification of a long-term loan in the amount of €62.4 million as a 
current liability (see Note 17). For the year ended on December 31, 2021, the Company recorded a consolidated net loss attributed 
to equity holders of €150.2 million and generated negative cash flow from operating activities of €3.2 million on a consolidated 
basis. In addition, as at December 31, 2021 the Company had a deficit of €375.8 million in its equity attributable to equity holders. 
The Company has not repaid the February 2018, 2019 and 2020 principal and interest payments to the debenture holders and is 
in default according to the Deeds of Trust – see 3 below.

1.  On January 11, 2018 the Company announced that it would not be able to complete a transaction for the sale of its holdings in 
TGI in a manner that would enable the Company to meet the scheduled payments to the debenture holders in February 2018. 
Further to this announcement, the Company has not repaid the principal and interest payments which were due in February 2018. 
Consequently, the Company is in default according to the Deeds of Trust as of February 2018. Accordingly, from March 31, 2018, 
the debentures are presented as current liabilities. 

  In February 2018, following the announcement that the Company will not make the February 2018 repayments, Maalot, the 
Israeli subsidiary of Standard & Poor’s, has adjusted the rating of the Company and its Debentures Series A and Series B to “D”.

3.  As of the date of the abovementioned default, the Company’s management is in discussions with the representatives of the 
Debenture Holders, in order to reach an agreement on postponing the payments as part of a new debt settlement.  The debt 
settlement, is based on converting a portion of the Company’s debt into the Company’s shares in such a way that it is expected 
that the Debenture Holders will obtain a vast majority of the Company, and in a framework that will ensure that the Company 
has positive equity and the Company can continue to operate as a going concern and meet its repayment obligations towards the 
Debenture Holders, taking into account future interest payments and expected proceeds when realizing assets in the future. 
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4.  In January 2021, an extraordinary meeting of the shareholders of the Company was held, in which the framework of the debt 
settlement was presented, and the shareholders approved allocation of shares to the debenture holders, according to the presented 
framework, if the debt settlement will be completed.  

  
  In March 2021, a meeting of the Company’s Debenture Holders (Series A and Series B) was held in which, among other things, the 

outline of the debt settlement was presented. On April 7, 2021, a voting meeting of the Company’s Debenture Holders approved 
advancing the debt settlement based on the presented outline.

 
  Following the approval, on December 29, 2021, the Company, with the consent of the trustees, submitted a request to the court for the 

approval of the debt settlement. On January 13, 2022, the court granted the Company’s request and approved the debt settlement. 
 
The main principles of the debt settlement are: (1) conversion of part of the Company’s debt against the allocation of shares to the deben-
ture holders, which will constitute approximately 89.9% of the Company’s issued and paid-in capital after the issue; (2) the balance of 
the debt remaining after the conversion will be NIS 725 million; (3) the entire debt will be repaid on December 31, 2023 and will bear an 
annual interest rate of 6.8%; early repayment will bear additional fees; (5) the new shareholders will be entitled to appoint a majority 
of the members of the Company’s Board of Directors; (6) to secure the debt settlement, the Company’s assets will be pledged, KLC will 
grant a guarantee and various restrictions will be imposed on the Company and its subsidiaries, similar to the existing debt settlement. 
 
According to the Debt Settlement, the Company must meet several conditions precedent until February 28, 2022. On February 27, 
2022, the Debenture Holders’ meetings approved to postpone the date of completion of the conditions precedent from February 28, 
2022 (as determine in the debt settlement) to March 17, 2022, and subject to the approval of the representatives - a further postpone-
ment to March 31, 2022. On March 31, 2022, meetings of the Company’s debenture holders approved an additional deferral until 
May 1, 2022. As of the date of this report, 2 conditions precedent, which are not within the Company’s control, have not been met yet.  
 
As of the date of the report, there is no certainty as to the actual execution of the debt settlement that depends on the completion 
of the said conditions which are not within the Company’s control.

4.  In order to assess the liquidity position of the Company, management prepared a two-year liquidity analysis (cash flow forecast), 
which indicates the required liquidity to be able to repay interest and principal of the Company’s debentures and to finance its 
operating activities, according to the framework of the proposed debt settlement. Included in this analysis are, among others, 
the current cash balances and the projected cash from future operations and transactions. Due to the financial position of TGI, as 
detailed in Note 5, the cash flow forecast of Kardan does not include any cash generated from TGI or from selling the investment 
in TGI. In relation to the loan granted to Europark Dalian project in China and its refinancing, see Note 17.

5.  The realization of the Company’s plans, including completion of the debt settlement with the Debenture Holders, the value and 
selling of Company’s assets, refinancing and restructuring of loans, the impact of the Corona virus, Geo-politics and macroeconomic 
developments, depend on factors that are not within the Company’s control and therefore there is uncertainty regarding the ability 
to complete the debt settlement, and that transactions for sale of assets will be entered into or completed. These conditions indicate 
the existence of a material uncertainty which casts significant doubt regarding the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  
 
The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments to the carrying amounts and classifications of assets and 
liabilities that would result if the Company is unable to continue as a going concern.

D. IMPACT OF THE CORONA VIRUS

The outbreak of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) expanded rapidly since the beginning of 2020. In order to stop the spread of the virus, 
governments around the world have taken drastic regulatory measures that significantly restrict the mobility and assembly of people. 
As a result, there has been a significant decline in the volume of economic activity in many regions of the world. In light of the effec-
tiveness and success of vaccines in certain countries around the world, as of the date of approval of the financial statements, some of 
the restrictions imposed during 2020 have been gradually and partially removed and a reopening of commercial activities has begun. 
However, in other countries the corona virus crisis is still going on even these days.

During the first quarter of 2021, KLC was required to temporarily close a number of stores in light of a brief outbreak of the Corona-
virus, and additional discounts in the amount of €111 thousand were granted to tenants. On the other hand, the activity of the mall 
gradually returned to similar level of operation as before the outbreak of the virus in 2020. Subsequent to the balance sheet date, in 
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March 2022, another outbreak of COVID-19 was reported in the city of Dalian and in other cities in China in which KLC operates. As 
a result, as of the date of publishing these financial statements, 26 shops in the shopping mall have been closed, in accordance with 
local authorities’ guidelines and restrictions on movement and various lockdowns were imposed.   

The Company’s water infrastructure activities, TGI Group, is operating in all its countries of operations according to local guidelines 
with respect to the COVID-19 outbreak. In April 2021, a significant outbreak of the Coronavirus has been reported in India, in which 
TGI operates. Work on projects in India continues but in a slower pace, which lead to some delays in projects and in revenues. As of 
the date of approval of these financial statements, it is not possible to estimate when the restrictions imposed by the authorities will 
be removed. At this stage it is difficult to assess the impact of such an outbreak on the Company’s financial statements.     

Given the uncertainty regarding the continuing spread of the virus and the resulting regulatory restrictions, the Company estimates 
that there could be a significant negative impact on its results, its future cash flows the valuation of its assets, as a result of the circum-
stances, which the Company is unable to estimate at this time. In addition, it may have a negative impact on investment sentiment, 
return rates on investments as well as liquidity of assets.  The duration of the crisis and the extent of its impact on the economy are 
uncertain. Accordingly, the Company’s management is unable to estimate the expected negative impact on the Company’s future 
profitability following the Corona crisis cannot be assessed.

E. RUSSIA-UKRAINE CRISIS

In February 2022 Russia launched a large-scale military operation against the Ukraine. Tahal is carrying out projects in both Russia and 
the Ukraine. In the Ukraine, the activity in the project was completely stopped and the management of Tahal sent the customer an 
official notice of the halting of the works due to a state of war (Force Majeure). Work on the projects in Russia continues as scheduled, 
but there may be implications to the profitability and receipt of payments as a result of supply chain problems, currency devaluation 
and the impact of sanctions imposed on Russia (such as disconnection from the banking system, etc.). There may also be indirect 
effects on the projects that Tahal is carrying out in Kazakhstan. At the time of publication of this report, it is not possible to accurately 
assess the effects and exposures, to the extent that they exist, on the activities of Tahal and the company as a result of the crisis. The 
Company will continue to continuously monitor such developments and examine the implications for its operations.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

A. BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated non-statutory financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for investment properties, 
derivative financial instruments; cash settled share-based payment liabilities and other financial assets and liabilities that have been 
measured at fair value.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Euros and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (€ in thousands) 
except when otherwise indicated.

The Company has elected to present the comprehensive income in two statements – the income statement and the statement of 
comprehensive income. 

The period of the operational cycle of the Group exceeds one year (real estate projects may last for 2-4 years). Accordingly, assets and 
liabilities derived from construction works include items that may be realized within the abovementioned operational business cycle.

B. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group applied for the first-time certain standards and amendments, which are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2021.

The adoption of these amendments doesn’t had a material impact on the current period or any prior period (for additional information 
see note 4Z). 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the financial statements necessitates the use of judgments, estimates and assumptions. These judgments, estimates 
and assumptions affect the reported amounts of the assets and liabilities and the amounts of the contingent liabilities disclosed in the 
notes as of the date of the financial position as well as reported income and expenses for the period. 

The key judgments, estimates and assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the financial 
position date, which have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year, are discussed below.

Going Concern
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis – for additional information see Note 1B.

Revaluation of investment properties 
Completed investment properties are measured at fair value as at the balance sheet date. Any changes in the fair value are included 
in the income statement. Change in fair value is usually determined by independent real estate valuation experts in accordance with 
recognized valuation techniques. These techniques include mainly: the Income Approach to Value (which includes the Discounted 
Cash Flow Method and the Yield Method). These methods include estimate future cash flows from assets and estimates of discount 
rates applicable to those assets. 

Fair value of investment properties is based on independent appraisal values. Independent appraisal values are, however, in their turn 
subject to judgments, estimates and assumptions and do not take into account estimation uncertainty, if any, about key assumptions 
concerning the future as property valuations are based on market conditions in effect as at balance sheet date. 

Please refer to Note 7 for a sensitivity analysis of profit (loss) before tax due to changes in certain key parameters.

Estimates about key assumptions include among others: future revenue streams, vacancy rate and discount rates applicable to those 
assets. Future revenue streams, inter alia, comprise contracted rent (passing rent) and estimated rental income (ERV) after the contract 
period. In estimating ERV, the potential impact of vacancy and future lease incentives to be granted to secure new contracts is taken 
into consideration. All these estimates are based on local market conditions existing at the reporting date.

Inventory of buildings for sale
Inventory of buildings for sale and real estate inventory is presented according to the lower of cost or net realizable value. Net realiz-
able value is based on the amount that the Company expects to receive in respect of the sale of the inventory less an estimate of costs 
to be completed and costs required to make the sale in the ordinary course of business. In relation to the inventory of dwellings under 
construction, impairment is examined by comparing the estimated sale price per unit and the expected cost per unit upon completion.

Asset held for sale and discontinued operation
When certain conditions are met, the Company presents certain operations as discontinued and classify their assets and liabilities as 
held for sale. Starting from the financial statements as of March 31, 2017, the Company presents the activity of its subsidiary TGI 
in its financial statements as disposal group and accounted for as Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operation, Following IFRS 
5 requirements – Non-current assets Held for Sale and discontinued operations (‘IFRS 5’), due to the Company’s intention to sell its 
holding in TGI.  Despite several advance negotiations, the Company was unable to sell its holding in TGI.  In addition, following to 
2020 annual report, the Company was unable to transfer the voting rights in TGI to its debenture holders. As a result of the above, 
the Company concluded that as of June 30, 2021, the conditions for the continued presentation of its investment in TGI as Held for 
Sale, ceased to exist. Therefore, as of that date, the Company stopped to present TGI as Held for sale and Discontinued operation, 
and adjusted retrospectively its operations results, which were presented in its financial statements from March 31, 2017 as Disposal 
group Held for Sale and Discontinued operations. Accordingly, as of April 1, 2021 the Company is fully consolidating TGI in its finan-
cial statements.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

On the basis of the aforementioned presentation and estimation techniques applied, a summary of significant accounting policies is 
presented below:

A. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the 
consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date at fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. 
For each business combination, the acquirer measures the NCI in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Other equity instruments not entitled to a proportionate share of net assets should be measured at 
fair value on the acquisition date unless another measurement basis is required by IFRS such as IFRS 2. Acquisition costs incurred are 
expensed and included in ‘Other expenses’.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and desig-
nation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This 
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree. If the business combination is achieved in stages, 
the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through 
the income statement. Amounts of other comprehensive income items deferred in equity are reclassified to the income statement or 
transferred directly to retained earnings. 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent 
consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consid-
eration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and within the scope of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, is measured 
at fair value with the changes in fair value recognized in the statement of profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9. Other contingent 
consideration that is not within the scope of IFRS 9 is measured at fair value at each reporting date with changes in fair value recog-
nized in profit or loss. 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount recognized 
for non-controlling interests and any previous interest held over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed). If the fair 
value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly 
identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be 
recognized at the acquisition date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the aggre-
gate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognized in profit or loss. 
 
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, 
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that 
are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those 
units. 
 
Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (CGU) and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the 
goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or 
loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the 
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

 B. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

The Group’s investments in its associates and in joint ventures (both equity and loans) are accounted for using the equity method. An 
associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and 
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies. 

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net 
assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when 
decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
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Under the equity method, the investment in the associate or a joint venture is initially recognized at cost and adjusted thereafter 
to recognize the Group’s share of the post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate or joint venture. 
Goodwill relating to associates or joint ventures is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortized nor 
individually tested for impairment.

The income statement reflects the share of the results of operations of the associate or joint venture. Any change in OCI of those 
investees is presented as part of the Group’s OCI.

In addition, where there has been a change recognized directly in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group recognizes its 
share of any changes and discloses this, when applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. Unrealized gains and losses resulting 
from transactions between the Group and the associate or joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate 
or joint venture.

When the group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity, including any other 
unsecured long-term receivables, the group does not recognize further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on 
behalf of the other entity.
 
The share of profit of an associate and a joint venture is shown on the face of the income statement. This is the profit attributable to 
equity holders of the associate or joint venture and therefore is profit after tax and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the 
associate or joint venture.

The financial statements of the associate or joint venture are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. Where necessary, 
adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognize an additional impairment loss on 
the Group’s investment in its associates or joint ventures. The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objec-
tive evidence that the investment in the associate or joint venture is impaired. If this is the case the Group calculates the amount of 
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate or joint venture and its carrying value and recognizes 
the amount as impairment in the income statement.

When the group no longer applies the equity method over the associate or joint venture, the Group measures and recognizes any 
retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of signif-
icant influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognized in the income 
statement. Amounts deferred in OCI are reclassified to the income statement or transferred directly to retained earnings. 

C. FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Euros, which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and 
items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using the functional currency. Transactions in foreign currencies 
are initially recorded at the foreign currency exchange rate ruling at the date of transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denomi-
nated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the foreign currency rate of exchange ruling at the financial position date. All differences 
are taken to the income statement with the exception of differences on foreign currency borrowings that provide a hedge against 
a net investment in a foreign entity, and for which hedge accounting requirements are met. These are recognized in OCI until the 
disposal of the net investment, at which time they are recognized in the income statement. Tax charges and credits attributable to 
exchange differences on those borrowings are also recognized in OCI. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates ruling on the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items 
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 
Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities on the acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

As of the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of the foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency of the 
Company at the rate of exchange ruling on the balance sheet date and their income statements are translated at weighted average 
exchange rates for the year. The exchange differences arising on the translation are recognized in OCI. On disposal of a foreign entity, 
the deferred cumulative amount recognized in OCI relating to that particular foreign operation is recognized in the income statement.
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D. SEGMENT REPORTING

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker. 

E. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group measures financial instruments such as derivatives, and non-financial assets such as investment properties, at fair value at 
each balance sheet date. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset 
or transfer the liability takes place either: 

In the principal market for the asset or liability 

Or 

In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. 

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset 
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. 

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using 
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure 
fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorized within the fair value 
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

A. Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

B.  Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or 
indirectly observable 

C. Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable 

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers 
have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

The management determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value measurement, such as investment properties 
and unquoted assets measured at fair value through profit or loss, and for non-recurring measurement, such as assets held for sale in 
discontinued operations. 

External valuers are involved for valuation of significant assets, such as investment property. Involvement of external valuers is decided 
upon annually by the management after discussion with the Company’s Audit Committee. Selection criteria include market knowl-
edge, reputation, independence and whether professional standards are maintained. The management decides, after discussions with 
the Group’s external valuers, which valuation techniques and inputs to use for each case. 
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At each reporting date, the management analyses the movements in the values of assets and liabilities which are required to be 
re-measured or re-assessed as per the Group’s accounting policies. For this analysis, the management verifies the major inputs applied 
in the latest valuation by agreeing the information in the valuation computation to contracts and other relevant documents. 
The management, in conjunction with the Group’s external valuers, also compares the change in the fair value of each asset and 
liability with relevant external sources to determine whether the change is reasonable. 

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature, charac-
teristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above. 

F. NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held-for-sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less 
costs to sell. Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held-for-sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered through 
a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. Costs to sell are the incremental costs directly attributable to the sale or distri-
bution, excluding the finance costs and income tax expense. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable, 
and the asset or disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condition.

Discontinued operation is defined as a component of an entity that either has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale and: 
a. represents a major separate line of business or geographical area of operations; 
b. is a part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations; or
c. is a subsidiary acquired with a view to resale.

Tangible fixed assets and intangible assets once classified as held-for-sale are not depreciated or amortized.

G. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Tangible fixed assets, which do not qualify as investment property, are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any. Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of such property and equipment when that cost is incurred, 
providing the recognition criteria are met. Land is not depreciated.

The initial cost of property and equipment comprise its purchase price, including import duties and non-refundable purchase taxes and 
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Depreciation is computed from the moment the asset is ready for use on a straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives 
of the assets:

Office furniture and equipment 3-16 years (mainly 10 years)

Property, plant and equipment 10-20 years (mainly 10 years)

Motor vehicles 2-7 years (mainly 5 years)

Buildings (not including land) 25-50 years (mainly 50 years)

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the term of the lease or useful lives (mainly 5 years)

    
The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted prospectively, 
if appropriate. Any item of tangible fixed assets is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from 
its use. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset) is included in the income statement in the year the asset is derecognized.
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H. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties comprises a land plot or a building or a part of a building held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreci-
ation and property that is being constructed or developed for future use as investment property (investment property under construc-
tion).
Right of use that meet the fulfil the definition of investment property are presented in the statement of financial position as investment 
property. The Company applies the fair value model as in IAS 40 for its investment property and accordingly applies the fair value 
model for the right of use assets that apply with the definition of investment property according to IAS 40. 

Investment properties is initially stated at cost and subsequently is measured at fair value according to the fair value model, which 
reflects market conditions at the balance sheet date. Gains or losses arising from a change in the fair value of the investment properties 
are included in the income statement in the year in which they arise. 

Investment properties where management deemed that fair value can be reliably measured, are externally valued (in most cases) 
based on open market values. For a description of these valuation techniques and assumptions, see Note 7 and Note 3.

Investment properties are derecognized when either they have been disposed of or when the investment property is permanently 
withdrawn from use. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognized in the income state-
ment in the year of retirement or disposal.

Transfers are made to (or from) investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from investment property to 
owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at the date of change in use. If owner-occupied 
property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated under property, 
plant and equipment up to the date of change in use.

Lease origination costs /deferred brokerage fees
The costs incurred to originate a lease as well as broker fees for available rental space are added to the carrying value of investment 
property until the date of revaluation of the related investment property to its fair value. Upon measurement of investment property 
to its fair value, these balances are released as part of a fair value adjustment.

I. APARTMENTS INVENTORY IN PROGRESS

Costs relating to the construction of the residential properties are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value NRV. NRV is 
assessed with reference to market conditions and prices existing at the reporting date and is determined by the Group having taken 
suitable external advice and in light of recent market transactions. Costs relating to the construction of a project are included in inven-
tory as follows:

• Costs incurred relating to phases of the project that are not available for sale; and
• Costs incurred relating to units unsold associated with a phase of the project that is available for sale.

Costs related to the phase of the project that is not available for sale may include:
• Capitalized costs, which include borrowing costs, planning and design costs, construction overheads and other related costs.

The carrying amounts are tested for impairment as of each reporting date. Impairment is assessed to have occurred if the esti-
mated future selling price of the residential units falls below the estimated cost per unit. Impairment is subsequently calculated on a 
discounted cash flow basis. Commissions paid to sales or marketing agents on the sale of pre-completed real estate units, which are 
not refundable, are expensed in full when payable.

The Company classifies cost of building in progress as current or non-current based on the operating cycle of the related projects. 
Ongoing projects are presented as current. Projects where the construction date has not yet been determined are presented as 
non-current.
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J. INVENTORIES

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value, purchase cost determined on a first-in/first-out basis. Net realis-
able value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale.

K. IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, 
or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use and is determined for an individual asset, 
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the 
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable 
amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining the fair value 
less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used.

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously 
recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the recoverable amount is esti-
mated. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine 
the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset is 
increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, 
net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in the income 
statement unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

Goodwill
Goodwill is reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value 
may be impaired.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to 
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than 
the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognized through profit or loss. Impairment losses recognized in relation to goodwill are 
not reversed for subsequent increases in its recoverable amount.

Investment in associates or Joint ventures
After applying the equity method, the Company examines whether it is necessary to recognize an additional impairment of invest-
ment in associates or in joint ventures. Each balance sheet date an examination is carried out to check if there is objective evidence of 
impairment of an investment in an associate or joint venture. The assessment of impairment is made considering the total investment, 
including the goodwill attributable to the associates or joint ventures.  

L. INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

Classification 
From 1 January 2018, the group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: 
• those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through OCI or through profit or loss), and  
• those to be measured at amortized cost. 

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows. 

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments in equity instruments 
that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition 
to account for the equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). 

The group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes. 
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Recognition and derecognition 
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on trade-date, the date on which the group commits to purchase or 
sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been 
transferred and the group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 

Measurement
At initial recognition, the group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through 
profit or loss (FVPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of finan-
cial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss. 

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely 
payment of principal and interest. 

Impairment
From 1 January 2018, the group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments 
carried at amortized cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase 
in credit risk. 

For trade receivables, the group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be 
recognized from initial recognition of the receivables, see Note 11(c) for further details. 

Debt instruments 
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash flow char-
acteristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories into which the group classifies its debt instruments: 
•  Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of 

principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income using 
the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in 
other gains/(losses) together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the 
statement of profit or loss. 

•  FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows 
represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken through 
OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses which are 
recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is 
reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in other gains/(losses). Interest income from these financial assets is included 
in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in other gains/(losses) 
and impairment expenses are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or loss. 

•  FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment 
that is subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and presented net within other gains/(losses) in the period in 
which it arises.

Equity instruments 

The group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the group’s management has elected to present fair 
value gains and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or 
loss following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss as 
other income when the group’s right to receive payments is established. 

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognised in other gains/(losses) in the statement of profit or loss as appli-
cable. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI are not reported separately 
from other changes in fair value. 

M. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term deposits with an 
original maturity of three months or less. 
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N. BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs are accrued and expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalized if they are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset.

Capitalization of borrowing costs commences when the activities to prepare the asset are in progress and expenditures and borrowing 
costs are being incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalized until the assets are substantially ready for their intended use. If the resulting 
carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recorded. Borrowing costs include interest charges 
and other costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds, including exchange differences arising from foreign currency 
borrowings used to finance these projects to the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs.

Borrowing costs are either based on the actual borrowing costs incurred for the purchase of a qualifying asset or at a capitalization rate 
representing the weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding during the 
period, other than borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset. The amount of borrowing costs that 
the Group capitalizes during any period will not exceed the amount of borrowing costs it incurred during that period.

O. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Initial recognition and measurement 
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, 
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. 
All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attrib-
utable transaction costs. 

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings, and derivative financial instruments. 

Subsequent measurement 
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below: 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value 
through profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities are classified at fair value through profit or loss if they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. 
This category also includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments 
in hedge relationships as defined by IFRS 9. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as at fair value through profit or loss 
unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. 

Gains or losses on liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognized in the statement of profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the initial date of recogni-
tion, and only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. The Group has not designated any financial liability as at fair value through profit 
or loss. 

Loans and borrowings 
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the 
effective interest rate amortization process. 

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part 
of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included as finance costs in the statement of profit or loss. 
 
This category generally applies to interest-bearing loans and borrowings. 
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Debentures 
Debentures are initially recognized at fair value net of costs associated with the issuance of the Debentures. After initial recognition, 
the Debentures are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Amortized cost is calculated by 
taking into account any discount or premium on the consideration and using the effective interest method. The proceeds received in 
consideration for the issuance of Debentures and detachable warrants are allocated between the Debentures and warrants based on 
their relative fair value.

Derecognition 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an existing 
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of 
a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the statement of profit or loss. 
 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading, and financial liabilities designated upon 
initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. Derivatives, including 
separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. 
Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognized in profit or loss.

Loans and borrowings
After initial recognition, all interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortized cost. Amortized cost is 
calculated by taking into account premiums paid at initiation of the loans and using the effective interest method.
Gains and losses are recognized in the income statement when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the amortization 
process. 

P. OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial position if, and only 
if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to 
realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Q. PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, and it is probable 
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation. Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is 
recognized as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented 
in the income statement net of any reimbursement.

R. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Employees (including senior executives) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby 
employees render services as consideration for equity instruments (‘equity-settled transactions’). Some employees are granted share 
appreciation rights, which can only be settled in cash (‘cash-settled transactions’). 

Equity-settled transactions
The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date on which they are 
granted. The fair value is determined by using an appropriate pricing model, further details of which are given in Note 16.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognized, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which 
the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognized for equity-settled transactions at each 
reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the 
number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
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The income statement expense or credit for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognized as at the beginning 
and end of that period.

No expense is recognized for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is conditional 
upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting condi-
tion is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled transaction award are modified, the minimum expense recognized is the expense as if the terms 
had not been modified if the original terms of the award are met. An additional expense is recognized for any modification that 
increases the total fair value of the share-based payment transaction or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the 
date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recog-
nized for the award is recognized immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of either the 
entity or the employee are not met. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award and designated as a replacement 
award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original award, 
as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of diluted earnings per share 
(further details are given in Note 31).

Cash-settled transactions
The cost of cash-settled transactions is measured initially at fair value at the grant date using mostly the binomial model, further details 
of which are given in Note 17. This fair value is expensed over the period until the vesting date with recognition of a corresponding 
liability. The liability is re-measured to fair value at each reporting date up to and including the settlement date, with changes in fair 
value recognized in employee benefits expense (see Note 17 and 20).

S. LEASES

The accounting policies applied as of January 1, 2019 in respect of leases are as follows:

The Company account the contract as a lease when, under the terms of the contract, the right to control the asset (or assets) is trans-
ferred for an identified period of time for an agreed consideration.

Group as a lessee
For transactions in which the Company is a lessee, it recognizes on the date of commencement of the lease the right of use against 
a lease obligation, with the exception of lease transactions for a period of up to 12 months and lease transactions in which the low 
value underlying asset, which the Company has chosen to recognize the lease payments as an expense in profit or loss in a straight 
line over the lease term. As part of the measurement of the lease obligation, the Company chose to implement the standard relief and 
did not separate leasing components from non-leasing components such as: management services, maintenance services and more, 
which are included in the same transaction.

At the commencement date, a lease obligation includes all unpaid lease payments discounted at the implied interest rate on the lease 
when it is easily determinable or at the Company’s additional interest rate. After the date commenced, the Company measures the 
liability for the lease using the effective interest method.

The right-of-use right asset is recognized at the amount of the lease for a lease plus lease payments paid on or before the commence-
ment date plus the incurred transaction costs.

In case the fair value model in IAS 40 to investment property is applied, then the right-of-use assets meet the definition of investment 
property.

The right of use is measured in the cost model and amortized over its useful life, or the lease term according to the shortest of them.

When there are signs of impairment, the Company examines impairment of the right of use in accordance with IAS 36.
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Group as a lessor
The tests for classifying a lease as financing or as operating are based on the nature of the agreement and are tested at the date of 
the contract according to the rules set out in the standard:

Finance lease
A lease transaction in which all risks and rewards associated with ownership of the property are transferred to the lessee is classified 
as a finance lease.

When the lease began, the leased asset was derecognized and against the seller of a “finance lease receivable” property equal to the 
present value of the lease receipts capitalized at the interest embodied in the lease. Any difference between the balance of the leased 
property before the lien and the balance of the debtors for a finance lease is recognized in profit or loss.

After the commencement date, the leasing receipts are allocated between financing income that reflects a fixed periodic rate of return 
on debtors for a finance lease, and the repayment of debtors for a finance lease. The balance of receivables for financing leases is 
treated for impairment and subtraction according to IFRS 9.

Operating lease
A lease transaction in which all the risks and rewards associated with owning the property are not substantially transferred is classified 
as an operating lease. Lease receipts are recognized as straight-line income or loss over the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in 
respect of the lease agreement are added to the cost of the leased property and recognized as an expense over the lease term on the 
same basis.

T. REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when the control over the goods or services is transferred to the customer. The 
transaction price is the amount of the consideration that is expected to be received based on the contract terms, excluding amounts 
collected on behalf of third parties (such as taxes).

Revenue from construction contracts
At contract inception, the Company identifies the construction work as a performance obligation. Since the Company’s performance 
creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced, the Company recognizes revenue over 
time.

The company uses the “completion rate” method to determine the amount of income and contract costs that must be recognized in 
any given period. The completion stage is determined with respect to the contract costs incurred up to the date of the report on the 
financial position, as the rate of the total cost estimate for the entire contract.

When the result of the performance contract can be reliably estimated and the contract is expected to be profitable, the Company 
recognizes revenue and contract costs, as income and expenses respectively according to the completion stage of the activity under 
the contract at the end of the reporting period. When the total contract costs are expected to exceed the total contract revenue, the 
Group recognizes the projected loss as an immediate expense.

When the result of a construction contract cannot be reliably estimated, the Company recognizes revenue only up to the amount of 
contract costs incurred that are expected to be recoverable.

Changes in work under the contract, claims and incentives will be included as part of the contract revenue only to the extent that it is 
expected to be approved by the client and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably.

Rental income
Rental income arising from operating leases on investment properties is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. 
Costs of rental operations are recorded in the same period as rental income is recognized. The aggregate cost of rental incentives is 
recognized as a reduction of rental income over the lease term on a straight-line basis. 



61    KARDAN  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2021

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Sale of apartments
The Group develops and sells residential properties. Revenue is recognized when or as the control of the goods or service is trans-
ferred to the customer. Depending on the terms of the contract and laws that apply to the contract, control of the properties may 
be transferred over time or at a point in time. In most cases for the Company it will at a point in time. Revenue is recognized when 
a performance obligation is satisfied by transferring control of the promised properties to a customer in an amount that reflects the 
consideration expected to be collected in exchange for those properties.

The Group determines whether control of a property is transferred to a customer over time or at a point in time based on the analysis 
of the following three criteria. Revenue is recognized over time if any of such criteria are met that the Group:

•  provide all of the benefits received and consumed simultaneously by the customer; or
•  create and enhance an asset that the customer controls as the Group perform; or
•   do not create an asset with an alternative use of the Group and the Group have an enforceable right to payment for performance 

completed to date. 

A performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time if none of the above criteria for satisfying a performance obligation over time 
are met.

The revenue is measured at the transaction price agreed under the contract. In most cases, the consideration is due when legal title 
has been transferred. While deferred payment terms may be agreed in rare circumstances, the deferral never exceeds twelve months. 
The transaction price is therefore not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component.

The costs related to the real estate development incurred during the construction period are capitalized in inventory. Once revenue is 
recognized, the costs in respect of sold units are expensed.
 
Revenue from the provision of services (including management fees)

Revenue from the provision of services is recognized in the reporting periods in which the services were provided in the event that 
the outcome of the contract can be measured reliably. When the results cannot be measured reliably, income is recognized only at the 
level of the expenses incurred and which can be reimbursed.

U. TAXES

Current income tax
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from 
or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantially 
enacted at the balance sheet date.

Current income tax relating to items recognized outside the income statement is recognized in OCI or equity, in correlation to the 
underlying transaction, and not in the income statement. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with 
respect to the situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.

Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases 
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary difference, except:
•  Where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that is 

not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
•  In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures, where 

the timing of reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse 
in the foreseeable future.
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Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and unused 
tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and 
the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be used except:
•  Where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or 

liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 
taxable profit or loss; and

•  In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures, 
deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the fore-
seeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realized 
or the liability settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred income tax relating to items recognized outside the income statement is recognized outside the income statement. Deferred 
tax items are recognized in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or directly in equity.

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets 
against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority 
and expected to settle net or simultaneously.

At each balance sheet date, the Group companies re-assess unrecognized deferred tax assets and the carrying amount of deferred tax 
assets. The companies recognize a previously unrecognized deferred tax asset to the extent that it has become probable that future 
taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Conversely, the companies reduce the carrying amount of a deferred tax asset to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient 
taxable profit will be available to allow the benefit of part or that entire deferred tax asset to be utilized.

V. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The fair value of financial instruments that are actively traded in organized financial markets is determined by reference to quoted 
market bid prices for assets and offer prices for liabilities, at the close of business on the balance sheet date. If quoted market prices 
are not available, reference can also be made to broker or dealer price quotations.

For financial instruments where there is no active market, the estimated fair value is determined by the Group by using valuation 
models. 

The Group has estimated that the fair value of some of the financial instruments does not differ significantly from their current carrying 
amounts. This is valid for cash items, receivables from banks and other current receivables and current liabilities. The Group believes 
that the current carrying amount of these assets and liabilities approximates their fair value, especially when they are short term, or 
their interest rates are changing together with the change in the current market conditions. 

W. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit for the period attributable to the equity holders of the parent by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period (after adjusting for treasury shares).
 
Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to the equity holders of the parent (after 
adjusting for interest on convertible Debentures and options classified as derivative instruments) by the weighted average number 
of ordinary shares outstanding during the period plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the 
conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares. In addition, securities that were converted during the 
period are included in the diluted earnings per share calculation to the date of conversion, and from that date they are included in 
the basic earnings per share. Potential ordinary shares are only included in diluted earnings per share when their conversion would 
decrease earnings per share (or increase loss per share) from continuing operations. Options and warrants are dilutive when they 
would result in the issue of ordinary shares for less than the average market price of ordinary shares during the period. 
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X. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT LIABILITIES

The plans are normally financed by contributions to insurance companies and classified as defined contribution plans or as defined 
benefit plans.

The Group has defined contribution plans pursuant to section 14 to the Severance Pay Law under which the Group pays fixed contri-
butions and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient amounts to 
pay all employee benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.

Contributions to the defined contribution plan in respect of severance or retirement pay are recognized as an expense when contri-
buted concurrently with performance of the employee’s services.

The Group also operates a defined benefit plan in respect of severance pay pursuant to the Severance Pay Law. According to the Law, 
employees are entitled to severance pay upon dismissal or retirement. The liability for termination of employment is measured using 
the projected unit credit method. The actuarial assumptions include expected salary increases and rates of employee turnover based 
on the estimated timing of payment. The amounts are presented based on discounted expected future cash flows using a discount 
rate determined by reference to market yields at the reporting date on high quality corporate bonds that are linked to the Consumer 
Price Index with a term that is consistent with the estimated term of the severance pay obligation.

Y. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Amendments to IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments”, IFRS 7, “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” and IAS 39,” Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement” (collectively - “the Amendment”):
The Amendment permits certain temporary reliefs for entities applying hedge accounting for IBOR-based instruments which are 
affected by the uncertainty involving the expected interest rate benchmark reform. This reform has caused uncertainty relating to the 
timing and amounts of future cash flows from both hedging instruments and hedged items. However, ineffectiveness will be recog-
nised in profit or loss. The amendments also require certain disclosure requirements.

The Company has prospectively implemented the amendment. The initial application of the Amendment did not have a material effect 
on the Company’s financial statements.

Z. NEW STANDARDS AND AMENDMENTS NOT YET ADOPTED BY THE GROUP

Amendment to IAS 1, “Presentation of Financial Statements”:
The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB or the Board) issued amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 
(the amendments) to clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current. More specifically:

1.  The amendments specify that the conditions which exist at the end of the reporting period are those which will be used to deter-
mine if a right to defer settlement of a liability exists.

2.  Management expectations about events after the balance sheet date, for example on whether a covenant will be breached, or 
whether early settlement will take place, are not relevant.

3. The amendments clarify the situations that are considered settlement of a liability.

The Amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023 and must be applied retrospectively. The initial 
application of the Amendment did not have a material effect on the Company’s financial statements.

Amendment to IAS 16, “Property, Plant and Equipment”:
In May 2020, the IASB issued an amendment to IAS 16, “Property, Plant and Equipment” (“the Amendment”). The Amendment 
prohibits a company from deducting from the cost of property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”) consideration received from the sales 
of items produced while the company is preparing the asset for its intended use. Instead, the company should recognize such consi-
deration and related costs in profit or loss. 

The Amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022, with earlier application permitted. The 
Amendment is to be applied retrospectively, but only to items of PP&E made available for use on or after the beginning of the earliest 
period presented in the financial statements in which the company first applies the Amendment. The company should recognize the 
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cumulative effect of initially applying the Amendment as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings at the beginning 
of the earliest period presented.

The Company estimates that the application of the Amendment is not expected to have a material impact on the financial statements.

Amendment to IAS 37, “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”:
In May 2020, the IASB issued an amendment to IAS 37, regarding which costs a company should include when assessing whether a 
contract is onerous (“the Amendment”). According to the Amendment, costs of fulfilling a contract include both the incremental costs 
(for example, raw materials and direct labor) and an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling a contract (for example, 
depreciation of an item of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract).

The Amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022 and applies to contracts for which all obligations 
in respect thereof have not yet been fulfilled as of January 1, 2022. Early application is permitted.

The Company estimates that the application of the Amendment is not expected to have a material impact on the financial statements.

Amendment to IFRS 3, “Business Combinations”:
The amendment updates IFRS 3 so that it addresses to the conceptual framework for financial reporting as published in 2018, for 
the purpose of determining which assets acquired and liabilities taken out meet the definitions of assets and liabilities. Prior to the 
amendment, the reference was to the conceptual framework for financial reporting as published in 2001.

The amendment also adds to IFRS 3 a requirement that, for transactions and other events within the scope of IAS 37 or IFRIC 21, 
an acquirer applies IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 (instead of the Conceptual Framework) to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business 
combination; and an explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognise contingent assets acquired in a business combination.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Early application is permitted if an entity also 
applies all other updated references (published together with the updated Conceptual Framework) at the same time or earlier. 

The initial application of the Amendment is not expected to have a material impact on the financial statements.

Amendment to International Accounting Standard 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (hereinafter - the amendment to IAS 1):
The amendment to IAS 1 requires companies to disclose their material accounting policies in place of their significant accounting 
policies. According to the amendment, accounting policy information is material if, when taken into account together with other 
information provided in the financial statements, it can reasonably be expected that it will influence decisions made by the main users 
of the financial statements based on these financial statements.

The amendment also clarifies that information on accounting policies is likely to be material if, without it, users of the financial state-
ments are denied the opportunity to understand other material information in the financial statements. In addition, the amendment 
clarifies that there is no need to disclose information on irrelevant accounting policies. However, to the extent that such information 
is provided, it is appropriate that it would not distract from material information on accounting policies.

The amendment to IAS 1 will be applied retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. In accordance with 
the provisions of the amendment, its early application is possible. The first application of the amendment to IAS 1 is not expected to 

have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendment to International Accounting Standard 8 Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors (hereinafter: 
the amendment to IAS 8)
The amendment to IAS 8 clarifies how entities should distinguish between changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting 
estimates. This distinction is substantial, since changes in accounting estimates are prospectively applied to other transactions and 
events in the future, while changes in accounting policies are generally applied retrospectively to other transactions and events in the 
past, as well as to current events and transactions.
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The amendment to IAS 8 will be applied retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023. In accordance with 
the provisions of the amendment, its early application is possible. The first application of the amendment to IAS 8 is not expected to 

have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendment to International Accounting Standard 12 Income Taxes (hereinafter: the amendment to IAS 12)
The amendments narrow the scope of the initial recognition exemption to exclude transactions that give rise to equal and offsetting 
temporary differences - e.g. leases and decommissioning liabilities. The amendments apply for annual reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2023. For leases and decommissioning liabilities, the associated deferred tax asset and liabilities will need to be 
recognised from the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment 
to retained earnings or other components of equity at that date. For all other transactions, the amendments apply to transactions that 
occur after the beginning of the earliest period presented.

The initial application of the Amendment is not expected to have a material impact on the financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 regarding sale or transfer of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture:
The Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 deal with the sale or transfer of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture 
and resolve an inconsistency that exists between IFRS 10 and IAS 28. Those changes affect how an entity should determine any gain 
or loss it recognizes when assets are sold or contributed between the entity and an associate or joint venture in which it invests. The 
changes do not affect other aspects of how entities account for their investments in associates and joint ventures.

In December 2015, it was decided to postpone the effective date of the amendments. The Amendments are to be applied prospec-
tively. A mandatory effective date has not yet been determined by the IASB but early adoption is permitted. The initial application of 
the Amendment is not expected to have a material impact on the financial statements.

5. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES 

A. PRINCIPLE SUBSIDIARIES (CONSOLIDATED INTO THE GROUP) 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. Following is a list of the 
main Company’s directly and indirectly held subsidiaries. 

Holding company Name of subsidiary Country of incorporation % equity interest by the direct and indirect 

holding as of December 31

2021 2020

Kardan N.V. Kardan Financial Services B.V. The Netherlands - 100

GTC Real Estate Holding B.V. The Netherlands 100 100

GTC Real Estate Holding B.V. Kardan Land China Limited Hong Kong 100 100

Kardan Land China Limited Kardan Land (BJ) Management & Consulting Co. Ltd. China 100 100

Kardan Land Dalian (HK) Ltd. Hong Kong 100 100

Kardan N.V. Tahal Group International B.V. The Netherlands 98.43 98.43

Tahal Group International B.V. Tahal Group B.V. The Netherlands 100 100

Tahal Group Assets B.V. The Netherlands 100 100

Tahal Group B.V. Tahal Consulting Engineers Ltd. Israel 100 100

Water Planning for Israel Ltd. Israel - 99.99

Sitahal Israel 100 100

Sitahal Partnership Israel 100 100

Tahal Consulting Engineers India Pvt. Ltd. India 100 100

Tahal Russ Russia 100 100

Sterna B.V. The Netherlands 90.75 90.75

TMNG Ltd. Israel 62.9 62.9

Tahal Group Assets B.V. Task Water B.V. The Netherlands 100 100

Mast Foods S.A. Greece 60.7 60.7
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B. SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS AND BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

Sale of the investment in Joint venture – TBIF Dan Leasing (‘Avis Ukraine’)
In March 2019, a transaction to sell 100% (66% indirect) in TBIF Dan Leasing Limited (‘TDLL’) and its shareholder’s loans to its partner 
in TDLL has been completed. 
The sale price amounted to USD 14.2 million (approximately €12.4 million).
Following the completion of the transaction, the Company recorded a gain from the release of a capital reserve in the amount of €1.3 
million.

Sale of Palgey Maim
In September 2020, a transaction to sell 100% of TGI’s holdings in Palgey Maim Ltd. (55.49% indirect) has been completed. The 
consideration amounted to NIS 21.4 million (€5.3 million) in cash, after adjustments. The remaining consideration, in the amount of 
NIS 4.1 million (approximately €1 million), was deposited in trust on the completion date and will be used to ensure representations 
and adjustments, in respect of certain payments as specified in the agreement.

Sale of Feuerstein Gazit
On March 10, 2021, Water Planning to Israel Ltd. (a subsidiary of TGI) completed a transaction for the sale of its entire holdings 
(100%) in an Israeli subsidiary (Feuerstein Gazit Ltd.), for a consideration of approximately NIS 7.3 million (approximately €1.9 

million). Following the completion of the transaction, the Company recognized a capital gain of approximately €1 million.
 

C. ASSETS PRESENTED AS HELD FOR SALE AND WERE RECLASSIFIED IN THE REPORTING PERIOD  

Starting from the financial statements as of March 31, 2017, the Company presents the activity of its subsidiary TGI in its financial 
statements as disposal group and accounted for as Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operation, Following IFRS 5 requirements 
– Non-current assets Held for Sale and discontinued operations (‘IFRS 5’), due to the Company’s intention to sell its holding in TGI.  
Despite several advance negotiations, the Company was unable to sell its holding in TGI.  In addition, further to the 2020 annual 
report, the Company was unable to transfer the voting rights in TGI to its debenture holders. As a result of the above, the Company 
concluded that as of June 30, 2021 the conditions for the continued presentation of its investment in TGI as Held for Sale ceased to 
exist. Therefore, as of that date, the Company stopped presenting TGI as Held for sale and Discontinued operation, and adjusted 
retrospectively its results, which were presented in its financial statements from March 31, 2017 as Disposal group Held for Sale and 
Discontinued operations. Accordingly, as of April 1, 2021 the Company is fully consolidating TGI in its financial statements.

Accordingly, the Company included the following adjustments:
1.  The Company recognized, retrospectively, for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, depreciation and amortization 

expenses of TGI, before tax, which were eliminated in previous periods, in accordance with IFRS 5, in the amount of €5.6 million 
and €7.9 million, respectively 

2.  In addition, in respect of these adjustments, the Company adjusted the balance of accumulated loss in its equity attributed to the 
equity holders as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 in the amount of €17.7 million and €12.1 million, respectively. 
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The following tables present the main adjustments: 

In €’000 For the year ended December 31,

2020 2019

As reported in 

the past

Adjustment’s 

impact

AS reported in 

these financial 

statements

As reported in 

the past

Adjustment’s 

impact

AS reported in 

these financial 

statements

Revenues from contract work in progress - 85,651 85,651 - 152,844 152,844

Revenues from sale of apartments 19,286 - 19,286 54,705 - 54,705

Rental revenues 9,308 - 9,308 9,055 - 9,055

Management fees and other operating revenues 840 - 840 791 - 791

Total revenues 29,434 85,651 115,085 64,551 152,844 217,395

Cost of contract work in progress - 106,137 106,137 - 167,825 167,825

Cost of apartments sold 18,945 - 18,945 46,965 - 46,965

Rental costs 2,363 - 2,363 3,482 - 3,482

Management fees and other operating expenses, net 151 - 151 135 - 135

Total expenses 21,459 106,137 127,596 50,582 167,825 218,407

Gross profit (loss) 7,975 (20,486) (12,511) 13,969 (14,981) (1,012)

Selling and marketing expenses 2,426 1,623 4,049 3,109 3,563 6,672

General and administration expenses 6,838 8,442 15,280 6,705 12,489 19,194

Profit (loss) from operations before fair value

   adjustments, disposal of assets and investment 

and other income (expenses) (1,289) (30,551) (31,840) 4,155 (31,033) (26,878)

Adjustment to fair value of investment properties (26,723) - (26,723) - - -

Other income (expenses), net 1,049 826 1,875 (1,555) (4,264) (5,819)

Loss from operations (26,963) (29,725) (56,688) 2,600 (35,297) (32,697)

Financial income 6,999 3,108 10,107 852 445 1,297

Financial expenses (42,549) (1,974) (44,523) (70,343) (5,921) (76,264)

Total financial expenses, net (35,550) 1,134 (34,416) (69,491) (5,476) (74,967)

Loss before share of profit from investments 

accounted for using the equity method (62,513) (28,591) (91,104) (66,891) (40,773) (107,664)

Share of profit of investments accounted for using 

the equity method, net 9,935 3,082 13,017 14,667 1,028 15,695

Loss before income taxes (52,578) (25,509) (78,087) (52,224) (39,745) (91,969)

Income tax expenses (benefit) (4,580) 1,921 (2,659) 727 5,139 5,866

loss from continued operations (47,998) (27,430) (75,428) (52,951) (44,884) (97,835)

loss from discontinued operations (21,786) 21,786 - (35,477) 36,949 1,472

Loss for the period (69,784) (5,644) (75,428) (88,428) (7,935) (96,363)
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In €’000 As of December 31, 2020 As of December 31, 2019

As reported in 

the past

Adjustments  

impact

As reported in 

these financial 

statements

As reported in

 the past

Adjustments  

impact

As reported in 

these financial 

statements

Current Assets

Assets held for sale 107,888 (17,746) 90,142 183,523 (12,102) 171,421

Equity (deficit) attributable to equity holders  

of the parent 
Accumulated loss (440,941) (17,746) (458,687) (392,934) (12,102) (405,036)

D.  FINANCIAL POSITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (TGI) THAT WAS PRESENTED AS HELD FOR SALE AND IT WAS 
RECLASSIFIED DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD:

1.  In the years 2021 and 2020 TGI reported a loss of €41.4 million and €27.4 million, respectively, negative cash flow from opera-
ting activities in the amount of €3.6 million and €6.9 million, respectively and a negative working capital of €85.5 million as of 
December 31, 2021 (€56.4 million in 2020).

2.  In order to finance its operations, TGI has utilized short term credit lines from banks amounting to €59 million and guarantees 
for projects amounting to €56 million as of December 31, 2021. . Starting in 2020, TGI has been negotiating with the financing 
banks a reorganization plan, according to which the banks will continue to support TGI while making efforts to reorganize and 
improve its operations and return to solid financial performance. TGI’s management believes that with the help of the banks, TGI 
will have the resources that will enable it to improve its financial position. Nevertheless, as of the date of this report, there is no 
certainty that the continuation of the discussions with the banks will mature in a binding agreement, its terms and / or the date of 
its approval.

3.  As of December 31, 2021, TGI did not meet financial covenants in relation to credit lines from banks, for which waivers were 
received from the banks. The waivers are valid until the financial statements as of March 31, 2022. It should be noted that TGI did 
not meet its financial covenants also in previous periods (since September 2018). Although TGI is in breach towards the banks, as 
of the date of approval of these financial statements, the banks have not taken any legal action towards TGI.

4.  In their opinion on TGI’s financial information as of December 31, 2021, the external auditors of TGI included a mandatory 
emphasis of matter paragraph regarding significant doubts regarding TGI’s ability to continue as going concern. No adjustments 
were made to the carrying values of the assets and liabilities of TGI that would be required if TGI is not presented as a going 
concern.  

E. COLLATERALS

As of December 31, 2021, the shares the Company (indirectly) owns in GTC RE, KLC and TGI are pledged in favor of the trustees of 
the Company’s debenture holders. 

F. DIVIDEND

The following dividend amounts were received in the reporting period:

€ in thousands 2020 2020

Subsidiaries 14,838 12,740
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2021

€ in thousands

Motor

vehicles

Office furniture 

and equipment

Buildings and

real estate

Machines and 

equipment

Leasehold

improvements

Total

Cost:

Balance as of January 1, 2021 129 1,955 - - 1,011 3,095

Additions from reconsolidation of discontinued 
operations 748 8,794 862 27,946 177 38,527

Additions 33 47 - 982 4 1,066

Disposals (17) (2,029) - (332) - (2,378)

Exchange rate differences (17) (75) (44) (1,072) (74) (1,282)

Balance as of December 31, 2021 876 8,692 818 27,524 1,118 39,028

Accumulated depreciation:

Balance as of January 1, 2021 117 1,573 - - 903 2,593

Additions from reconsolidation of discontinued 
operations

345 6,613
536 22,606

125 30,225

Depreciation for the year 2 494 - 299 36 831

Disposals (15) (1,015) - - - (1,030)

Exchange rate differences (4) (29) (28) (876) (26) (963)

Balance as of December 31, 2021 445 7,636 508 22,029 1,038 31,656

Net book value December 31, 2021 431 1,056 310 5,495 80 7,372

2020 

€ in thousands

Motor

vehicles

Office furniture 

and equipment

Buildings and

real estate

Machines and 

equipment

Leasehold

improvements

Total

Cost:

Balance as of January 1, 2020 132 1,911 - - 1,092 3,135

Additions - 99 - - 34 133

Disposals - (9) - - (90) (99)

Exchange rate differences (3) (46) - - (25) (74)

Balance as of December 31, 2020 129 1,955 - - 1,011 3,095

Accumulated depreciation:

Balance as of January 1, 2020 116 1,446 - - 953 2,515

Depreciation for the year 3 170 - - 41 214

Disposals - (6) - - (69) (75)

Exchange rate differences (2) (37) - - (22) (61)

Balance as of December 31, 2020 117 1,573 - - 903 2,593

Net book value December 31, 2020 12 382 - - 108 502

6. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
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7. INVESTMENT PROPERTY
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020 investment property solely comprises the shopping mall in the city of Dalian, China (‘Galleria 
Dalian’). 

A. THE MOVEMENTS IN INVESTMENT PROPERTY ARE AS FOLLOWS:

€ in thousands 2021 2020

Opening balance 182,555 214,577

Capital expenditure 337 128

Fair value adjustments (29,187) (26,723)

Foreign currency translation differences 18,463 (5,427)

Closing balance 172,168 182,555

Total accumulated unrealized gains as of the end of the period which recognized in the  

statement of profit and loss (21,320) 7,898

The investment property is pledged as security to a loan (see Note 17). 

B.  FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF INVESTMENT PROPERTY (LEVEL 3 OF FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY) - 
SIGNIFICANT ASSUMPTIONS:

The fair value of investment properties has been determined on a market value basis in accordance with RICS (Royal Institution 
of Chartered Surveyors) Valuation – Professional Standards, as set out by the RICS. In arriving at their estimates of market values, 
the external appraiser has relied on their market knowledge and professional judgment and not only relied on historical transaction 
comparables.

Over the years, the valuations of the Galleria Dalian have been based on the use of a weighted average between two valuation 
methods: the DCF method and the comparison method. During 2020, the weight given to the DCF method increased, in light of the 
lack of relevant comparable transactions, due to, among other things, the Corona impact. As of the valuation as of March 31, 2021, 
the Company relies exclusively on the DCF method, as the Company is of the opinion that the lack of comparable transactions in the 
local market in China no longer allows reliance on this method.
 
Significant assumptions used in the valuation of the investment property:

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

DCF method 

Estimated rental value per sqm per month (in €) 29 26

Rental growth 0% - (Y) 1

5% (Y) 2

10% (Y) 3-4

8% (Y) 5-7

5% (Y) 8-9

3% (Y) 10-11

0% - (Y) 1

10%-13% (Y) 2-4

8% (Y) 5-6

5% (Y) 7-8

3% (Y) 9-11

Terminal cap rate 5.85% 5.5%

Occupancy rate 94%-96% 88%-96%

Discount rate 11% 10.5%

Direct Comparison method

Adopted unit rate (RMB/sqm) - 14,906
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C. SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS:

The table below presents the sensitivity of the profit (loss) before tax due to change in the following assumptions:

€ in thousands December 31, 2021

Increase of 25 BP in discount rate and terminal cap (7,064)

Decrease of 25 BP in discount rate and terminal cap 7,895

Increase of 5% in estimated rental income 8,172

Decrease of 5% in estimated rental income (8,034)

Increase in general vacancy by 1% (1,524)

8. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES

A. MAIN JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES:

The Company holds, through its subsidiaries, the following main joint ventures and affiliated companies that are accounted for using the 
equity method:

% of ownership by the direct 

holding company as of

December 31

Holding company Name of joint venture 2021 2020 Country Nature of activities

Kardan Land China Limited GTC Lucky Hope Dadong Ltd. 50.0 50.0 Hong Kong Holding 
 Green Power Development Ltd. 50.0 50.0 Hong Kong Holding 

Rainfield Development Ltd. 50.0 50.0 Hong Kong Holding 

Shaanxi GTC Lucky Hope Real 

Estate Development Ltd. 50.0 50.0 China

Real estate development, property lease 

and property management

GTC Real estate Holding B.V.  GTC Investments B.V. 48.75 48.75 Netherlands Holding (Inactive)

Task Water B.V. Akfen SU Kanalizasyon 50.0 50.0 Turkey

Management and construction of 

drinking water facilities

Sitahal ‘Hagal’ (Talia) Partnership Energy Hagal- Talia Partnership 50.0 50.0 Israel Biogas projects

Tahal Group B.V. Agroquiminha LDA 20.0 20.0 Angola Agriculture (Inactive)

Tahal Group Assets B.V. MVV Water Utility Pvt Ltd. 23.0 23.0 India Water desalination

B. COMPOSITION:

€ in thousands December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 

Total of equity investments 43,408 32,192

Less impairments (3,970) (3,970)

39,438 28,222

Loans and other long-term balances 8,883 15,115

Total investment in joint ventures 48,321 43,337

 

During the years 2020 and 2021, dividends amounting to €12.7 million and €2.8 million, respectively, were distributed by joint venture 
companies.
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C. LOANS:

€ in thousands December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

In EUR 708 7,062

In USD 8,133 8,033

In other currencies 42 20

8,883 15,115

The loans do not bear interest and are expected to be repaid according to the liquidity position of the joint ventures.

D.  SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL DATA OF MATERIAL JOINT VENTURE COMPANIES ACCOUNTED USING THE 
EQUITY METHOD:

Shaanxi GTC Lucky Hope Real Estate Development Ltd. 
Summary of financial data from the statement of financial position:

€ in thousands December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Current assets (not including cash and cash equivalent) 66,276 62,991

Cash and cash equivalent 17,997 43,355

Non-current assets 6,226 3,113

Current liabilities (9,768) (50,866)

Current financial liabilities (12,011) (18,426)
Total equity attributed to the owners 68,720 40,167

% held in the joint venture 50 50
Total investment in the joint venture 34,360 20,084

Summary of financial data from the income statement:

€ in thousands For the year ended

2021 2020 2019

Revenues from operations 46,747 45,508 52,681

Cost of operations (11,069) (15,670) (25,573)

Selling and marketing, general and administrative and other expenses (*) (2,576) (3,047)                     (7,537)

Other Financial income 1,081 973 1,032

Profit before tax 34,183 27,764 20,603

Income tax expenses (11,371) (11,789) (6,125)

Profit for the year 22,812 15,975 14,478

% Held of the joint venture 50 50 50

Group’s share of profit for the year 11,406 7,988 7,239

Total comprehensive income attributed to equity holders 28,552 14,584 14,398

% Held of the joint venture 50 50 50

Group share of the total comprehensive income 14,276 7,292 7,199

(*) Depreciation and amortization expenses for the years 2021, 2020 and 2019 are immaterial.
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GREEN POWER Development Ltd. 
Summary of financial data from the statement of financial position:

€ in thousands December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Current assets (not including cash and cash equivalent) 34,232 34,564

Cash and cash equivalent 3,486 10,246

Non-current assets 4,629 3,898

Current liabilities (4,812) (10,808)

Current financial liabilities (31,378) (24,324)

Non-controlling interest holders (323) (538)
Total equity attributed to the owners 5,834 13,038

% held in the joint venture 50 50
Total investment in the joint venture 2,917 6,519

Summary of financial data from the income statement:

€ in thousands For the year ended

2021 2020 2019

Revenues from operations 4,552 20,032 54,100

Cost of operations (3,755) (10,122) (20,005)

Selling and marketing, general and administrative and other expenses (*) (1,730) (1,849) (3,308)

Financial (expense) income (131) 403 73

Profit before tax (1,064) 8,464 30,860

Income tax expenses (958) (5,869) (12,438)

Profit (loss) for the year (2,022) 2,595 18,422

Gain (loss) attributed to non-controlling interest 92 (290) (1,429)

Profit (loss) for the year (1,930) 2,305 16,993

% Held of the joint venture 50 50 50

Group’s share of profit (loss) for the year (965) 1,153 8,497

Total comprehensive income (expense) attributed to equity holders (1,598) 1,626 16,720

% Held of the joint venture 50 50 50

Group share of the total comprehensive income (expense) (799) 813 8,360

(*) Depreciation and amortization expenses for the years 2021, 2020 and 2019 are immaterial.

E. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

1. Capital commitments:
As of December 31, 2021, KLC’s share in the contractual commitments of its joint ventures amounted to €15,917 thousand (December 
31, 2020: €18,826 thousand).

2. Guarantees:
As of December 31, 2021, the joint ventures of KLC provided guarantees amounting to €54.4 million (December 31, 2020: €63.4 
million) in respect of mortgage facilities granted by certain banks relating to the mortgage loans arranged for certain purchasers of 
properties from the said companies. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default on mortgage payments by these purchasers 
before the expiration date of the guarantees, those companies are responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage principals and 
interest to the banks.
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The guarantee period starts from the dates of grant of the relevant mortgage loans and ends upon the issuance of real estate 
ownership certificates to the purchasers, which will generally be available within one to two years after the purchasers take possession 
of the relevant properties. The fair value of the guarantees is not significant. The management of the joint ventures considers that in 
the case of default on payments, the net realizable value of the related properties can cover the repayment of the outstanding mort-
gage principals together with the accrued interest and penalties, and therefore no provision has been made in the financial statements 
for the guarantees.

9. LONG-TERM LOANS AND RECEIVABLES 

COMPOSITION:

€ in thousands December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Long term prepaid expenses 354 769
Pledged deposit 5,239 -
Long term deposit 938 -
Other 1,279 290

7,810 1,059

10. APARTMENTS AND MERCHANDISE INVENTORY  

A. COMPOSITION:

€ in thousands December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Cost of apartments inventory and land bank (1) 7,562 24,371
Merchandise inventory (2) 7,870 -

15,432 24,371

 
(1) Cost of apartments inventory and land bank:
a. Cost of apartments inventory for sale includes completed apartments.
b.  As of December 31, 2021 and 2020 inventory in the amount of €4,846 thousand and €19,682 thousand, respectively, is pledged 

as security for a loan. After the balance sheet date, in January 2022, the pledged was released. 

(2) Merchandise inventory
Includes inventory in a subsidiary, Mast Foods S.A. (in Greece).

11. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND ACCRUED INCOME

A. COMPOSITION:

€ in thousands December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Trade receivables 36,872 7,960

Accrued income 18,879 -

Less provision for doubtful debts (3,410) (2,191)

52,341 5,769

Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing and are generally on 0-120 days terms.
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B.  THE AGING ANALYSIS OF TRADE RECEIVABLES, NET OF PROVISION FOR DOUBTFUL DEBTS IS AS 
FOLLOWS:

€ in thousands Past due (net of impairment)

December 31, Neither past due 

nor impaired

< 30 days 30 – 60 days 60 – 90 days 90 – 120 days 120 – 365 days >365 days Total

2021 23,907 4,553 1,162 285 773 1,864 918 33,462

2020 5,157 135 9 62 61 197 148 5,769

C. MOVEMENT IN THE PROVISION FOR DOUBTFUL DEBTS:

€ in thousands 2021 2020

Opening balance 2,191 1,621
Additions due to consolidation of discontinued operation 621 -
Addition during the year 386 1,148
Collection during the year (577) (526)
Foreign currency translation differences 789 (52)
Closing balance 3,410 2,191

 

12. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

€ in thousands December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

VAT receivable 4,985 28

Receivables from joint ventures of KLC 896 797

Prepaid expenses 8,058 322

Deposits 44 492

Other 3,963 234

17,946 1,873

13. SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

€ in thousands Average interest rate December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Deposits in NIS 0%-0.5% 316 255

Deposits in RMB 1.1%-4.4% - 374

Deposits in INR 5% 1,073 -

Pledged deposits in EUR 0% 39 169

Deposits in other currencies 0% 9 -

1,437 798

14. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

€ in thousands December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Cash at bank and in hand 17,071 24,672

Short-term deposits *) 696 25

17,767 24,697

*) As of December 31, 2021 and 2020 the range of the annual interest rate earned on short-term deposits was 0%-1.96%.
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15. ISSUED AND PAID-IN CAPITAL

A. COMPOSITION:

December 31, 2021 and 2020

Authorized Issued and paid-in

Number of shares

Ordinary shares with nominal value of €0.20 each 225,000,000 123,022,256

B. MOVEMENT IN ISSUED AND PAID-IN SHARES:
 
During 2021 and 2020 there were no movements in the issued and paid-in shares.

Number of shares par value in €

Balance as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 123,022,256 24,604,451

C. CHANGES IN SHARE CAPITAL 

1. During 2021, 2020 and 2019 there were no changes to the share capital. 
2.  The extraordinary general meetings of the shareholders of the Company held in January 2021and February 2022 approved the 

issue of shares to the Debenture Holders as part of the new debt settlement between the Company and the Debenture Holders, if 
completed. The new shares, if issued, will comprise, after the issue, 89.99% of the issued and paid-in capital of the Company. For 
details see Note 1C.

D. DIVIDEND:

In 2021 and 2020, the Company did not distribute dividends. 

E. RESTRICTIONS ON DISTRIBUTION:

In accordance with the Netherlands civil code, part of the retained earnings is restricted for distribution, following the regulation to 
maintain reserves in respect of unrealized fair value revaluation of real estate, cash flow hedges, foreign currency translation differences 
on investment in foreign operations, and equity gains from associates and joint ventures.

It is further noted that, according to the Deeds of Trust, there are limitations on distribution of dividends: dividend will not be distri-
buted before 75% of the debentures which were outstanding as at December 31, 2014 are repaid.

16. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

In 2021, following the appointment of a new CEO to TGI, an options plan for the new CEO was approved, according to which the 
CEO was granted 1,320 stock options. The options can be exercised into shares of TGI which will constitute approximately 5% of TGI’s 
issued and paid-in capital. 50% of the options will vest on August 1 2022; 25% will vest on February 1, 2023, and 25% will vest on 
August 1 2023. The options can be exercised until July 31, 2026, upon occurrence of an eligible event (sale of TGI shares or listing for 
trade), as specified in the options grant agreement. According to the agreement, the exercise price of the options will be calculated 
according to a value of zero to TGI. As of December 31, 2021, according to TGI’s fair value, it is estimated that the value of the options 
is immaterial, and accordingly no expense has been recognized.

In 2020, following the appointment of the former CEO of TGI, an option plan for the then new CEO was approved, according to 
which the CEO was granted 2,785 stock options, which, after exercising them, will constitute approximately 9.99% of TGI’s issued and 
paid-in capital. The options will vest in three equal installments on August 1 of each of the years 2021, 2022 and 2023. The options 
may be exercised until July 31, 2025, upon occurrence of an eligible event (sale of TGI shares or listing for trade), as specified in the 
options grant agreement, according to a minimum transaction price, which will also constitute the exercise price of the options. As of 
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December 31, 2020, it was estimated that according to TGI’s fair value, the value of the options is immaterial, and accordingly no 
expense has been recognized. During 2021, following the retirement of this CEO, the options plan was canceled.

In 2012-2016, the Supervisory Board of TGI decided on several dates, to grant options to some of the senior executives in TGI and its 
subsidiaries. In 2020, all the options expired, except for 560 options that expired on January 30, 2021.

17. NON-CURRENT INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS

COMPOSITION:

A. Non-current liabilities

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

currency Weighted interest 

rate as of %

€ in thousands Weighted interest 

rate as of %

€ in thousands 

Project loan RMB 9.7 - 11.8 75,803
Other loans EUR 5 773 - -

Less:

Current maturities - (75,803)

773 -

B. Current liabilities

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

currency Weighted interest 

rate as of %

€ in thousands Weighted interest 

rate as of %

€ in thousands 

Project loan (1) RMB 9.7 53,999 - -

Project loan - Current maturities (1) RMB 9.7 8,394 11.8 75,803
Loans from banks (2) NIS 9 836 - -
Loans from banks (2) USD 5.25 57,471 - -
Loans from banks (2) EURO 3 830 - -
Bank credit INR 9 3,714 - -

125,244 75,803

(1)  As of December 31, 2021 the balance relates to a loan in the amount of RMB 450 million which was granted in December 2021 by 
a Chinese Bank for the purpose of refinancing the Fund Loan, as detailed below. The fund loan, in an initial amount of RMB 900 
million, was granted in 2017 to Kardan Land Dalian Ltd. (‘the Project Company’), for the financing of the Europark Dalian project. 
The loan was granted for a period of 3 years with an extension option of additional one year until November 5, 2021, if mutually 
agreed by all parties. In September 2020, KLC signed an extension agreement to extend the loan period for one additional year 
(until November 5, 2021), with largely similar terms as in the original loan agreement. 

  During 2021, KLC made several repayments in a total amount of RMB 132 million,  as required by the extension agreement, so 
after these repayments, the loan balance was RMB 474 million. On November 3, 2021, KLC received a letter from the financing 
fund approving the loan extension of RMB 450 million (out of a balance of RMB 474 million, as stated) for another year, until 
5 November 2022 (and as a result, it will not be due for immediate repayment on 5 November 2021), subject to, inter alia, the 
repayment of RMB 24 million and an increase of the loan interest rate to a nominal annual rate of 13%.

  In accordance with the agreements with the fund and in favor of the loan extension, on November 2, 2021, KLC repaid the said 
amount of RMB 24 million from the loan balance, so that on December 14, 2021, the date on which the extension agreements 
were signed between KLC, the Project Company and the fund, the outstanding loan balance was RMB 450 million.).
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  On December 14, 2021, KLC and the Project Company entered into an agreement to refinance the Fund Loan with Nan Yan Bank (a 
Chinese bank, hereinafter: ‘the Bank’). The loan, amounting to RMB 450 million (hereinafter: ‘the New Loan’), has the following terms:

 1.   The New Loan will be provided by the Bank for a period of 10 years from the date of its withdrawal.
 2.   The New Loan will bear interest at an annual rate of Prime + 5.35% in the first year and then, from the second year to the 

tenth year, interest at an annual rate of Prime + 4.35%. The interest will be paid in quarterly installments.
 3.  The purpose of the New Loan is to refinance the Fund Loan, the details of which have been given above.
 4.   The repayment of the loan principal will be in accordance with the agreed repayment schedule: in the first year - RMB 20 

million; in the second year – RMB 25 million; in the third year - RMB 30 million; in the fourth year - RMB 35 million; in the fifth 
year – RMB 40 million; in the sixth year – RMB 50 million; in the seventh year – RMB 55 million; in the eighth year -RMB 60 
million; in the ninth year - RMB 65 million; and in the tenth year - RMB 70 million.

 5.   In case of an early repayment, KLC will pay an early repayment fee at the rate of 1% of the amount of the early repayment. 
Early repayment is subject to the approval of the Bank.

 6.   The New Loan will be secured as follows: a pledge on Galleria Dalian and on the shares of the Project Company, a guarantee 
from KLC for all the obligations of the Project Company and a pledge on all receipts from the lease agreements relating to the 
the shopping mall.

 7.   The agreement includes various restrictions and obligations, the main ones are as follows:
 a.    The sale of the shares of the Project Company or of its direct holding company (a subsidiary of KLC), as well as the distri-

bution of dividends from KLC, will be subject to the approval of the bank.
 b.    Within 3 months from the date of the first withdrawal of funds on account of the loan, 70% of the tenants in the shopping 

mall must sign a declaration that they are aware and agree to the agreement between the Project Company and the Bank 
as well as sign a letter of assignment of rights.

 c.   Compliance with financial covenants as follows: both the Project Company and KLC will provide a security deposit (minimm 
cash amount) which will not be less than: (1) for the Project Company - an amount that is 5.55% of the New Loan amount 
(up to a maximum of RMB 25 million); (2) for KLC - an amount that is 5.55% of the New Loan amount up to a maximum 
of US $ 2 million. As of December 2021, the cash balances exist in the two companies together.

 8.   The agreement also includes obligations regarding the quality of the debt of the tenants in the shopping mall. In this respect, 
the obligations are that there are no  tenants (and there will be none) who have not repaid their debts on time; that there are 
no tenants (and there will be none) who are in an unreasonable dispute with the management of the shopping mall; the rate 
of tenants’ debts shall not increase for two consecutive months and it shall not exceed 10%; that there are no tenants (and 
there will be none) whose business situation is deteriorating. It should be clarified in this regard that KLC does not meet some 
of these obligations, however according to its assessment, based on legal advice it received regarding this loan, the risk that 
non-compliance with these obligations alone will result in any steps on the part of the lender is low. Nevertheless, in light of 
the above, the Company classified the loan as a short-term liability. 

 9.   Delay in any payment on account of the New Loan will result in interest in arrears at an annual rate of Prime + 8.85%.
 10. The agreement includes a provision according to which the Bank may make the loan immediately repayable in the event of a 

change in the law, , regulations or in the manner the Bank is managing its capital, which results in a of the interest rate at a rate 
not agreed by KLC.

The New Loan was fully provided by the Bank on December 27, 2021.

(2)   As of December 31, 2021, TGI has approved credit lines from one bank in a total amount of € 22 million. TGI does not have 
approved credit lines with its other financing banks, so that of the actual credit facilities with these banks is equal to the actual 
utilization. The total utilized credit (loans and guarantees) is approximately € 116 million as of December 31, 2021. The said credit 
bears variable interest rates such as Prime and / or LIBOR plus a margin.

For additional information regarding guarantees and covenants, see Note 21.
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18. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

€ in thousands December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Deferred revenues 2,038 1,692
Liabilities to joint venture in Chaina using the equity method 10,640 -
Other 6,282 109

18,960 1,801

19. DEBENTURES

COMPOSITION:

Par value (net) 

as of December

31, 2021

Balance as of 

December 

31, 2021

Balance as of

December 

31, 2020

Nominal 

Interest

rate

Effective 

interest 

rate

Currency and

linkage

Maturities

principal

NIS € in thousands % %

Issuer:

The Company – 2007 160,993,885 84,012 49,379 6.325 4.45% (a) 2017-2018

The Company – 2008 792,167,672 372,117 242,645 6.775 4.9% (a) 2017-2020

456,129 292,024

Less – current maturities (456,129) (292,024)

- -

a.  The Company’s Debentures (series A and series B) are traded on TASE. The Debentures are denominated in NIS and are linked to 
the Israeli CPI. 

 
b.  The Company has not repaid the principal and interest payments which were due in February 2018, 2019 and 2020. Conse-

quently, as of February 2018, the Company is in default according to the Deeds of Trust. Accordingly, from March 31, 2018 and 
until the repayments are rescheduled, the Debentures are presented as current liabilities. From the date of default, the Company’s 
management is in negotiations with the representatives of the Debenture Holders in order to reach a new debt settlement. For 
details see note 1C.

c.  On November 10, 2020 the Company paid to Debenture Holders Series B accumulated interest of approximately €7.5 (approxi-
mately NIS 29.5 million).

d.  2015 Debt settlement between the Company and its Debenture Holders
  In 2015 the Company reached a debt settlement with its Debenture Holders. The amended Deeds of Trust dated July 3, 2015 

constitute new deeds of trust to series A and B and replace the original deeds of trust, including all related amendments (‘the Deeds 
of Trust’). This debt settlement postponed the debt repayment dates that were determined in the original deeds of trust while 
repaying the debt in full to the Debenture Holders. 

  The settlement also included an increase to the interest rate as well as register primary, exclusive pledges with no limitations of 
amounts over all of the Group’s interests in GTC RE, KLC and TGI (the ‘Pledged Subsidiaries’).

   In addition, to secure the Company’s commitments, KLC provided a guarantee in favor of the trustees limited to an amount of 
€100 million. The trustees will not be able to use the guarantee or to take any action against KLC as long as the construction loan 
to the Dalian project has not been fully repaid, as well as loans that will be obtained, if obtained, in relation to the Dalian project.

  In addition, the Company established in favor of the trustees primary exclusive pledges with no limitations of amounts over the 
bank accounts of the Company (‘the Pledged Accounts’). All the funds in the Company’s possession, were deposited and kept 
in the Pledged Accounts, excluding the Free Amount (‘Free Amount‘ signifies  a maximum of €3 million, which will serve for the 
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payment of the Company’s general and administrative expenses), which will not be pledged in favor of the trustees and which can 
be deposited in a bank account which is not pledged in favor of the trustees. Insofar the said pledge has not been exercised, the 
Company may use the funds freely.

 Financial Covenants
  The Company’s debt coverage ratio shall not be below 100% during the years 2015 till 2017 (including) and shall not be below 

120% from 2018 onwards. If the Company’s coverage ratio in the years 2015-2017 shall be lower than 110%, and as of 2018 – 
lower than 130%, KLC’s coverage ratio shall not be lower than 180%. As of December 31, 2021 the Company did not meet the 
abovementioned coverage ratio. For additional details see Note 21.

 Restrictions on business activities
  It was agreed that the Company and its subsidiaries will have certain restrictions which related mostly to initiate any new business 

activity, making new investments and shall not be allowed to raise any new credit.

e.  Interest payable, amounting to approx. €121.1 million, is presented as part of the accrued expenses and was calculated according 
to the Deeds of Trust, considering the Company’s dfault. 

f. For details regarding financial covenants and pledges, please refer to the above and to Note 21.

20. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED EXPENSES

€ in thousands December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Accrued expenses 139,424 99,567

Payable to joint ventures of KLC accounted using the equity method 2,561 12,229

Liabilities in respect of contracts with customers and work in progress 9,318 -
VAT payables 6,634 -

provisions for project loss 50,972 -

Others 10,347 6,063

219,256 117,859

21. LIENS, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS

A. FINANCIAL COVENANTS: 

a.  The Company’s financial covenants, as defined within the framework of the Deeds of Trust, relate to the debt coverage ratio of 
the Company, as described in Note 19 above. Non-compliance with the debt coverage ratio for two consecutive quarters would 
be considered as a breach of the covenants. As at December 31, 2021, the Company did not meet the coverage ratio as agreed 
with the Company’s debenture holders. In addition, in February 2018, 2019 and 2020, the Company did not make the scheduled 
repayments to the debenture holders. Accordingly, as of the date of this report, the debenture holders have the right to call the 
debentures for immediate repayment.

   
b.  As described in Note 17, KLC Group committed towards bank which granted a loan for financing the Dalian project, to meet 

certain obligation regarding the quality of the debt of the tenants in the shopping mall. It is clarified in this regard that KLC does 
not meet some of these commitments, but according to its assessment, based on legal advice it received regarding this loan, the 
risk that non-compliance with these obligations alone will result in any steps on the part of the lender is low. Nevertheless, in light 
of the above, the Company classified the loan as a short-term liability.

c.  TGI Group has committed to the banks, in respect of short-term loans, credit facilities and guarantees, to maintain certain financial 
covenants such as: minimum equity, EBITDA, equity ratio to total balance sheet, equity ratio to net debt and financial debt to total 
balance sheet. In addition, restrictions were imposed on TCE on the distribution of dividend. As of December 31, 2021, TGI did not 
meet certain financial covenants relating to bank credit lines, for which waivers were received from the banks. The waivers include 
various restrictions and stipulations and limited in until the financial statements as of March 31, 2022. It is noted that TGI did not 
meet its financial covenants also in previous periods (starting September 2018).
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B. PLEDGES

a.  Within the framework of the Deeds of Trust, as described in Note 19 above, the Company pledged in favor of the trustees of the 
debenture holders of the Company all its rights in shares and loans of the subsidiaries GTC RE, TGI and KLC, and certain bank 
accounts.

 
b.  As of December 31, 2021, loans amounting to €62.4 million granted to a subsidiary of KLC was secured by mortgages over 

investment property, inventory and trade receivables (see Note 17).

C. GUARANTEES:

a.  As at December 31, 2021, Kardan Land China provided guarantees amounting to €1,907 thousand (December 31, 2020 - €1,860 
thousand), in respect of mortgage facilities granted by certain banks relating to the mortgage loans arranged for certain purchasers 
of the Kardan Land China Group’s apartments, which were not provided for in the financial statements. Pursuant to the terms of 
the guarantees, upon default on mortgage payments by these purchasers before the expiry of the guarantees, the Kardan Land 
China Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage principals and interest to the banks.

  Kardan Land China guarantee period starts from the dates of grant of the relevant mortgage loans and ends upon the issuance of 
real estate ownership certificates to the purchasers, which will generally be available within one to two years after the purchasers 
take possession of the relevant properties. The fair value of the guarantees is not significant. The management of Kardan Land 
China considers that in the case of default on payments, the net realizable value of the related properties can cover the repayment 
of the outstanding mortgage principals together with the accrued interest and penalties and therefore no provision has been made 
in the financial statements for the guarantees.

b.  As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the TGI Group provided bank guarantees in the total amount of approximately €56.8 million 
and approximately €66.8 million, respectively, to the benefit of customers for advances received and performance guarantees. 

  In 2021 and 2020, TGI Group found it difficult to provide guarantees and collateral in favor of projects, which caused delays in 
the beginning of project execution and delays in receiving compensation for work performed. Due to the delays in the projects, 
guarantees provided by TGI Group in the total amount of approximately €3.9 million in 2021 and approximately €4.6 million in 
2020 have been forfeited. TGI’s financial statements include appropriate provisions for the above.

D. LEGAL CLAIMS AND CONTINGENCIES:

a.  The Company and its main subsidiary KLC do not have any material legal claims.

b.  In May 2021, a partnership owned by TGI, which operates a landfilled in Israel, received a letter from the Israel Land Authority 
(“ILA”) confirming the extension of the landfill’s operation contract for additional 6 years, ending in December 2027, subject to 
the payment of past debt in the amount of approximately NIS 86.5 million (€ 22.1 million). TGI rejects the demands of the ILA 
and appealed the decision in court. In the opinion of TGI’s management, in accordance with the opinion of its legal counsel, there 
are sufficient provisions made by TGI and it is even likely that they will be able to reach a settlement between the parties in an 
amount similar to the provisions made.

c.  In October 2021, the subsidiary TCE received a tax assessment from the Israeli Tax Authority, for the years 2015 to 2018, according 
to which, TCE should pay taxes in a cumulative amount (including interest and indexation) of approximately NIS 58 million (approxi-
mately €15.5 million). TCE strongly rejects the Tax Authority’s demand and intends to appeal it. As of the date of approving these 
financial statements, TCE and its tax advisors are in the initial stage of preparing the said appeal. TGI included in its financial state-
ments as of December 31, 2021 a provision for the said tax assessment. TGI’s management estimates that the provision is sufficient 

d.  In February and May 2020, TGI received from a banking corporation that is not one of the banks that finance the above, letters of 
claim for repayment of a debt of approximately €1.5 million, which, according to the bank, was not repaid on time. In addition, 
the bank claimed the right to full repayment of the loan balance in the amount of approximately €3.2 million, due to a breach. TGI 
replied to the letters and dismissed the bank’s claims except for payment delays. In negotiations with the Bank’s representatives, 
it was agreed that the parties would discuss the said debt after completing negotiations with the other TGI financing banks. As of 
the date of publication of this report, the parties have not yet begun such negotiations.
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E. COMMITMENTS:

a. With respect to commitments towards the debenture holders of the Company as outlined in the Deeds of Trust, refer to Note 19.

b.  As of December 31, 2021, KLC Group had commitments of €1.1 million (December 31, 2020: €1.1 million) principally relating to 
the property development cost of the construction projects of the KLC Group.

c. With respect to such guarantees provided in joint ventures companies, refer to Note 8.
F. LEASE COMMITMENTS:
 

1. Lease commitments – Group as lessor
KLC Group has entered into various lease contracts with tenants related to its property portfolio. The commercial property leases 
typically have lease terms between 2 and 20 years and include clauses to enable periodically upward revision of the rental charge 
according to prevailing market conditions. Some leases contain options to break before the end of the lease terms. 

Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable leases as of December 31, 2021 and 2020:

€ in thousands 2021 2020

First year  8,945 7,637

Second to fifth year  18,682 15,879

After the fifth Year  7,402 6,700
35,029 30,216

2. Lease commitments – Group as lessee
Companies in the Group have leased offices and vehicles under lease agreements. The minimum future rents that cannot be canceled 
for December 31, 2021 and 2020 are:

Future minimum rental payables:

€ in thousands 2021 2020

First year 711 261

Second year 470 235

Third year 363 -

1,544 496

22. OPERATING SEGMENTS 

A. GENERAL:

The Group’s operating businesses are organized and managed separately. Each segment represents a strategic business activity that 
offers different products and serves different markets. The segmentation was determined by the Company’s CODM – the CEO.
Allocated segment assets and liabilities are those directly linked to the segment activities in the operating companies. In most cases 
assets and liabilities of the holding companies are considered unallocated.

Real Estate 
The real estate activities are incorporated under GTC RE and currently include real estate in China. The real estate activity is divided 
into 2 separate segments: the development and sale of residential property, and the development and lease of investment properties 
(‘Real Estate development’ segment and ‘Real Estate investment property’ segment, respectively). 

The CODM examines the various segments performances in terms of various line of activity on the basis of the segment revenues, 
cost of sales, selling and marketing expenses, and general and administration expenses. The Investment Property segment also 
includes adjustments to fair value of investment property. The Real Estate Development segment also includes the share in the profit 
of investments accounted for using the equity method, which comprise a significant part of the results of this segment of operations. 
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Water Infrastructure 
 The Company’s water infrastructure operations, which are held through TGI Group, include worldwide operations through its subsid-
iaries, which operate in Central-Eastern Europe and Asia (mainly in India and Israel) and other regions around the world. TGI also 
operates a landfill and operates in the planning and execution of projects in the field of natural gas.

B. SEGMENTS RESULTS 

For the year ended December 31, 2021:

€ in thousands Real Estate 

TotalDevelopment Investment property Water Infrastructure

Revenues 17,720 9,675 101,633 129,028

Fair value adjustments of investment property - (29,187) - (29,187)

Total Income 17,720 (19,512) 101,633 99,841

Share in profit of investment accounted using 

the equity method 9,111 - - 9,111

Segment result 11,176 (23,210) (30,795) (42,829)

Unallocated expenses (3,427)

Loss before finance expenses, net (46,256)

Finance expenses, net (105,234)

Loss before income tax (151,490)

Income tax expenses 900

Loss for the period (150,590)

For the year ended December 31, 2020:

€ in thousands Real Estate 

TotalDevelopment Investment property Water Infrastructure*

Revenues 20,127 9,307 85,651 115,085

Fair value adjustments of investment property - (26,723) - (26,723)

Total Income 20,127 (17,416) 85,651 88,362

Share in profit of investments accounted using 
the equity method 9,935 - 3,082 13,017

Segment result 8,499 (20,414) (26,643) (38,558)

Unallocated expenses (5,113)

Loss before finance expenses, net (43,671)

Finance expenses, net (34,416)

Loss before income tax (78,087)

Tax benefit 2,659

Loss for the period (75,428)

* Retrospectively adjusted – See Note 5.
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For the year ended December 31, 2019:

€ in thousands Real Estate 

TotalDevelopment Investment property Water Infrastructure*

Total Income 55,496 9,055 152,844 217,395

Share in profit of investment accounted using 

the equity method 14,667 - 1,028 15,695

Segment result 18,666 4,029 (34,269) (11,574)

Unallocated expenses (5,428)

Loss before finance expenses, net (17,002)

Finance expenses, net (74,967)

Loss before income tax (91,969)

Income tax expense (5,866)

Loss from continuing operations (97,835)

Profit from discontinued operations 1,472

Loss for the period (96,363)

* Retrospectively adjusted – See Note 5.

C. SEGMENTS ASSETS

€ in thousands December 31

2021 2020

Real Estate – Development 54,197 68,421

Real Estate – Investment property 180,619 190,206

Water infrastructure 94,623 -

329,439 258,627

Assets held for sale - **90,142

Unallocated assets (*) 23,013 30,189

352,452 378,958

(*)   Most unallocated assets relate to cash balances at the level of the holding companies.

 (**) Retrospectively adjusted – See Note 5.

D. SEGMENTS LIABILITIES

€ in thousands December 31

2021 2020

Real Estate – Development 14,804  29,009 

Real Estate – Investment property 6,635  5,647 

Water infrastructure 184,855 -

206,294 34,656

Liabilities associated with assets held for sale - **142,753

Unallocated liabilities (*) 536,097  457,095 

742,391 634,504

(*) Most unallocated liabilities relate to financing at the level of the holding companies. 

(**) Retrospectively adjusted – See Note 5.
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E. INFORMATION ABOUT GEOGRAPHICAL AREAS:

(1) Revenues by geographical markets (according to location of customers):

€ in thousands For the year ended December 31,

 2021 2020 2019

China 27,395 29,434 64,551

Africa - 1,948 11,846

Russia and Eastern Europe 33,237 15,284 29,184

India 16,040 7,866 40,987

Israel 48,157 56,720 66,900

Greece 4,192 4,502 3,883

Others 7 (669) 44

129,028 115,085 217,395

The Company does not have any income generating activity in the Netherlands.

(2) Non-current assets by geographical areas (according to location of assets):

€ in thousands December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

China 172,585 183,013
Israel 3,371 -
Greece 2,667 -
Russia and former Soviet Union countries 1,133 -
Other 49 45

Non-current assets include investment properties and property, plant and equipment.
The Company does not have material non-current assets in the Netherlands.

Revenues from major customers, responsible for more than 10% of the revenues of the segment:

€ in thousands For the year ended December 31,

 2021 *2020 *2019

Customer A – Water Infrastructure 25,130 9,037 17,960

* Retrospectively adjusted – See Note 5.

23. REVENUES FROM CONTRACT WORK IN PROGRESS

€ in thousands For the year ended December 31

2021 *2020 *2019

Revenue from execution projects 83,604 56,671 114,521

Revenue from planning projects 13,352 22,660 26,252

Others 4,677 6,320 12,071

101,633 85,651 152,844

* Retrospectively adjusted – See Note 5.
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24. COST OF SALES

RENTAL COST:

€ in thousands For the year ended December 31

2021 2020 2019

Payroll and related expenses 423 420 859

Property management fee 474 509 527

Cleaning related cost 70 58 144

Safety and engineering system management fee 192 230 236

Car park management fee 189 142 186

Utility fees 107 264 367

Property Tax 1,005 612 998

Others 180 128 165

2,640 2,363 3,482

COST OF APPARTMENTS SOLD:

€ in thousands For the year ended December 31

2021 2020 2019

Land Cost 4,981 5,252 14,728

Construction Cost 7,742 7,519 21,262

Project management and supervision 1,347 945 2,566

Finance Cost 974 1,061 2,977

Impairment of car parks 1,542 2,316 -

Other (2,931) 1,852 5,432

13,655 18,945 46,965

COST OF CONTRACT WORK IN PROGRESS:

€ in thousands For the year ended December 31

2021 *2020 *2019

Payroll and related expenses 9,460 15,401 23,266

Subcontractors costs (including equipment) 38,911 27,707 63,561

Depreciation and amortization 2,409 2,250 3,632

Materials 5,933 10,620 28,236

Rent 17,092 13,929 13,497

Provisions for losses and forfeiture of guarantees 39,800 32,221 22,300

Other expenses 1,673 4,009 13,333

115,278 106,137 167,825

* Retrospectively adjusted – See Note 5.
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25. SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES

€ in thousands For the year ended December 31

2021 *2020 *2019

Payroll and related expenses 960  1,472 3,063
Commissions 408  577 776
Marketing and advertising 576  1,557 2,092
Consultants 2,776 - -
Other 1,581  443 741

6,301 4,049 6,672

* Retrospectively adjusted – See Note 5.

26. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

€ in thousands For the year ended December 31

2021 *2020 *2019

Payroll and related expenses 4,423  6,944 7,801
Management fees 1,536  1,758 2,532
Office maintenance 430  1,437 2,418
Professional fees 2,974 3,321 3,846
Depreciation and amortization 418  156 252
Other 1,894  1,664 2,345

11,675 15,280 19,194

* Retrospectively adjusted – See Note 5.

27. OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES), NET:

€ in thousands For the year ended December 31

2021 *2020 *2019

Profit from the sale of investee companies 1,013 2,308 -

Provision for claims (1,037) - -

Impairment of goodwill and investment - - (5,063)

Grants 788 - -

Other expenses (6,040) (433) (756)

(5,276) 1,875 (5,819)

* Retrospectively adjusted – See Note 5.
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28. FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES

€ in thousands For the year ended December 31

2021 *2020 *2019

Income:

Income from bank deposits 452 4,613 779
Income on long-term loans and borrowings - 31 445
Exchange differences, net - 3,380 -
Other - 2,083 73
Total financing income 452 10,107 1,297

Expenses:

Interest on loans and borrowings 10,946 12,429 14,817
Interest on debentures 35,722 32,032 26,499
Exchange differences, net 50,025 - 32,992
Other 8,993 62 1,956
Total financing expenses 105,686 44,523 76,264

* Retrospectively adjusted – See Note 5.

29. TAXES ON INCOME 

A. The Company has its statutory seat in the Netherlands and is therefore subject to taxation according to Dutch law.

  For 2021, the standard Dutch corporate income tax rate amounts to 25%. A tax rate of 15% applies to the first €245 thousand 
of taxable income (2020: 16.5% applies to the first €200 thousand of taxable income).

 Dutch Participation Exemption 
  The Company benefits from the Dutch Participation Exemption regime (“Participation Exemption”). The Participation Exemption 

exempts income, such as dividends, capital gains, but also capital losses realized with respect to a qualifying participation, held by 
a Dutch shareholder. 

 Interest deduction limitation rule (earning stripping rule)
  Effective from 1 January 2019, the Netherlands introduced the 30% Earnings Before Interest Tax, Depreciation and Amortization 

(EBITDA) rule in line with the interest deduction limitation rules as outlined in the EU Anti-Tax Avoidance Directive (earnings 
stripping rule). The earning stripping rule is a general limitation based on which net borrowing costs on debt attracted from both 
related and unrelated parties by a Dutch taxpayer will only be tax-deductible up to 30% of a taxpayer’s corrected taxable profit 
(The tax rate has been reduced to 20% starting from January,1 2022) with a minimum of € 1 million. The non-deductible amount 
of net borrowing costs can be carried forward indefinitely in time. 

  The Company has reviewed the impact of the earning stripping rule and concluded that the net borrowing costs (including foreign 
currency results) will not be fully tax-deductible in 2021. In addition, the Company estimates that reducing the rate of limitation 
on the offsetting of interest expenses from 30% to 20% as of January 1, 2022 will not affect the Company’s tax liability.

 Controlled Foreign Company (CFC) rules
  Effective from 1 January 2019, the Netherlands introduced Controlled Foreign Company-rules (or CFC-rules) as outlined in the 

EU Anti-Tax Avoidance Directive. Based on these rules, all undistributed passive income of a CFC will be included in the Dutch 
taxpayer’s taxable income. A company or permanent establishment qualifies as a CFC if both of the following conditions are met:

 •  A Dutch taxpayer has an interest of more than 50% in that foreign company or a permanent establishment.
 •  The entity or permanent establishment is tax resident in a jurisdiction listed on the EU list of non-cooperative jurisdictions (EU 

Blacklist) or in a jurisdiction with a statutory corporate income tax rate below 9% (exhaustive list of such countries will be 
published by the Ministry of Finance on an annual basis). 
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  If the above conditions are satisfied, the undistributed profit of the CFC is to be included in the Dutch tax base on a pro rata basis. 
The income to be included in the Dutch tax base consists of specific categories of passive income (dividends, interest, financial lease 
income, royalties and others). As an exception, the Dutch CFC rule does not apply if the CFC has substantial economic activities.

  The Company analyzed the impact of the new CFC-rules and concluded it should not have any impact on the Company, nor on 
other Dutch group companies.

 Measures to counter hybrid mismatches
  The Netherlands has implemented the EU Anti-Tax Avoidance Directive 2 covering hybrid mismatches. These rules aim to limit the 

deductibility of payments by or to hybrid entities or on hybrid financial instruments that result in a double deduction or a deduction 
without an inclusion.

  The Company analyzed the impact of the new anti-hybrid mismatch rules and concluded it should not have material impact on 
the tax position of the Company or other Dutch group companies.

 Withholding tax is conditional on interest and royalties
  The Netherlands has applied withholding tax on interest payments and royalties, as of January 1, 2021. Withholding tax, which 

will be levied against the general corporate tax rate (i.e. 25% in 2021) applies to interest payments and royalties made by a Dutch 
taxpayer, directly or indirectly, For related entities residing in:

 •  Jurisdiction listed in the list of non-cooperative jurisdictions of the European Union (EU blacklist) or in a jurisdiction with a stat-
utory income tax rate of less than 9% (an exhaustive list of such countries will be published by the Dutch Ministry of Finance 
on an annual basis); or

 •  A certain offensive situation.

  The company analyzed the impact of the new rules, concluding that they would not apply to payments made by the company or 
other companies in the group.

 Transfer pricing documentation requirements
  As per 2016, additional transfer pricing documentation requirements have been introduced for Dutch taxpayers that are part of a 

multinational group. These revised standards consist of:
 •  a “Master file” containing high-level information regarding the Company’s global business operations and transfer pricing 

policies; and
 •  a specific “Local file” containing information regarding material related party transactions and the company’s analysis of the 

transfer pricing determinations; and
 •  a Country-by-Country Reporting (“CbCR”) template containing aggregate information relating to the amount of revenue, 

profit (loss) before income tax, income tax paid and accrued, number of employees, stated capital, accumulated earnings and 
tangible assets other than cash or cash equivalents per entity in each jurisdiction in which the group operates.

  Although the Company is not required to submit the CbCR template regarding financial year 2021 to the Dutch Tax Authorities, 
it has the obligation to prepare a Master file and Local file for financial year 2021 before filing of the corporate income tax return 
for the same year.

B.  THE STATUTORY CORPORATE INCOME TAX RATES IN THE MAIN VARIOUS COUNTRIES OF OPERATION 
ARE AS FOLLOWS:

For the year ended December 31,

2021 2020

Tax rate

Country:

China 25% 25%

Hong-Kong 16.5% 16.5%

Israel 23% 23%

The Netherlands 15-25% 16.5-25%
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C. TAX PRESENTED IN THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT IS BROKEN DOWN AS FOLLOWS:

€ in thousands For the year ended December 31,

2021 *2020 *2019

Current taxes (2,645) 1,626 3,896
Deferred taxes (see also E below) 1,745 (4,285) 1,970
Taxes on income (tax benefit) (900) (2,659) 5,866

* Retrospectively adjusted – See Note 5.

D.  THE RECONCILIATION BETWEEN TAX EXPENSE AND THE PRODUCT OF ACCOUNTING PROFIT MULTI-
PLIED BY THE APPLICABLE TAX RATE IS AS FOLLOWS:

€ in thousands For the year ended December 31,

2021 *2020 *2019

Accounting loss (151,490) (78,087) (91,969)

Tax (tax benefit) expense computed at the statutory tax rate 25% (37,872) (19,522) (22,992)

Increase (decrease) in tax expense (tax benefit) due to:

Carry forwards tax losses for which no deferred tax assets were recognized 39,471 16,091 29,556
Share of results of investments accounted using the equity method (1,504) (3,253) (3,924)
Impact of different tax rates (995) 3,368 2,854
Other - 657 372
Taxes on income (tax benefit) (900) (2,659) 5,866

* Retrospectively adjusted – See Note 5.

E. COMPOSITION OF DEFERRED TAXES

€ in thousands Consolidated statement 

of financial position

Recorded in the income statement

December

31, 2021

December

*31, 2020

Movement

For the year ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019

Deferred income tax assets (tax liabilities): 

Investment properties - (1,572) 1,572 6,674 253

Carry forwards losses available for offset against future taxable income 998 1,369 (371) (885) -
Other 1,329 283 544 (10,074) 1,717

2,327 80 1,745 (4,285) 1,970

* Including deferred taxes in amount of approximately €502 thousand from TGI, which was not retroactively adjusted in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Tax presented in the consolidated statement of financial position is as follows:

€ in thousands December 31,

2021 2020

Net deferred income tax asset (Non-current) 2,924 2,574
Net deferred income tax liability (Non-current) (597) (1,992)

2,327 582
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F. LOSSES CARRY-FORWARD AND TAX ASSESSMENTS

The accumulated unused tax losses up to 2019 of Kardan N.V. company-only amount to €232.5 million (according to the filed 2019 
tax return, net of tax losses evaporated as per 1 January 2020). The Company’s tax losses incurred up to and including 2012 (approx-
imately €29.1 million) can be offset back one year and forward to 9 years. The limit on offsetting accumulated losses incurred starting 
in 2013 (approximately €203.3 million) has been lifted. To the extent that these losses can be offset indefinitely, the offsetting against 
profits for tax purposes will be limited from 1 January 2022 to the amount of €1 million plus 50% of the profit for tax purposes over 
€1 million. 

The Company received final tax assessments up to and including the year 2018. The Company does not expect the year 2021 to result 
with a tax liability. 

30. LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings (loss) per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit (loss) attributable to equity holders of the parent, 
after adjusting for interests on convertible shares of the Company and Group companies, by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding during  the year, plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued upon the conversion 
of all the potential dilutive ordinary shares into ordinary shares, adjusted for the effects of dilutive options and dilutive convertible 
debentures of the Company and of Group companies. 

THE FOLLOWING REFLECTS THE INCOME AND SHARE DATA USED IN THE BASIC EARNINGS (LOSS) PER 
SHARE COMPUTATIONS:

€ in thousands 2021 2020 2019

Net loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent (€ in thousands) (150,158)  *(73,672)  *(91,647)
weighted average number of ordinary shares for basic earnings per share 123,022 123,022 123,022

*) Retrospectively adjusted, see Note 5

Certain warrants and employee options issued by the Group were excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings (loss) per share as 
they did not result in a dilutive effect (‘out of the money’) as of December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019. 

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

A. INTRODUCTION

This Note deals with various disclosures required by IFRS 7 pertaining to risk management. 
Section B addresses the following risks on a consolidated basis:

1. Risk Management (financial, capital management and risk management structure);
2. Liquidity risk including maturity profile of liabilities;
3. Foreign currency risk including sensitivity analysis;
4. Market risk;
5. Price risk in relation to equity instruments;
6. Political risk;
7. Credit risks;
8. Interest rate risk including sensitivity analysis;
9. Fair value disclosures.
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B. THE KARDAN GROUP 

1. Risk management

Financial risk management
The Group’s principle financial instruments comprise of bank loans, debentures, receivables and cash deposits. The main purpose 
of these financial instruments is to finance the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial instruments such as trade 
receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The operations of the Group expose it to various financial risks, e.g. market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and price 
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 

Significant changes affecting the worldwide economic development could have consequences for the future results of the Group, its 
equity base, the value of its assets, its ability to comply with the covenants agreed upon with lenders, its ability to raise financing, as 
well as the terms of such financing and collection risks.

Kardan Group is active in Real Estate in China, and has water infrastructure operations mainly in India, Israel and CIS countries. In 
its operations the Group is therefore inherently exposed to a relatively high degree of entrepreneurial, geopolitical and legal risks in 
these markets which, by nature, have a different risk profile than developed markets. Moreover, particularly in the real estate market 
in which it operates, the Group is exposed to fluctuations in supply and demand. 

In their regular business updates, the boards of directors (as applicable) of the various Group companies provide overall risk-manage-
ment principles and specific measures with respect to certain risks to which they are exposed, e.g. exchange rate risk, interest rate risk, 
credit risk, and the use of derivative financial instruments. 

Capital management
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure capital preservation and maintain healthy capital ratios in order 
to support its business activities, optimize stakeholder value and monitor the status of existing covenants. 

The Group manages its capital structure and adjusts it, according to changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital 
structure, the Group decides on leverage policy, repayment and restructuring of debt and loans, investment or divestment of assets, 
dividend policy and the need, if any, to issue new shares or debentures.

It should be noted that in light of the Company’s losses in recent years, as well as the significant negative impact of changes in foreign 
currency rates, the Company has a capital deficit and it does not meet the covenants in accordance with the existing debt settlement.

Risk management structure
The Board of Directors of Kardan N.V. and of each Group company is responsible for identifying and controlling risks. 

(i) Corporate level
The Executive Management of Kardan N.V. (CEO, CFO) work closely with chief risk managers within the Group, by means of func-
tional lines of responsibility and jointly they have overall responsibility for the execution of the risk strategy and implementation of 
principles, frameworks, policies and limits. The Board of Directors of Kardan N.V. is responsible for monitoring the overall risk process, 
including the overall risk-management approach and for approving the risk strategies and principles.

(ii) Group companies
Some of the Kardan Group companies have appointed risk managers at their corporate levels as well as at country levels or subsidiary 
levels. 

(iii) Risk mitigation 
Kardan uses the analysis of the structure of its portfolios in order to mitigate excessive risk. The risk is spread among the different 
activities of the Kardan Group and in the countries of operation. The diversification of the businesses (investment property and devel-
opment real estate, water infrastructure projects) as well as collateral management are useful risk mitigation tools as well. In addition, 
management may change its targets in order to mitigate specific (excessive) risks.
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(iv) Excessive risk concentration
A concentration of risk may arise from financial instruments with similar characteristics that are affected likewise by changes in 
economic or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of Kardan’s performance to developments affecting a 
particular industry or geographical location.

In order to avoid excessive concentration of risks, Kardan’s policy is to maintain a diversified portfolio in terms of geography, industry, 
products and product features – geographical diversification (China, India, CIS, Israel, etc.); industry diversification (real estate and 
water infrastructure); product diversification (investment property and residential real estate, different types of water infrastructure 
projects).

2. Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting its obligations associated with financial liabilities 
that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.
To limit this risk, the Group finances its operations through diversified, short-term and long-term credit obtained from the public and insti-
tutional investors and from financial institutions. The Group raises financing according to needs and market conditions when required. 

The Company has not repaid the principal and interest payments which were due in February 2018, 2019 and 2020. Consequently, as of 
February 2018 the Company is in default according to the Deed of Trust. Accordingly, the debentures are presented as current liabilities. 
For details regarding a new debt settlement, please see Note 1C.

The Company’s main liquidity risk is compliance with its future obligations to repay the interest and principal payments of the debentures 
under the new debt settlement. Since the Company’s liquidity risk has materialized, the Company’s main challenge will be to meet the 
principal repayment dates of the principal and the interest to the debenture holders, as determined in the new debt settlement. The 
Company manages this risk by preparing forecasts dealing with liquidity that will be required of the Company in order to repay the prin-
cipal and interest payments to the bondholders and to finance its day-to-day operations. These forecasts included, among other things, 
the Company’s current cash balance as well as cash expected to be received from future activities and transactions.
It should be noted that the forecasts depend on factors that are not within the full control of the Company, and accordingly there is 
significant uncertainty regarding their realization (for more information, see Note 1C).

The following tables present the payment dates for financial liabilities as of December 31, 2021 and 2020 of the Group (except TGI that 
was presented as an asset held for sale in the relevant periods). The financial liabilities are presented according to the non-capitalized 
contractual cash flow. The table includes repayments of principal and interest. The forecasted interest is calculated according to the 
maturity tables of the financial liabilities. 

As of December 31, 2021:

 € in thousands 0-6 months 6-12 months 1 to 2 years Over 2 years Total

          

Liabilities

Trade payables 1,494 - - - 1,494

Other payables and accrued expenses 515 5,452 4,427 10,640 21,034

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 64,288 7,466 8,836 81,097 161,687

Debentures 456,129 - - - 456,129

Total liabilities 522,426 12,918 13,263 91,737 640,344
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As of December 31, 2020:

€ in thousands 0-3 months 4-12 months 1 to 2 years Total

        

Liabilities

Trade payables 1,373 - - 1,373

Other payables and accrued expenses 1,448 35,540 7,802 44,790

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 4,516 71,287 - 75,803

Debentures 365,237 - - 365,237

Total liabilities 372,574 106,827 7,802 487,203

3. Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows from a financial instrument will change as a result of changes in market 
prices. Market risk includes three types of risk: interest rate risk, currency risk, and other price risks such as share price risk and commodity 
price risk. Financial instruments that are affected by market risk include, inter alia, loans and credits, deposits and investments available 
for sale.

The Company operates in different segments, mainly emerging and developing markets. The Group is therefore exposed to structured 
risks, especially political and others that include economic and local legal matters. Regarding the consequences of the Russia-Ukraine 
crisis, see Note 1E.

Achieving the Group’s objectives depends on, among others, the pace of economic development of these markets and in particular the 
pace of development of the real estate sector and water infrastructure sectors. Low development pace in these markets and sectors may 
have a negative impact on Group’s business objectives. 

The Company closely monitors the economic developments in the countries of operations and directs management and financial 
resources to and from these regions based on its current strategy. China is considered to be the largest emerging economy in the world, 
which has been gradually shifting over the last decades from a central government-controlled economy to an open market economy and 
consequently more interlinked with international markets. 

The management of the Company believes that the following factors are instrumental in handling the above-mentioned risks:  
1. Skilled and experienced management team, combining local expertise with international experience in the countries of operation.
2. Focus on selection of major projects which are developed in stages, according to demand (real estate).
3. Strict due diligence before embarking on a project combined with high quality project management. 

4. Foreign currency risk

The foreign currency exchange rate risk arises from transactions conducted in a currency that is not the functional currency of the rele-
vant company in the Group.
Because of the Company’s activities in different countries, it is exposed to changes in the exchange rates of different currencies primarily 
Euro, NIS and RMB. In its water infrastructure activities, there is also exposure to US Dollar and Kwanza. In order to mitigate these risks, 
the Group companies evaluate, from time to time, the need to hedge the different currencies transactions. 
Most of the Company’s assets are denominated in RMB whereas it has NIS denominated debt. Consequently, changes in the currency 
rates have a significant effect both on Kardan NV’s results and equity. Foreign currency changes during 2021 had a material effect on the 
Group’s financial statements, in light of the strengthening of NIS against the EUR. 
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Linkage terms of monetary balances:

As of December 31, 2021:

€ in thousands In euros In US 

dollars

In NIS 

(Israel)

In RMB 

(China)

In other 

currencies

Non- 

monetary

Total

Assets

Property and equipment - - - - - 7,372 7,372

Investment properties - - - - - 172,168 172,168

Investments in companies accounted for using the equity method 530 8,311 - 21 21 39,438 48,321

Long-term receivables - 1,776 192 3,463 746 1,633 7,810

Deferred tax assets - - - - - 2,924 2,924

Inventory 3,703 - - - 4,167 7,562 15,432

Trade receivables and contracts with customers 2,257 - 15,701 6,868 31,840 - 56,666

Other receivables 66 - 1,194 1,256 - 20,039 22,555

Short-term investments 38 - 316 - 1,083 - 1,437

Cash and cash equivalents 494 705 3,069 10,741 2,758 - 17,767

7,088 10,792 20,472 22,349 40,615 251,136 352,452

Liabilities

Deferred tax liability - - - - - 597 597

Interest-bearing loans and borrowing 1,669 57,471 836 62,393 3,648 - 126,017

Other long-term liabilities 1,050 - - - - 19,157 20,207

Debentures - - 335,078 - - - 335,078

Other payables and accrued expenses 3,400 - 124,464 20,519 12,900 57,973 219,256

Trade payables 1,441 - 4,785 1,356 10,024 - 17,606

Advances from apartment buyers - - - - - 22,456 22,456

Income tax payable - - - - - 1,174 1,174

7,560 57,471 465,163 84,268 26,572 101,357 742,391

Differences between assets and liabilities (472) (46,679) (444,691) (61,919) 14,043 149,779 (389,939)
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As of December 31, 2020:

€ in thousands In 

euros

In US 

dollars

In NIS 

(Israel)

In RMB 

(China)

In other 

currencies

Non- 

monetary

Total

Assets

Property and equipment - - - - - 502 502

Investment properties - - - - - 182,555 182,555

Investments in companies accounted for using the equity method 7,062 8,033 - - 20 28,222 43,337

Long-term receivables 23 - - - - 1,036 1,059

Deferred tax assets - - - - - 582 582

Inventory - - - - - 24,371 24,371

Trade receivables - - - 5,769 - - 5,769

Other receivables 17 - - 1,513 - 3,616 5,146

Short-term investments 169 - 255 374 - - 798

Cash and cash equivalents 2,408 2,460 14 19,714 101 - 24,697

Assets classified as held for sale - - - - - 107,888 107,888

9,679 10,493 269 27,370 121 348,772 396,704

Liabilities

Deferred tax liability - - - - - - -

Interest-bearing loans and borrowing - - - 75,803 - - 75,803

Debentures - - 292,024 - - - 292,024

Other long-term liabilities - - - 109 - 1,692 1,801

Other payables and accrued expenses 993 - 73,218 43,648 - - 117,859

Trade payables 449 - - 924 - - 1,373

Advances from apartment buyers - - - - - 1,723 1,723

Income tax payable - - - - - 1,168 1,168

Liabilities associated with assets held for sale - - - - - 142,753 142,753
1,442 - 365,242 120,484 - 147,336 634,504

Differences between assets and liabilities 8,237 10,493 (364,973) (93,114) 121 201,436 (237,800)

The following tables present the impact of market risks on the Group’s profit and loss before tax. The risk factors include exchange rate 
risk.  In calculating for a certain exchange rate, all other variables are held constant. The sensitivity analysis was performed according 
to changes in risk factors which reflect the Group’s assessment of reasonable changes expected in the coming year.

€ in thousands Sensitivity to change in EUR\USD

Effect on profit and loss

+10% +5% -5% -10%

2021 (5,708) (2,854) 2,854 5,708

2020 (158) (79) 79 158

€ in thousands Sensitivity to change in EUR\ NIS

Effect on profit and loss

+10% +5% -5% -10%

2021 (45,604) (22,802) 22,802 45,604

2020 (36,522) (18,261) 18,261 36,522
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€ in thousands Sensitivity to change in RMB/EUR

Effect on profit and loss

+10% +5% -5% -10%

2021 (21) (10) 10 21

2020 (8) (4) 4 8

€ in thousands Sensitivity to change in Israeli CPI 

Effect on profit and loss

+3% +2% -2% -3%

2021 (10,052) (6,702) 6,702 10,052

2020 (8,761) (5,840) 5,840 8,761

5. Price risk
Price risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices 
(other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual 
financial instrument or its issuer or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market. 
Kardan’s price risk policy requires it to manage such risks by setting and monitoring objectives and constraints on investments, diver-
sification plans, and limits on investments in each country. 

The Group does not have a material exposure to financial instruments which are impacted by market prices, therefore it has no signi-
ficant price risk.

6. Political risk
The Group has significant business activities predominantly in China, Israel, India and CIS. Political and economic changes in these 
regions can have consequences on the Group’s activities, as well as an impact on the results and financial positions of the Group. 
The management is mitigating the risks which might derive from changes in the political trends by strict supervision, keeping up with 
changes and working closely with consultants in the field and relevant countries.  

7. Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty will not meet its obligations as a customer or its liabilities arising from a financial instrument 
and as a result the Group will incur a loss. Credit risk is also applicable to derivatives, financial guarantees and loan commitments. The 
Group is exposed to credit risk regarding its trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents, deposits, and other financial assets, financial 
guarantees and loan commitments. It is the policy of the Group, in general, to enter into trade agreements with reputable third parties 
with good credit ratings. 

Credit risk is controlled by the application of credit approvals, limits and monitoring procedures. To manage this risk, the Group compa-
nies periodically and regularly assess the financial viability of their customers and monitor their credit status.  Based on these assess-
ments the Group records appropriate provisions for the possibility of losses that may be incurred from provision of credit, with respect to 
specific debts whose collection is doubtful, according to relevant adopted policies. It should be noted that for TGI, most of its customers 
are various government and municipal entities, and the projects usually include a guaranteed financial closing. However, there are 
delays, sometimes significant, in payments and in financial closing that may cause the Group losses due to the need to use credit lines. 

A concentration of credit risk exists when changes in economic, industry, or geographic factors similarly affect groups of counterparties 
whose aggregate credit exposure is significant in relation to the Group’s total credit exposure. The Group’s portfolio of financial instru-
ments is diversified along product and geographic lines and transactions are entered into with various creditworthy counterparties, 
thereby mitigating any significant concentration of credit risk. 

Counterparties to financial instruments consist of a large number of financial institutions. The Group has no significant concentration 
of credit risk with any single counterpart or group of counterparties.

With respect to trade receivables, the maximum exposure is equal to the amount on the face of the statement of financial position 
(for more information see Note 11).
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As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, cash and cash equivalent amounted to €17,767 thousand and €24,697 thousand, respectively, 
and short-term deposits amounted to €1,437 thousand and €798 thousand, respectively (see Note 13 and 14). All deposits are 
deposited with highly rated financial institutions in the countries of operation. As of December 31, 2021, the Group operates primarily 
in China, where a majority of the banks and financial institutions are endorsed by the national credit and therefore the credit risks for 
banks and financial institutions in China are considered remote.

8. Interest-rate risk
Interest risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows from a financial instrument will change as a result of changes in market 
interest rates.

The Group’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates usually relates primarily to the Group’s long-term debt obligations. 
The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost using a combination of debt with fixed and variable interest rates. Interest rate risk 
management aims to limit the impact of fluctuations in interest rates on the results and reduce total interest expenses as much as 
possible. 

The majority of the Group’s financial liabilities (debentures, loans and borrowings) bear a fixed interest rate and hence not exposed 
to interest rate risk.
 

9. Fair value disclosure
Fair value risk is the risk that the balance of the financial instruments measured at fair value will be volatile due to changes in market 
conditions.

 
A.  Set out below is a comparison of the differences between the carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial instruments, 

which are not presented in the financial statements at fair value:

December 31, 2021 Methods of determining 

fair value

Carrying value Fair Value

€ in thousands Comment

Liabilities

Debentures (1) 456,129 57,896 1

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (3) 125,224 125,224 2

December 31, 2020 Methods of determining 

fair value

Carrying value Fair Value

€ in thousands Comment

Liabilities

Debentures (1) 365,237 52,201 1

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (3) 75,803 75,803 2

Methods of determining the fair value of the financial assets and liabilities:
Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
Level 2 – Other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either directly 
or indirectly; and
Level 3 – Techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that is not based on observable market 
data.

Financial instruments for which fair value could not be determined are immaterial.
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Comments regarding determining the fair value:
1.  Market prices of Debentures Series A and Series B of the Company have been used to determine the fair value of the Debentures 

listed for trade. A part of Debentures Series B which were not repaid nor extended, were delisted from trade on TASE. In order to 
determine their fair value, the market price of the traded Debentures Series B has been used. The repayment date of Debentures 
Series A has been extended, and therefore these debentures continued to be traded. For more information see Note 19. The carrying 
value includes accrued interest in the amount €121,052 thousand in 2021 and €73,213 thousand in 2020.

2.  As of December 31, 2021 and 2020 the loans bear a fixed interest rate, and management estimates that this rate is approximately 
the same as the one at yearend. For additional information, see Note 17.

3.  Management assumed that there is no significant difference between the carrying value of additional financial instruments, such as: 
cash and cash equivalent, short term investments, long term loans and receivables, trade and other receivables and trade and other 
payables, which were not included in the table above and their fair value, due to their short-term nature.

B. Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit and loss

€ in thousands December 31, 2021

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets:

Held for trading securities and other - - - -

€ in thousands December 31, 2020

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets:

Held for trading securities and other 379 - - 379

During 2021 and 2020 there have been no transfers between financial instruments valuated in Level 1 to Level 2 or between Level 2 to 
Level 1. 

C. Changes in financial liabilities that the cash flows from which are classified as cash flows from financing activities:

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 2021 2020

€ in thousands

Opening balance 75,803 95,029

Cash paid (88,120) (17,075)

Cash received 59,066 -

Amounts recorded in P&L 8,281 82

Amounts recorded in equity 7,363 (2,233)

Closing balance 62,393 75,803

Short term interest bearing loans and borrowings 2021 2020

€ in thousands

Opening balance 54,513 59,478

Cash paid 3,901 1,434

Amounts recorded in P&L 4,437 (6,399)

Closing balance 62,851 54,513
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D. IFRS 9 classification of financial assets and liabilities:

€ in thousands December 31,

2021 2020

Financial assets:

Cash and cash equivalent, loans and receivables 32,794 75,886

Financial liabilities:

Financial liabilities presented at amortized cost 641,034 488,336

32. RELATED PARTIES 

The Group has entered into a variety of transactions with its related parties. The Group has adopted the policy to enter into such transac-
tions, which are being concluded in the normal course of business, on an arm’s-length basis. The sales and purchases from related parties 
are made at comparable normal market prices. Outstanding balances relating to such sales and purchases at year-end are unsecured, 
interest free, and settlement occurs in cash. Outstanding loans from related parties are unsecured and presented with accrued interest. 
The significant of these balances and transactions are as follows:

A. BALANCES:

€ in thousands Note December 31,

2021 2020

Joint ventures Affiliated companies Joint ventures

Other receivables and prepayments 12 864 66 797

Loans to companies accounted for using the equity method 8 12,376 - 15,115

Other payables and accrued expenses 21 13,196 1,278 12,229

B. TRANSACTIONS

€ in thousands Note Joint ventures Other related parties

For the year ended December 31, 2021:

Management fee, net 761 -

Financial expenses - 111

For the year ended December 31, 2020:

Management fee, net 859 (7)

For the year ended December 31, 2019:

Management fee, net 822 (40)

1.  Management fees for the years 2021, 2020 and 2019 relate mostly to management fees from joint ventures received by Kardan Land 
China. Finance income from joint ventures is generated from loans granted to joint ventures. 

2.  In April 2019, the service agreement between the Company and Kardan Israel Ltd. has been amended. According to the amendment, 
effective June 6, 2019, the scope of services will be reduced and accordingly, the corresponding service fees would be reduced to a 
total of approximately €33 thousand per year (128 NIS thousand per year), linked to Israeli CPI.  

 In January 2020, the parties have agreed to terminate the service agreement, effective March 16, 2020. 
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C. REMUNERATION TO RELATED PARTIES:

Remuneration of members of the Board of Directors and executive management, of the Company:

1. Board of Directors (*): 

In € ‘000 For the year ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019

162 208 208

(*) The amounts for the years 2019, 2020 and until May 31, 2021 related to 6 non-executive Board members; and from that date until 31 December 2021, to 3 non-exec-

utive members of the Board.

2. Executive Management (*): 

In € ‘000

For the year ended December 31,

Short-term employee 

benefits (**)

Post-employment pension 

and medical benefits

Total

2021 750 22 772
2020 710 21 731
2019 592 21 613

(*) The amounts relate to 2 executives in the years 2021 and 2019. In 2020 there were 3 executives starting October 1, 2020. 

(**) Short term employee benefits include bonuses over the years 2019, 2020 and 2021. 
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COMPANY-ONLY STATEMENT  
OF FINANCIAL POSITION
December 31, 2021
After appropriation of net result

In €’000 Note December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Assets

Non-current assets

Tangible fixed assets 22 44

Financial assets 4 80,270 160,787

80,292 160,831

Current assets

Short-term investments 6 319 419

Other receivables 3 540 234

Cash and cash equivalents 5 171 1,573

1,030 2,226

Total assets 81,322 163,057

Equity and liabilities

Equity

Share capital 25,276 25,276

Share premium 206,482 206,482

Foreign currency translation reserve (11,865) (28,323)

Property revaluation reserve - 5,158

Revaluation reserve, other 4,396 4,396

Accumulated deficit (600,115) *(458,687)

(375,826) (245,698)

Current liabilities

Current portion of debentures 7 335,077 292,024

Other payables 9 122,071 73,675

457,148 365,699

Liabilities directly associated with the assets classified as held for sale 13 - *43,056

Total equity and liabilities 81,322 163,057

(*) Retrospectively adjusted, see Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

See accompanying notes.
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COMPANY-ONLY INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended December 31, 2021

In €’000 Note 2021 2020

General and administration expenses 10 (2,213) (363)

Financial Income (expenses), net 11 (90,880) 53,879

Profit (loss) before share of profit from investments accounted for using the equity method (93,093) 53,516

Share of (loss) profit of subsidiaries 4 (57,065) *(127,188)

Loss before income taxes (150,158) (73,672)

Income tax expenses 8 - -

Loss for the year (150,158) (73,672)

(*) Retrospectively adjusted, see Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

See accompanying notes.
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COMPANY-ONLY STATEMENT OF OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the year ended December 31, 2021

In €’000 2021 2020

Net loss for the year (150,158) (73,672)

Foreign currency translation differences 16,458 (9,285)
Change in hedge reserve, net - (37)
Other comprehensive expense for the year to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods 16,458 (9,322)
Total comprehensive expense (133,700) (82,994)
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COMPANY-ONLY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN 
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Year ended December 31, 2021

In €’000 Issued
and

paid-in
capital

Share
premium

Foreign
currency

translation
reserve (*)

Property
revaluation
reserve (*)

Revaluation
reserve,

other (*)

Accumulated 
deficit (*) 

Total

Balance as of January 1, 2020 25,276 206,482 (19,038) 25,179 4,433 ***(405,036) (162,704)

Other comprehensive expense - - (9,285) - (37) - (9,322)
Loss for the year - - - - - ***(73,672) (73,672)
Total comprehensive expense - - (9,285) - (37) (73,672) (82,944)
Reclassification according Dutch civil cod, net 

of tax (*) - - - (20,021) - 20,021 -
Balance as of December 31, 2020 25,276 206,482 (28,323) 5,158 4,396 (458,687) (245,698)

Other comprehensive expense - - 16,458 - - - 16,458
Loss for the year - - - - - (150,158) (150,158)
Total comprehensive expense - - 16,458 - - (150,158) (133,700)
Expiration of options to shares - - - - 3,572 - 3,572
Reclassification according to Dutch civil code, 

net of tax (*) - - - (5,158) - 5,158 -
Balance as of December 31, 2021 25,276 206,482 (11,865) - 7,968 (603,687) (375,826)

(*) In accordance with the Dutch civil code, equity attributable to equity holders is restricted for distribution following the regulation to maintain reserves in respect of real estate 

unrealized fair value revaluations, cash flow hedges, foreign currency differences from investments in foreign operations and equity gains from associates and joint ventures (as 

also disclosed in Note 7A and 15E to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

(***) Retrospectively adjusted, see Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.
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COMPANY-ONLY CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the year ended December 31, 2021

In €’000 2021 2020

Cash flow from operating activities of the Company

Loss for the year (150,158) *(73,672)

Adjustments to reconcile profit (loss) to net cash of the Company

Financial expense 90,921 24,939

Equity earnings 57,065 *127,188

Profit from early repayment of debentures - (78,676)

Changes in working capital of the Company

Change in receivables (306) 2,159

Change in payables (13,862) 1,116

Cash amounts paid and received during the year

Dividend received 14,838 2,568

Interest paid - (7,382)

Net cash used in operating activities of the Company (1,502) (1,760)

Cash flow from investing activities of the Company

Short term investments, net 100 (122)

Investments in subsidiary - (500)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities of the Company 100 (622)

Cash flow from financing activities

Repayment of long-term debt - -

Net cash used in financing activities of the Company - -

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents of the Company (1,402) (2,382)

Foreign exchange differences relating to cash and cash equivalents - 97

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 1,573 3,858

Cash and cash equivalents of the Company at end of the year 171 1,573

(*) Retrospectively adjusted, see Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY-ONLY  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2021

1. GENERAL

The description of the Company’s activity and the Group structure, as included in the Notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
also apply to the Company-only financial statements, unless otherwise stated.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Company prepared its financial statements in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’) as adopted 
by the European Union. In case no other policies are mentioned, refer to the accounting policies as described in the accounting policies 
in the consolidated financial statements. For an appropriate interpretation, the company-only financial statements of Kardan N.V. 
should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements. 
The company financial statements are presented in Euros and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand (€ in thousands) except 
when otherwise indicated.

3. FINANCIAL ASSETS

Investments in consolidated subsidiaries are accounted for using the equity method.

1. The movement in the investment in consolidated subsidiaries can be summarized as follows:

In €’000 2021 2020

Balance as of January 1 160,787 288,098

Reconsolidation of asset held for sale (see Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements) (43,056) -

Investment in a subsidiary - 882

Change in capital reserves (*) 16,450 (3,601)

Dividend distributed (**) (426) (23,449)

Share of (loss) profit of subsidiaries (57,065) (99,653)
Expiration of options to shares 3,580 -
Loan received from a subsidiary - (1,490)
Balance as of December 31 80,270 160,787

(*) Primarily relates to foreign currency exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations.

(**) Including cash and non-cash distributions. In 2021, consists of the net investment in Kardan Financial Services B.V. that was distributed as dividend following the voluntary 

liquidation of that subsidiary.

Loans granted and received from subsidiaries are presented net of the investment in subsidiaries.
A loan, amounting to €14,293 thousand, which was granted by KFS, and presented net of the investment, was converted to a divi-
dend to the Company in 2021.
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2. Further specification of the investments in subsidiaries is as follows:

2021 2020

Names of subsidiaries Ownership Total Value Ownership Total Value

% In €’000 % In €’000

GTC Real Estate Holding B.V. 100 156,389 100 160,275

Kardan Financial Services B.V. (*) - - 100 512

Tahal Group International B.V. 98.43 (76,119) 98.43 -

Total investments in significant consolidated 
subsidiaries 80,270 160,787

(*) In December 2021, Kardan Financial Services B.V. was dissolved. 

4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

In €’000 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

EURO 86 1,230

NIS 84 17

USD 1 326

171 1,573

The cash is primarily composed of short-term deposits.

The average interest rate on short term deposits is 0.5%-1.5% p.a. in 2021 and 2020.

5. SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

In €’000 December 31,

2021 2020

Deposits 319 419

6. DEBENTURES

Composition:

In €’000 Par value as of December 

31, 2021 NIS

Balance as of December

31, 2021

Balance as of December 

31, 2020

Interest rate % Original Maturities

principal

Issuer:

The Company – 2007 160,993,885 84,012 49,379 6.325 2017-2018

The Company – 2008 792,167,672 372,117 242,645 6.775 2017-2020

456,129 292,024

A.  The Company has not repaid the principal and interest payments which were due in February 2018, February 2019 and February 
2020. Consequently, the Company is in default according to the Deed of Trust as of February 2018. Accordingly, from March 31, 
2018 and until the repayments are rescheduled, the debentures are presented as current liabilities. Since the company entered a 
state of default as mentioned above, the Company’s management is in negotiations with the representatives of the Debenture 
Holders in order to reach a new debt settlement. The main principles of the debt settlement are: (1) Conversion of part of the 
Company’s debt into share to the Debenture Holders, which will constitute approximately 89.9% of the Company’s issued and 
paid-in capital after the issuance; (2) The remaining balance of the debt after the conversion will be NIS 725 million; (3) The 
remaining debt balance shall be due on December 31, 2024 and will bear an annual interest rate of 6.8%; (4) The Company will 
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be required to use the cash flow available from the realization of assets and dividends to make early repayment; early repayment 
will bear additional fees; (5) The new shareholders will be entitled to appoint a majority of the members of the Company’s Board 
of Directors. (6) To secure the debt settlement, the company’s assets will be pledged, KLC will grant a guarantee and various 
restrictions will be imposed on the Company and its subsidiary, similar to the outline of the existing debt settlement. For additional 
information see Note 1C to the consolidate financial statements.

B.  On August 10, 2020, the subsidiaries Emerging Investment XII and GTC RE transferred to the Company their holding in Debentures 
of 136,506,115 par value Series A and 114,555,778 par value series B. Following the transfer, these debentures were cancelled 
and delisted from trade. The Company recognized a profit from early repayment of the debentures in the amount of €78.7 million. 
This profit is recorded only in the Company’s stand-alone financial statements (and not in the consolidated financial statements). 
This profit was generated due to the difference between the market value of the debentures and the book value of the liability. The 
subsidiaries recorded a loss of a similar amount, which is included in the ‘Share of profit (loss) of investee companies’.

C.  On November 10, 2020 the Company partially paid to Debenture Holders Series B accumulated interest of approximately €7.5 
(approximately NIS 29.5 million).

7. INCOME TAX EXPENSES 

The Company has received final tax assessments for all the years up to and including 2018. 

Loss for the year amounts to €150.2 million (2020: €73.7 million), including net result from investments of €57.1 million loss (2020: 
127.2 million loss), which is not deductible/taxable under the Participation Exemption. 

Effective from 1 January 2019, the Netherlands introduced the 30% Earnings Before Interest Tax, Depreciation and Amortization 
(EBITDA) rule in line with the interest deduction limitation rules as outlined in the EU Anti-Tax Avoidance Directive (earnings stripping 
rule). The earning stripping rule is a general limitation based on which net borrowing costs on debt attracted from both related and 
unrelated parties by a Dutch taxpayer will only be tax-deductible up to 30% of a taxpayer’s corrected taxable profit with a minimum 
of € 1 million. The non-deductible amount of net borrowing costs can be carried forward indefinitely in time. The Company has 
reviewed the impact of the earning stripping rule and concluded that the net borrowing costs (including foreign currency results) will 
not be fully tax-deductible in 2021. The Company assumes that the remaining other expenses and income will not result in tax bene-
fits or tax expenses due to the available tax losses from previous years of the Company.  

Up to 2019, Kardan N.V. has estimated tax losses of €232.5 million that are available for carry forward (according to the filed 2019 
tax return, net of tax losses evaporated as per 1 January 2020). Tax losses of the Company incurred up to and including 2012 (€29.1 
million) may be carried back one year and carried forward nine years. For the tax losses incurred since 2013 (€203.3 million), the 
carry forward limitation has been abolished. Although these losses may be carried forward indefinitely, the compensation with taxable 
profits will be limited as per 1 January 2022 to €1 million plus 50% of the taxable profit exceeding €1 million per year.  
  
For more information regarding to taxes on income see Note 29 to the Consolidated IFRS Financial Statements.

8. OTHER PAYABLES  

In €’000 December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Accrued expenses (mainly accrued interest on debentures) 121,503 73,213
Others 568 462

122,071 73,675
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9. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES   

In €’000 for the year ended December 31

2021 2020

Payroll and related expenses 673 702
Management fees 447 282
Office maintenance 134 138
Professional fees 1,141 1,121
Depreciation and amortization 22 42
Other income (net) (204) (1,922)

2,213 363

10. FINANCIAL EXPENSES, NET

In €’000 For the year ended December 31

2021 2020

Income:

Profit from debentures write-off - 78,676
Other - 2,702
Exchange differences - 9,341
Total financing income - 90,719

Expenses:

Interest on debentures 35,722 36,818
Exchange differences 47,744 -
Other 7,414 22
Total financing expenses 90,880 36,840

Total financing income (expenses) (90,880) 53,879

11. AUDIT FEES

The table below summarizes the fees invoiced to the Company’s by its independent external auditors, in 2021 and in 2020, respectively:

In €’000 In 2021 In 2020

Audit services – Kardan N.V. 320 310
Audit services – subsidiaries 515 515
Total statutory audit fees 835 825

Other services 108 41
Total 943 866
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12. ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

The composition of the investment in a subsidiary presented as assets held for sale is as follows:

2021 2020

Names of subsidiaries Ownership Total Value Ownership Total Value

% In €’000 % In €’000

Tahal Group International B.V. 98.43 - 98.43 (43,056)

Starting April 1, 2021, the Company stopped presenting TGI as Held for sale and Discontinued operation, and adjusted retrospecti-
vely its operations results, which were presented in its financial statements from March 31, 2017 as Disposal group Held for Sale and 
Discontinued operations. Accordingly, as of April 1, 2021 the Company is fully consolidating TGI in its financial statements.
For additional information relating to assets held for sale see Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

13. REMUNERATION OF MANAGEMENT AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company’s management and Board received remuneration in 2021 and 2020 as described in Note 32 to the Consolidated Finan-
cial Statements.

14. COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES, GUARANTEES, AND SUBSE-
QUENT EVENTS

For commitments, contingent liabilities, guarantees, see Note 21 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

16. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

For disclosures required by IFRS 7 regarding financial instruments and risk management, see Note 31 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
To: the general meeting of shareholders and the board of directors of Kardan N.V
. 

A. Report on the audit of the financial statements 2021 included in the annual report
 

Our opinion
We have audited the financial statements 2021 of Kardan N.V. based in Amsterdam.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Kardan N.V. as at 31 
December 2021 and of its result and its cash flows for 2021 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted 
by the European Union (EU-IFRS) and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. 

The financial statements comprise: 
 
1. the consolidated and company statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021; 
2. the following statements for 2021:
  the consolidated and company income statement, the consolidated and company statements of comprehensive income, changes 

in equity and cash flows; and 
3. the notes comprising a summary of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Basis for our opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards of Auditing. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the ‘Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. 

We are independent of Kardan N.V. in accordance with the Wet toezicht accountantsorganisaties (Wta, Audit firms supervision act), 
the Verordening inzake de onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assurance-opdrachten (ViO, Code of Ethics for Professional Accoun-
tants, a regulation with respect to independence) and other relevant independence regulations in the Netherlands. Furthermore we 
have complied with the Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels accountants (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics).  

We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Material uncertainty related to going concern
We draw attention to the going concern section in note 1C of the financial statements which indicates that the company as at 
December 31, 2021 had a working capital deficit of €607 million.  For the year ended on December 31, 2021, the Company recorded 
a consolidated net loss of €150.2 million, and generated negative cash flow from operating activities of €3.2 million on a consolidated 
basis. In addition, as at December 31, 2021 the Company had a deficit of €375.8 million in its equity attributable to equity holders. 
The Company has not repaid the February 2018, 2019 and 2021 principal and interest payments to the debenture holders and is in 
default according to the Deeds of Trust. 

On 29th December 2021, the Company, with the consent of the trustees, submitted a request to the court for the approval of the debt 
settlement. On 13th January 2022, the court granted the Company’s request and approved the debt settlement.

The realization of the Company’s plans, including approval and completion of the debt settlement with the debenture holders, selling 
and transaction value of the Company’s assets, refinancing and restructuring of loans, the impact of the Corona virus, and macroeco-
nomic developments, depends on factors that are not within the Company’s control and therefore there is uncertainty regarding the 
ability to complete the debt settlement, and that transactions for sale of assets will be entered into or completed. 

These conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern.  Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 



114    KARDAN  |  ANNUAL REPORT 2021

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

B. Report on the other information included in the annual report 
In addition to the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon, the annual report contains other information that consists of:

– the Board report; 
– other information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code; 

Based on the following procedures performed, we conclude that the other information:
  
– is consistent with the financial statements and does not contain material misstatements; 
– contains the information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. 

We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and understanding obtained through our audit of the financial state-
ments or otherwise, we have considered whether the other information contains material misstatements. 

By performing these procedures, we comply with the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and the Dutch Stan-
dard 720. The scope of the procedures performed is substantially less than the scope of those performed in our audit of the financial 
statements. 

Management is responsible for the preparation of the other information, including the management report in accordance with Part 9 
of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and other information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. 

C. Description of responsibilities regarding the financial statements 

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements
The board of directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with EU-IFRS 
and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. Furthermore, the board of directors is responsible for such internal control as the 
board of directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from material misstate-
ment, whether due to fraud or error. 

As part of the preparation of the financial statements, the board of directors is responsible for assessing the company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. Based on the financial reporting frameworks mentioned, the board of directors should prepare the finan-
cial statements using the going concern basis of accounting, unless the board of directors either intends to liquidate the company or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The board of directors should disclose events and circumstances that may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern in the financial statements. 

Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objective is to plan and perform the audit engagement in a manner that allows us to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit 
evidence for our opinion. Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which means we may not 
detect all material errors and fraud during our audit. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. The materiality affects the 
nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and the evaluation of the effect of identified misstatements on our opinion. 

We have exercised professional judgement and have maintained professional scepticism throughout the audit, in accordance with 
Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and independence requirements. Our audit included among others:   

–  identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, designing and 
performing audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control; 

–  obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control; 
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–  evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by management; 

–  concluding on the appropriateness of the board of director’s use of the going concern basis of accounting, and based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw atten-
tion in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events 
or conditions may cause a company to cease to continue as a going concern.   

–  evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures; and 
–  evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presen-

tation.  

Considering our ultimate responsibility for the opinion on the statutory financial statements, we are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. In this context, we have determined the nature and extent of the audit procedures for 
components of the Group to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the statutory financial statements 
as a whole. Determining factors are the geographic structure of the Group, the significance and/or risk profile of group entities or acti-
vities, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group operates. On this basis, we selected group entities 
for which an audit or review of financial information or specific balances was considered necessary.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant findings in internal control that we identify during our audit.  

Amstelveen, 2 May 2022

IUS Statutory Audits Coöperatie U.A.

R.A. Groen 
registeraccountant

Ref: IUS-KARD-RG-WC-JR21-2/5/2022


